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JOHNNIE BRYAN HUNT (1927 – 2006)

 Johnnie Bryan Hunt was born in Cleburne County, Arkansas, during the Depression and, like many men of his generation, was 
forced to sacrifi ce his education in order to work for his family’s survival. He left school after the seventh grade to work in his uncle’s 
sawmill. In the years that followed he picked cotton, sold lumber, worked as an auctioneer, drove a truck, sold lawn sod, invented a rice 
hull press, designed and built a specialty poultry truck, started several businesses including a rice hull company, and lost thousands of 
dollars – yet made millions more.

 Johnnie Bryan Hunt and the former Johnelle DeBusk brought a new defi nition to the term “life partners.” Married for more 
than 54 years, they were blessed with two children and seven grandchildren. They also shared an extraordinarily successful business 
partnership for nearly as long as they were married. 

 Working together, J.B. and Johnelle founded J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. in 1969 with just fi ve trucks and seven refrigerated 
trailers. Today, the Company has grown to become the second-largest publicly held truckload carrier in North America, with more than 
$3.3 billion in revenues, more than 12,000 trucks, 51,000 trailers and containers, and over 17,000 employees. Always modest, the Hunts 
were quick to give all the credit for their business success to their former and current employees.

 For family, friends, employees and business associates it was always evident that for J.B. Hunt, the real joy in life and business was 
not so much in winning but in simply playing the game and making the deal. His optimism was consistent throughout his life and was 
contagious to all around him. He never altered his values or priorities and always exhibited a willingness to take on new business risks. 
Despite his personal fortune and his enormous corporate infl uence gained over the years, friends will tell you he was the same genuine, 
caring person with everyone he met.

 They called him “J.B.” or “Johnnie” or even “Mr. Hunt.” Wherever he went he could light up a room with his positive outlook on 
life and his trust in the Lord. In doing so, he holds a special place in the memory of all who met him. The cowboy hat, the cowboy boots, 
the mile-wide grin, the hug and the handshake … that was J.B. Hunt.

 He will be missed by all.
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TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS:

 

 Our fi nancial results for the calendar year 2006 represented the fi fth consecutive year of record revenues and earnings for J.B. Hunt 

Transport Services, Inc. Our 2006 consolidated operating ratio (operating expenses divided by total operating revenues) was 88.8%, the 

third consecutive time we have achieved an operating ratio for a full year below 90%. More importantly, our steadfast dedication and 

cultural commitment to SAFETY and customer service enabled us to accomplish these results in a safe and reliable manner. Our family 

of more than 17,000 transportation professionals rose above economic barriers, particularly in the Truck segment, to produce some very 

impressive statistics when comparing 2006 vs. 2005:

 • Annual revenues increased 6% to a record $3.3 billion 

 • Operating income rose 8% to $373 million

 • Net earnings increased 6% to a record $220 million

 • Earnings per share improved by more than 12%

 • Return on invested capital was 21%, at the top of the asset-based transportation industry

 • Dividend yield to our stockholders increased to 1.3%

 • Truck fl eet grew to 12,127 units

 • Container and trailer fl eets grew to 27,622 and 25,727, respectively

We managed to successfully continue diversifi cation toward our “shore to door” approach to the supply chain challenges in North America 

and to post another record performance. This was due, in no small part, to our highly diversifi ed services portfolio. Revenue derived 

from nontraditional truckload services increased by more than 10% to $2.32 billion, or roughly 70% of our total annual revenues. Our 

Intermodal segment, which represented 43% of our 2006 revenue and 49% of our operating income, generated a record $1.43 billion in 

revenue, an 11% increase over the previous year as more shippers turned to our time-tested and service-sensitive Intermodal franchise. The 

Dedicated Contract Services (DCS) segment also experienced steady growth as customers continued to demand our value-added solutions 

for specialized transportation. This best-in-class combination of services allowed us to offset declines in the Truck segment as we battled the 

impact of economic headwinds and a drop-off in demand.

Moving forward, our resolve has never been stronger. We believe our diversifi ed business model, fueled by our proprietary Customer Value 

Delivery® methodology, will continue to generate a more attractive offering for our customers while providing an improved return for our 

shareholders. Our industry-leading operational excellence, award-winning service and technology, and unwavering focus on SAFETY will 

continue to drive our Company in everything we do.

We thank you for your continued support and interest in J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.

 Kirk Thompson

 Wayne Garrison
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J.B. HUNT TRANSPORT SERVICES, INC.
615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive

Lowell, Arkansas 72745
(479) 820-0000

Internet Site: www.jbhunt.com
_____________________________________________________________________________

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

To Be Held on May 2, 2007
_____________________________________________________________________________

 The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. (the “Company”) will be held on May 2, 2007, at 10 a.m. (CDT) 

at the Company’s headquarters, located at 615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive, Lowell, Arkansas, for the following purposes:

 (1) To elect three (3) Class III Directors for a term of three (3) years

 (2) To ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s registered independent public accounting fi rm for the next fi scal year

 (3) To transact such other business as may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournments thereof

 Only stockholders of record on February 23, 2007, will be entitled to vote at the meeting or any adjournments thereof. The stock transfer 

books will not be closed.

 The 2006 Annual Report to Stockholders is included in this publication.

 By Order of the Board of Directors

 JOHNELLE HUNT

 Secretary

Lowell, Arkansas

March 30, 2007

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

PLEASE EXECUTE YOUR PROXY WITHOUT DELAY

N
otice of A

nnual M
eeting
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J.B. HUNT TRANSPORT SERVICES, INC.
615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive

Lowell, Arkansas 72745
(479) 820-0000

Internet Site: www.jbhunt.com
_____________________________________________________________________________

PROXY STATEMENT
_____________________________________________________________________________

 This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. (the “Company”), on 
behalf of its Board of Directors (the “Board”), for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Proxy Statement and the related proxy card are 
being distributed on or about March 30, 2007.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS AND
THE ANNUAL MEETING

When And Where Is The Annual Meeting?
Date:   Wednesday, May 2, 2007
Time:   10 a.m., Central Daylight Time
Location:   J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.
    Corporate Offi ces
    First Floor Auditorium
    615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive
    Lowell, Arkansas 72745

What Matters Will Be Voted Upon At The Annual Meeting?
 At the annual meeting you will be asked to:

 •  Consider and vote upon a proposal to elect nominees Wayne Garrison, Gary Charles George and Bryan Hunt as Class III directors to hold 
offi ce for a term of three years, expiring at the close of the Annual Meeting of Stockholders on 2010.

 •  Consider and vote upon a proposal to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP (“E&Y”) as the Company’s independent registered 
public accounting fi rm for the 2007 calendar year.

 •  Transact such other business as may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournments thereof.

What Constitutes A Quorum?
 The presence, either in person or by proxy, of the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of our issued and outstanding shares of 
common stock is required to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the annual meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes, which 
are described in more detail below, are counted as shares present at the annual meeting for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists.

Who Is Entitled To Vote?
 Only stockholders of record of the Company’s common stock at the close of business on Friday, February 23, 2007, which is the “record date,” 
are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the annual meeting. Shares that may be voted include shares that are held:

 (1) directly by the stockholder of record, and
 (2) benefi cially through a broker, bank, or other nominee.

 Each share of our common stock will be entitled to one vote on all matters submitted for a vote at the annual meeting.

 As of the record date, there were approximately 142,889,538 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding and entitled to be voted at 
the annual meeting.
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What Is The Difference Between Holding Shares As A “Registered Owner” And A “Benefi cial Owner”?
 Most of the Company’s stockholders hold their shares through a broker, bank or other nominee rather than directly in their own name. As 
summarized below, there are some distinctions between registered shares and those owned benefi cially:

 •  Registered Owners – If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company N.A., you 
are, with respect to those shares, the stockholder of record. As the stockholder of record, you have the right to grant your voting proxy 
directly to the Company or to vote in person at the annual meeting.

 •  Benefi cial Owners – If your shares are held in a brokerage account, bank, or by another nominee, you are, with respect to those shares, the 
“benefi cial owner” of shares held in street name. As the benefi cial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, bank or other nominee 
on how to vote or to vote in person at the annual meeting. However, since you are not a stockholder of record, you may not vote these 
shares in person at the annual meeting unless you obtain a “legal proxy” from your broker, bank or other nominee (who is the stockholder 
of record) giving you the right to vote the shares.

What Stockholder Approval Is Necessary For Approval Of The Proposals?
 •  Election of Directors

 The election of directors requires the affi rmative vote of a plurality of the shares on our common stock cast at the annual meeting. This means 
that the three Class III director nominees receiving the most votes will be elected. For purposes of this vote, a failure to vote, a vote to abstain or 
withholding your vote (or a direction to your broker to do so) are not counted as votes cast and, therefore, will have no effect on the outcome of 
the election of directors.

 •  Ratifi cation of the Appointment of the Company’s Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 The ratifi cation of the Audit Committee’s appointment of E&Y as the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm requires 
the affi rmative vote of a majority of the shares of our common stock cast at the annual meeting. For purposes of this vote, a failure to vote, a vote 
to abstain or withholding your vote (or a direction to your broker to do so) are not counted as votes cast and, therefore, will have no effect on the 
outcome of this vote. Stockholder ratifi cation is not required for the appointment of the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm. 
However, we are submitting the proposal to solicit the opinion of our stockholders.

 As of record date, directors and executive offi cers of the Company benefi cially owned as an aggregate approximately 44,269,372 shares of 
common stock representing 30.98% of our common stock issued and outstanding and, therefore, 30.98% of the voting power entitled to vote at the 
annual meeting. The Company believes that its directors and executive offi cers currently intend to vote their shares in favor of the election of the 
Class III director nominees and in favor of the ratifi cation of E&Y as the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm.

May I Vote My Shares In Person At The Annual Meeting?
 If you are the registered owner of shares of the Company’s common stock on the record date, you have the right to vote your shares in person 
at the annual meeting.

 If you are the benefi cial owner of shares of the Company’s common stock on the record date, you may vote these shares in person at the annual 
meeting if you have requested a legal proxy from your broker, banker or other nominee (the stockholder of record) giving you the right to vote the 
shares at the annual meeting, complete such legal proxy and present it to the Company at the annual meeting.

 Even if you plan to attend the annual meeting, we recommend that you submit your proxy card or voting instructions so that your vote will 
be counted if you later decide not to attend the annual meeting.

How Can I Vote My Shares Without Attending The Annual Meeting?
 If you are a registered owner, you may instruct the named proxy holders on how to vote your shares by completing, signing, dating and 
returning the enclosed proxy card in the postage-paid envelope provided with this Proxy Statement, or by using the Internet voting site or the 
toll-free telephone number listed on the proxy card. Specifi c instructions for using the Internet and telephone voting systems are on the proxy card. 
The Internet and telephone voting systems will be available until 11:59 p.m. Central Daylight Time on Tuesday, May 1, 2007 (the day before the 
annual meeting).

 If you are the benefi cial owner of shares held in street name, you may instruct your broker, bank or other nominee on how to vote your shares. 
Your nominee has enclosed with this Proxy Statement a voting instruction card for you to use in directing your nominee on how to vote your shares. 
The instructions from your nominee will indicate if Internet or telephone voting is available and, if so, will provide details regarding how to use 
those systems.

If My Shares Are Held In “Street Name,” Will My Broker, Bank Or Other Nominee Vote My Shares For Me?
 Brokers, banks and other nominees who do not have instructions from their “street name” customers may not use their discretion in voting 
their customers’ shares on “non-routine” matters. The proposals to elect the director nominees and ratify the appointment of E&Y as the Company’s 
independent registered public accounting fi rm are considered routine matters and, therefore, if benefi cial owners fail to give voting instructions, 
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nominees will have the discretionary authority to vote shares of our common stock with respect to these proposals. You should follow the directions 
provided by your nominee regarding instructions on how to vote your shares.

What Is A Broker Non-Vote?
 Generally, a “broker non-vote” occurs when a broker, bank or other nominee that holds shares in “street name” for customers is precluded from 
exercising voting discretion on a particular proposal because:

 (1)  the benefi cial owner has not instructed the nominee on how to vote, and
 (2)  the nominee lacks discretionary voting power to vote such issues.

 Under the rules of NASDAQ, a nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to the approval of “non-routine” matters 
absent specifi c voting instructions from the benefi cial owners of such shares.

How Will My Proxy Be Voted?
 Shares represented by a properly executed proxy (in paper form, by Internet or by telephone) that is timely received, and not subsequently 
revoked, will be voted at the annual meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof in the manner directed on the proxy. Wayne Garrison 
and Kirk Thompson are named as proxies in the proxy form and have been designated by the Board as the directors’ proxies to represent you and 
vote your shares at the annual meeting. All shares represented by a properly executed proxy on which no choice is specifi ed will be voted:

 (1)  FOR the election of the nominees for director named in this Proxy Statement,
 (2)  FOR the ratifi cation of the appointment of E&Y as the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm for the 2007 calendar 

year, and
 (3)  in accordance with the proxy holders’ best judgment as to any other business that properly comes before the annual meeting.

 This Proxy Statement is considered to be voting instructions for the trustees of the J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. Employee Retirement 
Plan for our common stock allocated to individual accounts under this plan. If account information is the same, participants in the plan (who are 
stockholders of record) will receive a single proxy representing all of their shares. If a plan participant does not submit a proxy to us, the trustees of 
the plan in which shares are allocated to his or her individual account will vote such shares in the same proportion as the total shares in such plan 
for which directions have been received.

May I Revoke My Proxy And Change My Vote?
 Yes. You may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time prior to the vote at the annual meeting.

 If you are the registered owner, you may revoke your proxy and change your vote by:

 (1)  submitting a new proxy bearing a later date (which automatically revokes the earlier proxy),
 (2)  giving notice of your changed vote to us in writing mailed to the attention of Johnelle Hunt, Corporate Secretary, at our executive 

offi ces, or
 (3)  attending the annual meeting and giving oral notice of your intention to vote in person.

 You should be aware that simply attending the annual meeting will not in and of itself constitute a revocation of your proxy.

Who Will Pay The Costs Of Soliciting Proxies?
 Proxies will be solicited initially by mail. Further solicitation may be made in person or by telephone, electronic mail or facsimile. The 
Company will bear the expense of preparing, printing and mailing this Proxy Statement and accompanying materials to our stockholders. Upon 
request, the Company will reimburse brokers, banks and other nominees for reasonable expenses incurred in forwarding copies of the proxy materials 
relating to the annual meeting to the benefi cial owners of our common stock.

 The Company has retained ADP, an independent proxy solicitation fi rm, to assist in soliciting proxies from stockholders. ADP will receive 
a fee of approximately $30,000 as compensation for its services and will be reimbursed for its out-of-pocket expenses. The fee amount is not 
contingent on the number of stockholder votes cast in favor of any proposals, and ADP is prohibited from making any recommendation to our 
stockholders to either accept or reject any proposal or otherwise express an opinion concerning a proposal.

What Other Business Will Be Presented At The Annual Meeting?
 As of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Board knows of no other business that may properly be, or is likely to be, brought before the annual 
meeting. If any other matters should arise at the annual meeting, the persons named as proxy holders, Wayne Garrison and Kirk Thompson, will 
have the discretion to vote your shares on any additional matters properly presented for a vote at the meeting. If, for any unforeseen reason, any 
of the Class III director nominees are not available to serve as a director, the named proxy holders will vote your proxy for such other director 
candidate or candidates as may be nominated by the Board.
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What Is The Deadline For Stockholder Proposals For The 2008 Annual Meeting?
 In order for a stockholder proposal to be eligible to be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement and proxy card for the 2008 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders, the proposal:

 (1)  must be received by the Company at its executive offi ces, 615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive, Lowell, Arkansas 72745, Attention: Corporate 
Secretary on or before November 9, 2007, and

 (2)  must concern a matter that may be properly considered and acted upon at the annual meeting in accordance with applicable laws, 
regulations and the Company’s Bylaws and policies, and must otherwise comply with Rule 14a-8 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended (the “Exchange Act”).

Where Can I Find The Voting Results Of The Annual Meeting?
 The Company will publish fi nal voting results of the annual meeting in its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of the 2007 
calendar year.

What Should I Do If I Receive More Than One Set Of Voting Materials?
 You may receive more than one set of voting materials, including multiple copies of this Proxy Statement and multiple proxy or voting 
instruction cards. For example, if you hold your shares in more than one brokerage account, you may receive a separate voting instruction card for 
each brokerage account. If you are a registered owner and your shares are registered in more than one name, you will receive more than one proxy 
card. Please vote each proxy and instruction card that you receive.

What Is Householding?
 In an effort to reduce printing costs and postage fees, the Company has adopted a practice approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(the “SEC”) called “householding.” Under this practice, certain stockholders who have the same address and last name will receive only one copy 
of this Proxy Statement and the Company’s annual report, unless one or more of these stockholders notifi es the Company that he or she wishes to 
continue receiving individual copies. Stockholders who participate in householding will continue to receive separate proxy cards.

 If you share an address with another stockholder and received only one copy of this Proxy Statement and the Company’s annual report and 
would like to request a separate copy of these materials, or if you do not wish to participate in householding in the future, please:

 (1)  mail such request to J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc., Attention: Corporate Secretary, 615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive, Lowell, 
Arkansas 72745, or

 (2)  contact the Corporate Secretary toll-free at 1-800-643-3622.

Similarly, you may also contact the Company if you received multiple copies of the Company’s proxy materials and would prefer to receive a single 
copy in the future.

What Do I Need To Do Now?
 First, read this Proxy Statement carefully. Then, if you are a registered owner, you should, as soon as possible, submit your proxy by either 
executing and returning the proxy card or by voting electronically via the Internet or by telephone. If you are the benefi cial owner of shares held 
in street name, then you should follow the voting instructions of your broker, bank or other nominee. Your shares will be voted in accordance with 
the directions you specify. If you submit an executed proxy card to the Company, but fail to specify voting directions, your shares will be voted:

 (1)  FOR the approval of the director nominees, and
 (2)  FOR the ratifi cation of E&Y as the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm for the 2007 calendar year.

Who Can Help Answer My Questions?
 If you have questions concerning a proposal or the annual meeting, if you would like additional copies of this Proxy Statement, or if you need 
special assistance at the annual meeting, please call the Corporate Secretary toll-free at 1-800-643-3622. In addition, information regarding the 
annual meeting is available via the Internet at our website www.jbhunt.com.

YOU SHOULD CAREFULLY READ THIS PROXY STATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY

 The summary information provided above in the question-and-answer format is for your convenience only and is merely a brief description of 
material information contained in this Proxy Statement.
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YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

IF YOU ARE A REGISTERED OWNER, YOU MAY VOTE BY TELEPHONE, 
INTERNET OR BY FILLING IN, SIGNING AND DATING 

THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD AND RETURNING IT TO US 
IN THE ACCOMPANYING ENVELOPE AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE

IF YOU ARE A BENEFICIAL OWNER, PLEASE FOLLOW THE VOTING INSTRUCTIONS 
OF YOUR BROKER, BANK OR OTHER NOMINEE 

AS PROVIDED WITH THIS PROXY STATEMENT AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE
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PROPOSALS TO BE VOTED AT THE ANNUAL MEETING

PROPOSAL NUMBER ONE
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

 Our Board nominates Wayne Garrison, Gary Charles George and Bryan Hunt as Class III directors, to hold offi ce for a term of three years, 
expiring at the close of the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their successors are elected and qualifi ed or until their earlier resignation 
or removal. The Board believes these incumbent directors standing for re-election are well qualifi ed and experienced to direct and manage the 
Company’s operations and business affairs and will represent the interests of the stockholders as a whole. Biographical information on each of these 
nominees is set forth below in “Nominees for Director.”

 If any director nominee becomes unavailable for election, which is not anticipated, the named proxies will vote for the election of such other 
person as the Board may nominate, unless the Board resolves to reduce the number of Class III directors to serve on the Board and thereby reduce 
the number of directors to be elected at the annual meeting.

THE BOARD UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE
 FOR

EACH OF THE DIRECTOR NOMINEES LISTED HEREIN

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BOARD
 The Board of Directors is currently divided into three classes, each having three-year terms that expire in successive years. The term of offi ce 
of Directors in each class expires at the annual meeting held on the following dates:

 Class Year Term Expires

 Class I 2008

 Class II 2009

 Class III 2007

OTHER INFORMATION YOU NEED TO MAKE AN INFORMED DECISION

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Number of Directors and Term of Directors and Executive Offi cers
 The Company’s Bylaws provide that the number of directors shall not be less than three or more than twelve, with the exact number to be 
fi xed by the Board. The Company’s Certifi cate of Incorporation divides the Board into three classes of as equal size as possible, with the terms of 
each class expiring in consecutive years so that only one class is elected in any given year. Currently, there are nine directors, with four directors 
serving in Class I, two directors serving in Class II and three directors serving in Class III.

 The stockholders of the Company elect successors for directors whose terms have expired at the Company’s annual meeting. The Board 
elects members to fi ll new membership positions and vacancies in unexpired terms on the Board. At its Board Meeting on January 26, 2006, the 
Board of Directors adopted a retirement policy stating that no director will be eligible to stand for re-election once he or she has reached 72 years 
of age. Executive offi cers are elected by the Board and hold offi ce until their successors are elected and qualifi ed or until the earlier of their death, 
retirement, resignation or removal.
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Directors and Executive Offi cers

 The names of the Company’s directors and executive offi cers as of February 23, 2007, and their respective ages and positions are as follows:

Name Age Position
Paul R. Bergant 60 Executive Vice President, Marketing, Chief Marketing Offi cer and President of Intermodal
David N. Chelette 43 Vice President and Treasurer
Donald G. Cope 56 Sr. Vice President, Finance, Controller and Chief Accounting Offi cer
Wayne Garrison 54 Chairman of the Board; Class III Director
Gary Charles George 56 Class III Director
Craig Harper 49 Executive Vice President, Operations and Chief Operations Offi cer
Bryan Hunt 48 Class III Director
Johnelle Hunt 75 Corporate Secretary; Class I Director
Terrence D. Matthews 48 Sr. Vice President, Marketing
David G. Mee 46 Sr. Vice President, Tax and Risk Management
Kay J. Palmer 43 Executive Vice President and Chief Information Offi cer
Coleman H. Peterson 58 Class II Director
Bob D. Ralston 60 Executive Vice President, Equipment and Properties
John N. Roberts III 42 Executive Vice President and President, Dedicated Contract Services
James L. Robo 44 Class II Director
Kirk Thompson 53 President and Chief Executive Offi cer; Class I Director
Leland Tollett 70 Class I Director
Jerry W. Walton 60 Executive Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Offi cer
John A. White 67 Class I Director

NOMINEES FOR DIRECTOR

CLASS III – TERM EXPIRES 2007
Wayne Garrison Director Since 1981
Mr. Garrison, age 54, is Chairman of the Board and has held this title since 1995. Joining the Company in 1976 as Plant Manager, he has also served 
the Company as Vice President of Finance in 1978, Executive Vice President of Finance in 1979, President in 1982, Chief Executive Offi cer in 
1987 and Vice Chairman of the Board from January 1986 until May 1991.

Gary Charles George Director Since 2006
Mr. George, age 56, is President and Chief Executive Offi cer of George’s, Inc., a private, fully integrated poultry company in Northwest Arkansas. 
He was appointed by the Company’s Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the Board of Directors on August 29, 2006, to assume 
the positions vacated when director Thomas L. Hardeman passed away on August 20, 2006, and John A. Cooper, Jr. tendered his resignation on 
August 1, 2006. Mr. George is a graduate of the University of Arkansas with a degree in business administration. He served on the Board of Trustees 
for the University of Arkansas from 1995 through 2005 and on the Board of Directors for the First National Bank of Springdale until 2003.

Bryan Hunt Director Since 1991
Mr. Hunt, age 48, is President of Best Automotive, Best Automotive of Mississippi, Best Buy Here Pay Here, Progressive Auto Finance Corporation 
and Bryan Hunt LLC (all private companies with operations in motor vehicle sales, leasing and fi nancing). He served as Assistant Secretary of 
the Company from October 1988 until May 2000. Until his retirement from the Company in 1997, he served separate terms as the Company’s 
Treasurer and Chief Operating Offi cer of the Van Division. Bryan Hunt is the son of Johnelle Hunt.
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REMAINING MEMBERS OF THE CURRENT BOARD
 The remaining members of the current Board, their experience and qualifi cations as Board members, the class in which they serve, and the 
expiration of their terms are as follows:

CLASS I – TERM EXPIRES 2008
Johnelle Hunt Director Since 1993
Mrs. Hunt, age 75, is the Corporate Secretary of the Company. Serving as Credit Manager from 1962 to 1987, she was elected Secretary-Treasurer 
in 1972 and served in that capacity until October 1988, at which time she was elected Corporate Secretary. Johnelle Hunt is the widow of founder 
and former Senior Chairman of the Board J.B. Hunt and the mother of Bryan Hunt. She serves on the Board of Advisors for the University of 
Arkansas and on the board for the Harvey and Bernice Jones Eye Institute. She also served on the executive committee and as treasurer for the 
University of Arkansas’ Campaign for the 21st Century.

Kirk Thompson Director Since 1985
Mr. Thompson, age 53, is President and Chief Executive Offi cer of the Company. Mr. Thompson, a certifi ed public accountant, joined the 
Company in 1973. He served as Vice President of Finance from 1979 until 1984, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi cer until 1985, 
and President and Chief Operating Offi cer from 1986 until 1987, when he was elected President and Chief Executive Offi cer.

Leland Tollett Director Since 2001
Mr. Tollett, age 70, is a private investor. He served as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi cer of Tyson Foods, Inc. from 1995 to 1998. 
He is currently a consultant to that company. A Tyson Foods employee since 1959, he also served as President and Chief Executive Offi cer from 
1991 to 1995. He fi rst became a board member of Tyson Foods, Inc. in 1984 and continues to serve in that capacity.

John A. White Director Since 1998
Dr. White, age 67, is Chancellor of the University of Arkansas, a position he has held since July 1997. A graduate of the University of Arkansas (BSIE), 
Virginia Tech (MSIE) and The Ohio State University (PhD), he also holds honorary doctorates from the Katholieke Universitiet of Leuven in Belgium 
and from George Washington University. Dr. White is a member of the National Academy of Engineering. Locally, he serves as the presiding co-chair 
of the Northwest Arkansas Council, on the Northwest Arkansas Regional Airport Authority Board, and on the Arkansas Science and Technology 
Authority Board. He also serves on the Board of Directors and the Audit Committees of Logility, Inc. and Motorola, Inc.

CLASS II – TERM EXPIRES 2009
Coleman H. Peterson Director Since 2004
Mr. Peterson, age 58, is President and CEO of Hollis Enterprises LLC, a human resources consulting fi rm founded in 2004 following his retirement 
from Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. as its Executive Vice President of the People Division. During his tenure, Mr. Peterson was responsible for recruitment, 
retention and development of the world’s largest corporate work force. Prior to his experience with Wal-Mart, Mr. Peterson spent 16 years with 
Venture Stores, with his last position as the Senior Vice President of Human Resources. He holds Master’s and Bachelor’s degrees from Loyola 
University of Chicago. He serves as a member of the Board of Directors and chairs the Compensation Committees of The ServiceMaster Company 
and Build-A-Bear Workshop. He also sits on the Executive Committee of the NAACP, where he serves as Treasurer of the NAACP’s Special 
Contribution Fund.

James L. Robo Director Since 2002
Mr. Robo, age 44, is President and Chief Operating Offi cer of FPL Group. He served as President of FPL Energy until December 2006 and Vice 
President of Corporate Development and Strategy of FPL Group until July 2002. FPL Group is a U.S. electric company whose two main subsidiaries 
are Florida Power & Light and FPL Energy. Prior to joining FPL Group in 2002, Mr. Robo spent ten years at the General Electric Company. He 
served as President and Chief Executive Offi cer of GE Mexico from 1997-1999 and was President and Chief Executive Offi cer of the GE Capital 
TIP/Modular Space division from 1999 until February 2002. From 1984 through 1992, Mr. Robo worked for Mercer Management Consulting. He 
received a BA Summa Cum Laude from Harvard College and an MBA from Harvard Business School, where he was a Baker Scholar.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
 The Company pays only independent, non-employee directors for their services. Directors who are also offi cers of the Company are not 
eligible to receive any of the compensation described below.

 In calendar year 2006, compensation for independent, non-employee directors, serving on the Board, was as follows:
 •  an annual retainer of $62,000 paid in Company stock, cash or any combination thereof
 •  $4,500 for each Board meeting attended
 •  $1,500 for each Board Committee meeting attended
 •  $4,000 to the Chairman of the Audit Committee for each Committee meeting chaired
 •  $3,000 to the Chairman of the Executive Compensation Committee (“Compensation Committee”) and the Nominating and Corporate 

Governance Committee (“Corporate Governance Committee”) for each Committee meeting chaired
 •  reimbursement of expenses to attend Board and Committee meetings
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Non-Employee Board of Director Compensation Paid in Calendar Year 2006

 Fees   Change in Pension  
 Earned   Value and  
 or Paid   Nonqualifi ed  
 in Cash Restricted Share Non-Equity Deferred  
 or Stock or Stock Option Incentive Plan Compensation All Other 
Board Member ($) Awards (#) Compensation ($) Earnings ($) Compensation ($) Total ($)
John A. Cooper, Jr.  80,000 – – – – 80,000
Gary Charles George  48,833 – – – – 48,833
Thomas L. Hardeman  83,250 – – – – 83,250
Bryan Hunt  75,500 – – – – 75,500
Coleman H. Peterson  95,000 – – – – 95,000
James L. Robo  92,000 – – – – 92,000
Leland Tollett  92,000 – – – – 92,000
John A. White  115,000 – – – – 115,000

 To more closely align their interests with those of the stockholders, each Board member is required to own three times their estimated annual 
compensation in Company stock.

 Independent, non-employee members of the Board of Directors did not receive any stock options or restricted share units in calendar 
year 2006.

 Independent, non-employee members of the Board of Directors did not participate in either a pension plan or deferred compensation plan in 
calendar year 2006.

 Each independent, non-employee member of the Board of Directors had the choice of receiving his or her annual retainer of $62,000 in 
Company stock, cash or any combination thereof. Gary Charles George’s retainer was prorated at the time of his appointment to the board on 
August 29, 2006.

 Johnelle Hunt, an employee of the Company and member of the Board of Directors, received a salary of $100,000 for her services as the 
Company’s Corporate Secretary. The Company also remitted payment of $10,000 on her behalf for professional fees and provided a Company 
match of $3,000 to her 401(k) account. Remittances for professional fees were also made for Wayne Garrison and Kirk Thompson and are disclosed 
on page 28 of this Proxy Statement in the table titled “Components of Perquisites for Calendar Year 2006.”

Security Ownership of Management
 The following table sets forth the benefi cial ownership of the Company’s common stock as of February 23, 2007, by each of its current directors 
(including all nominees for director), the Named Executive Offi cers (the “NEOs”) and all other executive offi cers, and by all such persons as a 
group, as of February 23, 2007. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes below, “benefi cially owned” means the sole power to vote or direct the 
voting of a security and the sole power to dispose or direct the disposition of a security.

 Number of Shares Number of Shares
 Benefi cially Owned Benefi cially Owned Percent
Owner Directly (1) Indirectly (2) of Class (3)
Paul Bergant 467,597  0  * 
Wayne Garrison 7,264,085  12,000   5.09
Gary Charles George 22,076  624,310 (4) *
Craig Harper 271,634  0  *
Bryan Hunt 95,300  0  *
Johnelle Hunt 34,400,550 (5) 0  24.07
Coleman H. Peterson 8,231  0  *
James L. Robo 22,553  0  *
Kirk Thompson 455,924  0  * 
Leland Tollett 42,755  0  *
Jerry W. Walton 357,240  0  *
John A. White 33,414  0  *

All executive offi cers and Directors
as a group (19 persons) 44,269,372    30.98

*Less than 1 percent
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(1)  Includes shares that are owned by the director or executive offi cer that are (a) held in a 401(k) or deferred compensation account, (b) options that are 
currently exercisable, (c) options that will become exercisable within 60 days and (d) shares held as trustee of family trusts in which the trustee has no 
benefi cial ownership. Also includes pledged shares as shown below:

 Wayne Garrison 450,000
 Craig Harper 254,398
 Bryan Hunt 70,877
 Johnelle Hunt 18,910,184
 Kirk Thompson 430,210
(2)  Indirect benefi cial ownership includes shares owned by the director or executive offi cer, (a) as benefi ciary or trustee of a personal trust, 

(b) by a spouse or as trustee or benefi ciary of a spouse’s trust, or (c) in a spouse’s retirement account.
(3)  Calculated on the basis of 142,889,538 shares of common stock outstanding of the Company on February 23, 2007.
(4)  The reporting person disclaims benefi cial ownership of these shares, which are held in limited partnerships. This report shall not be deemed an admission that 

the reporting person is the benefi cial owner of such securities for the purposes of Section 16 or for any other purposes.
(5)  Includes shares owned in family limited liability companies in which Mrs. Hunt is the sole manager. Until the death of Mr. J.B. Hunt on December 7, 2006, 

she and Mr. Hunt were co-managers of these companies. Includes shares previously held directly by Mr. Hunt that have been transferred into a marital 
trust in which Johnelle Hunt is the trustee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 We believe that good corporate governance helps to ensure that the Company is managed for the long-term benefi t of our stockholders. We 
continually review and consider our corporate governance policies and practices, the SEC’s corporate governance rules and regulations, and the 
corporate governance listing standards of NASDAQ, the stock exchange on which our common stock is traded.

 You can access and print the Charters of our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance Committee as well 
as our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Corporate Code of Ethics, Whistleblower Policy, and other Company policies and procedures required 
by applicable law, regulation or NASDAQ corporate governance listing standards on the “Corporate Governance” page of the “Who We Are”/
“Investor Relations” section of our website at www.jbhunt.com. Additionally, you can request copies of any of these documents by writing to our 
Corporate Secretary at the following address:

J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.
615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive

Lowell, Arkansas 72745
Attention: Corporate Secretary

Director Independence
 The Board is composed of a majority of directors who satisfy the criteria for independence under the NASDAQ corporate governance listing 
standards. In determining independence, each year the Board affi rmatively determines, among other items, whether the directors have no material 
relationship with the Company or any of its subsidiaries pursuant to the NASDAQ corporate listing standards. When assessing the “materiality” of a 
director’s relationship with the Company, if any, the Board considers all relevant facts and circumstances, not merely from the director’s standpoint, 
but from that of the persons or organizations with which the director has an affi liation and the frequency or regularity of the services, whether 
the services are being carried out at arm’s length in the ordinary course of business, and whether the services are being provided substantially on 
the same terms to the Company as those prevailing at the time from unrelated parties for comparable transactions. Material relationships can 
include commercial, banking, industrial, consulting, legal, accounting, charitable and familial relationships. The Board also considers any other 
relationship that could interfere with the exercise of independence or judgment in carrying out the duties of a director.

 Applying these independence standards, the Board has determined that Gary Charles George, Coleman H. Peterson, James L. Robo, 
Leland Tollett and John A. White are all independent directors. After due consideration, the Board has determined that none of these 
non-management directors has a material relationship with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (either directly or indirectly as a partner, 
stockholder or offi cer of any organization that has a relationship with the Company or any of its subsidiaries) and that they all meet the criteria for 
independence under the NASDAQ corporate governance listing standards.
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Director Recommendations By Stockholders
 In addition to recommendations from Board members, management or professional search fi rms, the Corporate Governance Committee will 
consider director candidates properly submitted by stockholders who individually or as a group have benefi cially owned at least two percent of the 
outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock for at least one year from the date the recommendation is submitted. Stockholders must submit 
director candidate recommendations in writing by Certifi ed Mail to the Company’s Corporate Secretary not less than 120 days prior to the fi rst 
anniversary of the date of the Proxy Statement relating to the Company’s previous annual meeting. Accordingly, for the 2008 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders, director candidates must be submitted to the Company’s Corporate Secretary by November 9, 2007. Director candidates submitted 
by stockholders must contain at least the following information:
 •  the name and address of the recommending stockholder,
 •  the number of shares of the Company’s common stock benefi cially owned by the recommending stockholder and the dates such shares 

were purchased,
 •  the name, age, business address and residence of the candidate,
 •  the principal occupation or employment of the candidate for the past fi ve years,
 •  a description of the candidate’s qualifi cations to serve as a director, including fi nancial expertise and why the candidate does or does not 

qualify as “independent” under the NASDAQ corporate governance listing standards,
 •  the number of shares of the Company’s common stock benefi cially owned by the candidate, if any, and,
 •  a description of the arrangements or understandings between the recommending stockholder and the candidate, if any, or any other person 

pursuant to which the recommending stockholder is making the recommendation.

 In addition, the recommending stockholder and the candidate must submit, with the recommendation, a signed statement agreeing and 
acknowledging that:
 •  the candidate consents to being a director candidate and, if nominated and elected, he or she will serve as a director representing all of the 

Company’s stockholders in accordance with applicable laws and the Company’s Certifi cate of Incorporation and Bylaws,
 •  the candidate, if elected, will comply with the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines and any other applicable rule, regulation, 

policy or standard of conduct applicable to the Board and its individual members,
 •  the recommending stockholder will maintain benefi cial ownership of at least two percent of the Company’s issued and outstanding common 

stock through the date of the annual meeting for which the candidate is being recommended for nomination and that, upon the candidate’s 
nomination and election to the Board, the recommending stockholder intends to maintain such ownership throughout the candidate’s 
term as director, and,

 •  the recommending stockholder and the candidate will promptly provide any additional information requested by the Corporate Governance 
Committee and/or the Board to assist in the consideration of the candidate, including a completed and signed Questionnaire for Directors 
and Offi cers on the Company’s standard form and an interview with the Corporate Governance Committee or its representative.

 For a complete list of the information that must be included in director recommendations submitted by stockholders, please see the “Policy 
Regarding Director Recommendations by Stockholders” on the “Corporate Governance” page of the “Who We Are” section of our website at 
www.jbhunt.com. The Corporate Governance Committee will consider all director candidates submitted through its established processes and will 
evaluate each of them, including incumbents, based on the same criteria. However, the Corporate Governance Committee may prefer incumbent 
directors and director candidates whom they know personally or who have relevant industry experience and in-depth knowledge of the Company’s 
business and operations.

 The policies and procedures as set forth above are intended to provide fl exible guidelines for the effective functioning of the Company’s 
director nomination process. The Board intends to review these policies and procedures periodically and anticipates that modifi cations may be 
necessary from time to time as the Company’s needs and circumstances change.

Board Composition and Director Qualifi cations
 The Corporate Governance Committee periodically assesses the appropriate size and composition of the Board and whether any vacancies 
on the Board are expected. In the event that vacancies are anticipated or otherwise arise, the Corporate Governance Committee will review and 
assess potential director candidates. The Corporate Governance Committee utilizes various methods for identifying and evaluating candidates 
for director. Candidates may come to the attention of the Corporate Governance Committee through recommendations of Board members, 
management, stockholders or professional search fi rms. Generally, director candidates should, at a minimum:
 •  possess relevant business and fi nancial expertise and experience, including a basic understanding of fundamental fi nancial statements,
 •  have exemplary character and integrity and be willing to work constructively with others,
 •  have suffi cient time to devote to Board meetings and consultation on Board matters, and
 •  be free from confl icts of interest that violate applicable law or interfere with director performance.

 In addition, the Corporate Governance Committee seeks director candidates who possess the following qualities and skills:
 •  the capacity and desire to represent the interest of the Company’s stockholders as a whole,
 •  occupational experience and perspective that, together with other directors, enhances the quality of the Board,
 •  leadership experience and sound business judgment,
 •  accomplishments in their respective fi eld, with superior credentials and recognition,
 •  the ability to contribute to the mix of skills, core competencies and qualifi cations of the Board through expertise in one or more of the 

following areas:
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     •  accounting and fi nance
     •  mergers and acquisitions
     •  investment management
     •  law
     •  academia
     •  strategic planning
     •  investor relations
     •  executive leadership development
     •  executive compensation
     •  service as a senior offi cer of, or a trusted adviser to senior management of, a publicly held company, and;
     •  knowledge of the critical aspects of the Company’s business and operations.

 The director qualifi cations set forth above are general in nature and may be modifi ed by the Board or the Corporate Governance Committee 
from time to time as the Board or the Corporate Governance Committee deems appropriate.

Communications With The Board
 Stockholders and other interested parties may communicate with the Board, Board Committees, the independent or non-management 
directors, each as a group and individual directors by submitting their communications in writing to the attention of the Company’s Corporate 
Secretary. All communications must identify the recipient, author, state whether the author is a stockholder of the Company and be forwarded to 
the following address via Certifi ed Mail:

J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.
615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive

Lowell, Arkansas 72745
Attention: Corporate Secretary

 The directors of the Company, including the non-management directors, have instructed the Corporate Secretary not to forward to the 
intended recipient any communications that are reasonably determined in good faith by the Corporate Secretary to relate to improper or irrelevant 
topics or are substantially incomplete.

Board Meetings
 The Board held four meetings and two telephonic meetings during the 2006 calendar year. All directors attended at least 75% of the Board 
meetings. The Company has adopted a Director Attendance Policy to stress the importance of attendance, director preparedness and active and 
effective participation at Board and Board committee meetings. 

 Additionally, the independent directors held three executive sessions in 2006. John A. White served as chairman of each of the executive 
sessions, with the exception of one session that was chaired by Thomas L. Hardeman.

Board Committees
 Standing committees of the Board include the Audit, Compensation, and Corporate Governance Committees. Committee members 
are elected annually by the Board and serve until their successors are elected and qualifi ed or until their earlier death, retirement, resignation 
or removal.

 Upon recommendation of the Corporate Governance Committee on January 31, 2007, the Board appointed the following members to serve 
on the Board’s committees for the 2007 calendar year.
   Corporate
 Audit Compensation Governance
Gary Charles George  X X
Coleman H. Peterson  Chair X
James L. Robo X  Chair
Leland Tollett X  X
John A. White Chair X X
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 The following table discloses the Board members who served on each of the Board’s committees during calendar year 2006 and the number of 
meetings held by each Committee.
   Corporate
 Audit Compensation Governance
John A. Cooper, Jr.  X X
Gary Charles George  X X
Thomas L. Hardeman  X Chair
Coleman H. Peterson  Chair 
James L. Robo X  Chair
Leland Tollett X  
John A. White Chair X 
Number of Meetings 8 5 1

 As a result of the retirement of John A. Cooper, Jr. from the Board of Directors on August 1, 2006, and the death of Thomas L. Hardeman on 
August 20, 2006, Gary Charles George and John A. White were appointed by the Chairman of the Board to fi ll vacancies on the Compensation 
and Corporate Governance Committees. Both Messrs. George and White are independent, non-employee directors and qualifi ed to serve on the 
designated committees.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
 Under the terms of its charter, the Audit Committee represents and assists the Board in fulfi lling its oversight responsibility relating to the 
integrity of the Company’s fi nancial statements and the fi nancial reporting process, the systems of internal accounting and fi nancial controls, the 
internal audit function, the annual independent audit of the Company’s fi nancial statements, the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements, the independent auditor’s qualifi cations and independence, the performance of the Company’s internal audit function and the 
performance of its independent auditors.

 In fulfi lling its duties, the Audit Committee, among other things, shall:
 •  appoint, terminate, retain, compensate and oversee the work of the independent registered public accounting fi rm,
 •  pre-approve all services provided by the independent registered public accounting fi rm,
 •  oversee the performance of the Company’s internal audit function,
 •  evaluate the qualifi cations, performance and independence of the independent registered public accounting fi rm,
 •  review external and internal audit reports and management’s responses thereto,
 •  oversee the integrity of the fi nancial reporting process, system of internal accounting controls, and fi nancial statements and reports of 

the Company,
 •  oversee the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
 •  review the Company’s annual and quarterly fi nancial statements, including disclosures made in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Financial Condition and Results of Operations” set forth in periodic reports fi led with the SEC,
 •  discuss with management earnings press releases,
 •  meet with management, the internal auditors, the independent auditors and the Board,
 •  provide the Board with information and materials as it deems necessary to make the Board aware of signifi cant fi nancial accounting and 

internal control matters of the Company, and
 •  otherwise comply with its responsibilities and duties as set forth in the Company’s Audit Committee Charter.

 The Board has determined that all three members of the Audit Committee satisfy the independence and other requirements for audit 
committee membership of the NASDAQ corporate governance listing standards and SEC requirements. The Board has also determined that 
Messrs. White, Robo and Tollett have the attributes of an audit committee fi nancial expert as defi ned by the SEC. The Board determined that 
these members acquired such attributes through their experience in preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating fi nancial statements, or actively 
supervising one or more persons engaged in such activities and their experience of overseeing or assessing the performance of companies and public 
accountants with respect to preparation, auditing or evaluation of fi nancial statements. In 2006, the Audit Committee met eight times. All of the 
members attended at least 75% of the Audit Committee meetings. For additional information concerning the Audit Committee, see “Report of 
the Audit Committee” set forth below.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
 The Executive Compensation Committee shall:
 •  determine and approve base salary compensation of the Company’s senior executive offi cers,
 •  determine and approve annual equity-based awards for the Company’s “insiders” as defi ned in Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934, with the exception of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Offi cer,
 •  evaluate and recommend to the independent Board of Directors for their approval base salary and annual equity-based awards for the 

Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Offi cer,
 •  review and approve the annual performance goals and objectives of the Company’s senior executive offi cers, including the Chief 

Executive Offi cer,
 •  establish and certify the achievement of performance goals,
 •  oversee the Company’s incentive compensation and other equity-based compensation plans,
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 •  assess the adequacy and competitiveness of the Company’s executive and director compensation programs,
 •  review and discuss with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis (“CD&A”) and recommend whether such analysis 

should be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K or the Proxy Statement fi led with the SEC,
 •  produce an annual report on executive compensation for inclusion in the Company’s Proxy Statement,
 •  review and approve any employment agreements, severance agreements or arrangements, retirement arrangements, change in control 

agreements/provisions, and any special or supplemental benefi ts for each offi cer of the Company,
 •  approve, disapprove, modify or amend any non-equity compensation plans designed and intended to provide compensation primarily 

for offi cers,
 •  make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding adoption of equity-based compensation plans,
 •  administer, modify or amend equity-based compensation plans, and
 •  otherwise comply with its responsibilities and duties as set forth in the Company’s Compensation Committee Charter.

 None of the individuals serving on the Compensation Committee has ever been an offi cer or employee of the Company. The Board has 
determined that all of the members of the Compensation Committee satisfy the independence requirements of the NASDAQ corporate governance 
listing standards. All of the members of the Compensation Committee qualify as “non-employee directors” for purposes of SEC requirements, and 
as “outside directors” for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.

 The Compensation Committee met fi ve times in 2006. All of the members attended at least 75% of the Compensation Committee meetings.

NOMINATING AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
 The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee shall:
 •  annually review the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines,
 •  assist the Board in identifying, screening and recruiting qualifi ed individuals to become Board members,
 •  propose nominations for Board membership and committee membership,
 •  assess the composition of the Board and its committees,
 •  oversee the performance of the Board and committees thereof,
 •  oversee the receipt, investigation, resolution and retention of all complaints submitted under the Company’s Whistleblower Policy, and
 •  otherwise comply with its responsibilities and duties as set forth in the Company’s Corporate Governance Committee Charter.

 The Board has determined that all members of the Corporate Governance Committee satisfy the independence requirements of the NASDAQ 
corporate governance listing standards. The Corporate Governance Committee met one time during calendar year 2006. All of the members 
attended the Corporate Governance Committee meeting.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
 The Board has adopted a Corporate Code of Ethical and Professional Standards for Directors, Offi cers and Employees that applies to all of 
the Company’s directors, offi cers and employees. The purpose and role of this Code is to focus our directors, offi cers and employees on areas of 
ethical risk, provide guidance to help them recognize and deal with ethical issues, provide mechanisms to report unethical or unlawful conduct, 
and help enhance and formalize our culture of integrity, honesty and accountability. As required by applicable law, the Company will post on the 
“Corporate Governance” page of the “Who We Are”/“Investor Relations” section of its website at www.jbhunt.com any amendments or waivers of 
any provision of this Code made for the benefi t of executive offi cers or directors of the Company.

Corporate Governance Guidelines
 The Board has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines to assist it in exercising its responsibilities to the Company and its stockholders. 
The guidelines address, among other items, director responsibilities, Board committees and non-employee director compensation.

Section 16(a) Benefi cial Ownership Reporting Compliance
 Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires each director, offi cer and any individual benefi cially owning more than 10% of the Company’s 
common stock to fi le with the SEC reports of security ownership and reports on subsequent changes in ownership. These reports are generally due 
within two business days of the transaction giving rise to the reporting obligation.

 To the Company’s knowledge, all required Section 16(a) fi lings were timely and correctly made by the reporting persons during calendar 
year 2006.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
 The Corporate Governance Committee is charged with the responsibility of reviewing and pre-approving all related-party transactions (as 
defi ned in SEC regulations) and periodically reassessing any related-party transaction entered into by the Company’s Corporate Code of Ethical 
and Professional Standards for Directors and Employees. 

 Johnelle Hunt is the mother of Bryan Hunt and widow of founder J.B. Hunt. Bryan Hunt is the son of J.B. and Johnelle Hunt. There are no 
other family relationships among the foregoing Directors. As an employee of the Company, Johnelle Hunt received a salary of $100,000 for her 
services as the Company’s Corporate Secretary. The Company also submitted payment of $10,000 on her behalf for professional fees and provided 
a Company match of $3,000 to her 401(k) account.
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 On October 13, 2005, the Company announced a gift of $10 million to the University of Arkansas to facilitate the construction of the new 
J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. Center for Academic Excellence. Mrs. Hunt served as Treasurer for the University of Arkansas’ Campaign for 
the 21st Century, and Dr. John A. White serves as Chancellor of the University of Arkansas. Neither of the aforementioned Board members was 
instrumental in securing the contribution, nor did either participate in the voting processes related to this transaction.

 The contribution represents an investment by our Company in a growing institution, located only 10 miles from our headquarters, in the 
pursuit of excellence that has not only provided training and skills for many of our current employees, but also allows us to participate in the 
education of the next generation of J.B. Hunt Transport Services team members. The J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. Center for Academic 
Excellence will serve as a focal point and enabling infrastructure for information technology, supply-chain management, computational science and 
engineering, and technology-enabled education, research and outreach on the University campus to prepare students for the diverse, innovative, 
collaborative, team-oriented environment prevalent in today’s workspace. The close proximity of the University to our Company is invaluable as 
we jointly identify transportation and technology issues that require the brightest and best minds to ensure that the American supply chain remains 
the model for the world.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
 During the 2006 calendar year, none of the Company’s executive offi cers served on the Board of Directors of any entities whose 
directors or offi cers serve on the Company’s Compensation Committee. No current or past executive offi cers of the Company serve on the 
Compensation Committee.

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
 The following table sets forth all persons known to be the benefi cial owner of more than 5% of the Company’s common stock as of 
December 31, 2006. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes below, “benefi cially owned” means the sole power to vote or direct the voting 
of a security and the sole power to dispose or direct the disposition of a security.

 Number of Percent of
Name and Address Shares Class
Impala Asset Management 12,716,150 8.80
Barclays Global Investors NA  7,240,514 5.01

 The numbers shown above were taken directly from the NASDAQ Corporate Services Network Ownership Tables and Form 13F reports fi led 
with the SEC.

REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
 The Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) is composed of Coleman H. Peterson, Chairman, Gary Charles George and John A. White, 
none of whom is an offi cer or employee of the Company and all of whom have been determined by the Board of Directors of the Company 
(the “Board”) to be independent. Additionally, all members of the Committee qualify as “non-employee directors” for purposes of Rule 16b-3 
of the Exchange Act, and as “outside directors” for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). 
Mr. Peterson served as the chairman of the Committee during the entire 2006 year. Both Messrs. George and White fi lled vacancies created when 
John A. Cooper, Jr. submitted his resignation from the Board on August 1, 2006, and Thomas L. Hardeman passed away on August 20, 2006.

 The Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board, a copy of which is available on the “Corporate Governance” page of 
the “Who We Are”/“Investor Relations” section of the Company’s website at www.jbhunt.com. In carrying out its responsibilities, the Committee, 
among other things:
 •  determines and recommends to the independent board members, for their approval, the annual salaries and bonuses of the Chairman of the 

Board and the Chief Executive Offi cer,
 •  reviews and approves annual corporate goals and objectives of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Offi cer and other 

Section 16 reporting offi cers,
 •  recommends for approval to the independent board members equity-based compensation awards under the Company’s Management 

Incentive Plan (the “MIP”), as amended and restated for the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Offi cer,
 •  reviews and approves equity-based compensation awards under the Company’s MIP, as amended and restated for the Section 16 

reporting offi cers,
 •  establishes and certifi es the achievement of performance goals under the Company’s Bonus Plan,
 •  reviews and approves compensation recommendations for the Company’s directors,
 •  reviews other Company executive compensation programs,
 •  reviews and approves the compensation committee letter to the stockholders and the CD&A report included in the Proxy.

 The Committee may appoint subcommittees for any purpose the Committee deems appropriate and delegate to such subcommittees power 
and authority as the Committee deems appropriate; however, the Committee shall not delegate to a subcommittee any power or authority required 
by any law, regulation or listing standard to be exercised by the Committee as a whole. The Committee did not utilize the services of a subcommittee 
in 2006.
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 The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Offi cer provide recommendations to the Committee regarding the form and amount 
of compensation paid to executive offi cers who report directly to them. Additionally, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Financial Offi cer 
regularly attend Committee meetings, except for executive sessions. Traditionally, management has provided to the Committee historical and 
prospective breakdowns of primary compensation components for each executive offi cer, as well as tally sheets, wealth accumulation analyses and 
internal pay equity analyses as described in more detail below.

 In 2005, the Committee engaged Watson Wyatt (“WW”) to review certain of its executive compensation policies and practices. WW is 
retained by, and reports to, the Committee in order to provide various compensation analyses and consultation at the request of the Committee 
and has served as its compensation consultant since 2003. For 2006, the Committee consulted with WW by telephone. No formal report was 
written by WW, but the 2005 report was utilized as a reference. In the current year, the secretary to the Compensation Committee and the Chief 
Financial Offi cer of the Company were requested to analyze available market data with respect to the compensation of executive offi cers of public 
transportation companies in comparison to the Company’s executive offi cers, including the NEOs. In prior years, the Committee has also requested 
similar market data and analysis of non-employee director compensation and completed a thorough review and discussion of such compensation.

 The Committee met four times in 2006 and held one telephonic meeting in 2006 to discuss, among other items, the salaries, bonuses and 
other compensation of the senior executive offi cers and other key employees of the Company, including the Chairman of the Board and the Chief 
Executive Offi cer. The Committee did not act by unanimous consent at any time in 2006.

 Historically, the Committee meets each February to fi nalize discussion regarding the Company’s performance goals for the previous and 
current year with respect to performance-based compensation to be paid to executive offi cers and to approve its letter for the Proxy. These goals 
are approved within 90 days of the beginning of the year pursuant to the Code. Each year in October, the Committee generally discusses any new 
compensation issues, the compensation, bonus and MIP award analyses, and the engagement of the compensation consultant for annual executive 
and director compensation. The Committee also meets in October to:
 •  review and discuss information provided by the compensation consultant and the recommendations made by the Chief Executive Offi cer,
 •  review the performance of the Company and the individual offi cers,
 •  review the level to which the Company’s performance goals were attained and approve short-term cash bonus and long-term incentive 

awards, and
 •  determine executives’ base salaries for the following year.

 Management also advises the full Board, including the Committee members, throughout the year of any new issues and developments 
regarding executive compensation.

 The Company’s MIP was originally adopted and approved by the Board of Directors on March 17, 1989, and subsequently approved by the 
stockholders on May 11, 1995. The MIP has been amended since the time of its adoption, and all amendments required to have been approved by 
the stockholders were so approved.

 The Committee has reviewed and discussed the following CD&A with management and based upon such discussions, the Committee 
recommended to the Board that the CD&A be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement.

J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.
Executive Compensation Committee

Coleman H. Peterson, Chairman
Gary Charles George

John A. White
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Compensation Philosophy and Principles
 The Committee acknowledges that the transportation industry is highly competitive and that experienced professionals have career mobility. 
The Company believes it competes for executive talent with a large number of companies, some of which are privately owned and others of which 
have signifi cantly larger market capitalization than the Company. Retention of key talent remains critical to our success. The Company’s need 
to focus on retention is compounded by its size, geographic location and lean executive management team. As a consequence, the Company’s 
compensation program is structured to attract, retain and develop, over the long term, executive talent with the ability to succeed in a broad 
span of responsibilities over complex business units on a relatively individualized basis. The Committee believes that the ability to attract, retain 
and provide appropriate incentives for professional personnel, including the senior executive offi cers and other key employees of the Company, is 
essential to maintaining the Company’s leading competitive position, thereby providing for the long-term success of the Company. The Committee’s 
goal is to maintain compensation programs that are competitive with the transportation industry. Each year, the Committee reviews the executive 
compensation program with respect to the external competitiveness of the program and linkage between executive compensation and the creation 
of stockholder value and determines what changes, if any, are appropriate.

 The overall compensation philosophy of the Committee and management is guided by the following principles:
 •  Compensation levels should be suffi ciently competitive to attract and retain key talent. The Company aims to attract, motivate and retain 

high-performance talent to achieve and maintain a leading position in its industry. Our total compensation package should be strongly 
competitive with other transportation companies.

 •  Compensation should relate directly to performance and responsibility. Total compensation should be tied to and vary with performance 
and responsibility, both at the Company and individual level, in achieving fi nancial, operational and strategic objectives. Differentiated pay 
for high performers should be proportional to their contributions to the Company’s success.

 •  Short-term incentive compensation should constitute a signifi cant portion of total executive compensation. A large portion of total 
compensation should be tied to performance, and therefore at risk, as position and responsibility increase. Individuals with greater roles and 
the ability to directly impact strategic direction and long-term results should bear a greater proportion of the risk.

 •  Long-term incentive compensation, the Company’s MIP should be closely aligned with stockholders’ interests. Awards of long-term 
compensation encourage executive offi cers to focus on the Company’s long-range growth and development and incent them to manage 
from the perspective of owners with a meaningful stake in the Company, as well as to focus on long-term career orientation. Participants 
in the MIP are required to own company stock. The requirements are discussed in this CD&A under the caption “Stock Ownership 
Guidelines” on page 23.

 The Company’s executive compensation program is designed to reward the achievement of initiatives regarding growth, productivity and 
people, including:

 •  setting, implementing and communicating strategies, goals and objectives to ensure that the Company grows revenue and earnings at rates 
that are competitive or greater than our peers and that create value for our stockholders,

 •  motivating and exhibiting leadership that aligns the interest of our employees with that of our stockholders,
 •  developing a grasp of the competitive environment and taking steps to position the Company for growth and as a competitive force in 

the industry,
 •  constantly renewing the Company’s business model and seeking out strategic opportunities which benefi t the Company and its 

stockholders, and
 •  implementing a discipline of compliance and focus on the highest standards of professional conduct.

PROCESS OF SETTING COMPENSATION

Benchmarking Against Our Peer Group
 The Committee looks to external market data from the transportation industry in reviewing and establishing individual pay components 
and total compensation, thus ensuring that our executive compensation is competitive in the marketplace. We benchmark our performance and 
compensation against a group of ten publicly traded companies in the transportation industry that compete for market share, executive talent 
and employees. The peer group includes, CH Robinson Worldwide (“CH Robinson”), Covenant Transport (“Covenant”), Heartland Express 
(“Heartland”), Knight Transportation (“Knight”), Landstar System (“Landstar”), Pacer International (“Pacer”), Ryder System (“Ryder”), Swift 
Transportation (“Swift”), Werner Enterprises (“Werner”), and US Xpress Enterprises (“US Xpress”).

 We are unique in the transportation industry in that we provide a blend of services. Our Intermodal business is comparable to Pacer. Our DCS 
segment is comparable to Ryder. We use owner-operators similar to Landstar and Heartland. We provide brokerage services like CH Robinson. 
Finally, our Truck and DCS segments are comparable to Covenant, Knight, Swift, Werner and US Xpress. While no one of the selected peer group 
provides the wide spectrum of services we provide, we believe the group as a whole is a good cross-section of competitors.
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 Market data is collected from these companies by our fi nancial group on a quarterly basis. The Board is given this information. The Committee 
reviews and discusses annually our competitive positioning compared to our peers on a relative basis and for individual executive offi cers, with a 
particular focus on the positioning of base salary, short-term annual incentives and long-term, equity-based awards. The Committee also annually 
reviews our overall compensation program compared to our peers.

COMPENSATION ANALYSIS TOOLS

2006 Compensation
 Compensation paid or awarded to executives in 2006, in general, attained our goals. The Company’s performance exceeded that of our peers in 
most of the metrics that were reviewed. Our EPS did not increase as much in the past few years; therefore, bonuses were reduced from 2005 because 
we did not achieve our goals for 2006. Our philosophy of tying compensation to stockholder value was attained.

 In addition to the competitive compensation survey information for each offi cer provided by our fi nancial group, the Committee also reviewed 
compensation tally sheets, wealth accumulation analyses and internal pay equity analyses. The Committee began reviewing tally sheets in 2005, 
and the Committee anticipates further developing and enhancing these aids as compensation practices are reviewed and evolve in order to provide 
the Committee with the most relevant information and analyses practicable.

Wealth Accumulation Analysis
 This analysis illustrated prior long-term incentive awards (options and restricted share units), prior and future vesting schedules and overall 
value of stock owned plus the value of unvested options and restricted share units.

 We concluded that current-year awards would continue to provide a retirement vehicle for the NEOs, incent the executive offi cers to continue 
with the Company, and align their interests with those of our stockholders.

 Our Company has a 401(k) plan which assists participants in providing for retirement. The Company contributes approximately $6,000 
to each NEO’s account per year. The equity build-up in unvested equity-based awards and stock owned currently is critical to each executive’s 
ability to adequately provide for his or her retirement. As previously explained, we have a Company stock ownership policy for our executives, 
but we do not have a “hold until retirement” restriction. We do not believe such a restriction is prudent for the employee or necessary to protect 
our Company.

Tally Sheets
 Compensation tally sheets for each of the NEOs were prepared and reviewed by the Committee in 2006. These tally sheets detail dollar 
amounts for components of the NEO’s total compensation in 2006, including current salary and estimated cash bonus, both current and outstanding 
equity-based awards, change in control severance payments, personal benefi ts, if any, and other perquisites. These elements were found to be in line 
with our compensation goals and philosophies.

 Our objective for executive base pay and total compensation is to provide compensation in the range of the 50th to 75th percentile of our peer 
group. We arrived at this conclusion because of our size and our performance compared to our peers. We believe that a sizeable portion of overall 
compensation should be at risk and tied to stockholder value. Our bonuses are tied to EPS. As EPS increases, so do executive bonuses. Long-term 
incentives are used as tools to reward executives for current and future performance, to encourage an executive to remain with the Company and 
to make the executive align his or her interests with those of our stockholders. As part of our long-term incentive strategy, executives are expected 
to maintain stock ownership values as a multiple of their base salary.

Internal Pay Equity Analyses
 The Committee commissioned management to conduct an internal pay equity analysis in 2006. This study involved a review of 2006 total 
cash compensation for all participants in the Company’s MIP for 2006, as well as certain non-exempt salaried employees. Compensation reviewed 
included base salary, short-term cash bonus and commissions. In order to provide an “apples to apples” comparison, the Committee reviewed this 
compensation information for all participants in the 2006 MIP, grouped by offi cer position, but also reviewed salary comparisons between these 
individuals and individuals in the Company’s lowest non-exempt, salaried pay grade. The study provided no information that the Company felt 
should alter executive compensation goals or our compensation philosophy. Executive compensation was determined to be reasonable when 
consideration was given to performance, seniority and responsibility.

Long-Term Compensation Analyses and Policies
 With respect to long-term, equity-based awards, the Company maintains an MIP. Restricted share units and stock options of the Company are 
granted under the MIP in an effort to link future compensation to the long-term fi nancial success of the Company. These equity-based awards are 
granted to executive offi cers, including the NEOs, and other key employees (approximately 250 individuals) and are intended to attract and retain 
employees who contribute to the Company’s success, to provide incentives to enhance job performance, and to enable those persons to participate 
in the long-term success and growth through an equity interest in the Company.

 In December 2005, the Committee began granting time-vested restricted share units in lieu of stock options under the MIP. The Committee 
believes restricted share units are currently more effective than stock options in achieving the Company’s compensation objectives, as these grants 
are subject to less market volatility and are less dilutive to stockholders. Employees realize immediate value as restricted share units vest, with such 
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value increasing as the Company’s stock performance increases. Cash dividends are not paid and there are no voting rights on unvested restricted 
share units.

 The Company does not have a formal policy, but has an established practice described below, with respect to the granting of any form of equity 
compensation. The Company does not have a policy or practice of timing equity-based compensation grants to current or new executive offi cers, or 
timing the release of material, non-public information to affect the value of executive compensation. The Committee has approved, and will continue 
to approve, all grants of equity-based compensation to the NEOs and Section 16 fi lers in October each year. Final approval of awards for the Company’s 
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi cer is obtained from the Company’s independent board members. Although the Chairman of the 
Board and the Chief Executive Offi cer make recommendations regarding individual allocations of equity–based compensation awards to be approved, 
the Committee reviews the recommendations and makes the fi nal determination of the awards. The Committee does not expect to delegate approval 
authority to grant awards to management or any subcommittee at this time or in the near future. The grant date is typically set by the Committee. 
Historically, annual awards of equity compensation have been granted to all awardees, including the NEOs, in October. Grants have been made in 
months other than October on a very limited basis and did not involve grants to executive offi cers or an isolated group. For stock options granted prior 
to October 2005, the Committee typically set grant dates in the fourth quarter of the fi scal year. Limited exceptions to this grant-date practice have 
included, for example, the hiring of a key employee or the promotion of an employee to an executive offi ce.

 Pursuant to the provision of the MIP, all stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to 100% of the fair market value of the 
Company’s common stock on the grant date. Stock options are exercisable over fi ve to 10 years from the grant date. The exercise price of stock 
options may be satisfi ed with payment of cash or previously owned Company stock, or through a cashless simultaneous exercise and sale program.

 In response to emerging changes in the area of accounting for equity-based compensation and to position ourselves competitively with our 
peers, beginning in 2005, the Committee began granting restricted share units in lieu of stock options under its MIP. The Committee anticipates 
granting restricted share units in lieu of stock options for the foreseeable future, but in the event stock options are granted, such stock options 
will be granted under the terms discussed above. Similar to stock options, the total number of restricted share units that may be awarded to 
an individual is within the discretion of the Committee but also limited by the MIP and is generally based on the Company’s performance 
and the individual’s current level of compensation, individual performance, potential for promotion and marketability outside of the Company. 
The number of restricted share units or stock options previously granted to an individual may be, but is not always, a consideration in determining 
the amount of awards granted to that individual in the future. Generally, restricted share units vest over fi ve to 10 years.

 The Committee granted stock options in 2002 through 2004 for all awardees, including the NEOs. In 2004 and 2005, the Committee set the 
annual grant date for all awardees in October. For 2006, the Committee set a grant date of October 16, 2006, for restricted share units.

 The Committee anticipates that it will continue to adhere to these general grant dates for the foreseeable future for administrative ease and 
consistency. Awards are made in the fourth quarter because the Committee has a good view as to fi nancial and individual performance for the 
current year.

 As stated above, the Company does not have a policy or practice of timing the grant of equity-based awards and the release of material 
non-public information in a manner that would affect compensation for new or current executive offi cers, nor has it deliberately or knowingly 
done so.

 In the event that material non-public information becomes known to the Committee, the Company or its employees at a time when such 
information could affect or otherwise impact the imminent grant of equity-based compensation, management and the Committee would take the 
existence of such information under advisement and determine whether to delay the grant of such equity-based compensation to a later date in 
order to avoid the appearance of any impropriety.

Deductibility of Compensation and Other Regulatory Considerations
 The Code places a limit of $1,000,000 on the amount of compensation the Company may deduct for federal income tax purposes in any one 
year with respect to the Company’s Chief Executive Offi cer and the next four most highly compensated offi cers (the “Covered Employees”). There 
is an exception to this $1,000,000 limitation for performance-based compensation that meets certain requirements. In reviewing the effectiveness 
of the Company’s compensation program, the Committee considers the anticipated tax treatment to the Company and to its executives of various 
payments and benefi ts. Additionally, the deductibility of certain compensation payments depends upon the timing of an executive’s vesting or 
exercise of previously granted awards, as well as interpretations and changes in the tax laws and other factors beyond the Committee’s control. For 
these and other reasons, including the need to maintain fl exibility in compensating executive offi cers in a manner designed to promote varying 
corporate goals, the Committee will not necessarily, nor in all circumstances, limit executive compensation to that which is deductible under the 
Code. The Company has not adopted a policy requiring all compensation to be deductible.

 The Committee will consider various alternatives to preserving the deductibility of compensation payments and benefi ts to the extent 
reasonably practicable and to the extent consistent with its other compensation objectives. Base salary, bonuses or the vesting of restricted share 
units do not qualify as performance-based compensation under the Code. In 2006, all compensation paid to the Company’s Covered Employees 
was deductible by the Company.
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Derivative Trading
 It is the Company’s policy that offi cers and directors not engage in any put or call transactions on Company stock. Such transactions create 
a signifi cant enticement for abusive trading and, in many instances, give the unwelcome appearance of the offi cer or director betting against 
the Company. There is no Company policy that would prohibit the Company’s executive offi cers from entering into a forward-sale or forward-
purchase contract.

Stock Ownership Guidelines
 To motivate the Company’s offi cers and senior management to emulate its stockholders, the Company expects its management to own 
Company stock at levels described in the table shown below.

 Stock ownership is defi ned as stock owned:
 •  directly;
 •  through the Company’s 401(k) Employee Retirement Plan, and/or;
 •  through the Company’s Deferred Compensation Plan.

Position  Ownership Multiple of Base Salary
Chief Executive Offi cer  6 times
Executive Vice Presidents  3.50 times
Senior Vice Presidents and Vice Presidents of Operations 2.75 times
Vice Presidents, Regional Operations Managers, and Directors of Operations 2 times

 The Committee has determined that as of February 23, 2007, all of the Company’s offi cers and members of senior management covered by 
these guidelines have met their ownership goals.

Stock Retention Policy
 Other than indicated above, the Company does not have any other stock retention policy.

Recovery of Awards
 The Company does not have a policy requiring replacement of awards or payments as a result of an offi cer’s illegal transactions or restatements. 
The Company became a public company in 1983. Since that time, it has had no illegal actions by its offi cers.

Summary
 The Company intends to continue its practice of compensating its executives through programs that emphasize performance. To that end, 
executive compensation is tied directly to the performance of the Company and is structured to ensure that, due to the nature of the business and 
the degree of competitiveness for executive talent, there is an appropriate balance between short-term and long-term compensation, base salary and 
incentive compensation, and cash and non-cash compensation, all of which are determined and measured by fi nancial, operational and strategic 
goals, long-term and short-term performance of the Company and individual contributions.

 For 2006, the actual total compensation of the NEOs generally fell between the 29th and 65th percentile of the mean of total compensation 
paid to executives holding equivalent positions in the transportation industry peer group companies. The Committee believes that payments and 
awards were consistent with the Company’s fi nancial performance, size and the individual performance of each of the NEOs, and also believes that 
the compensation was reasonable in its totality.

Elements of Compensation
 The Company’s primary compensation components are summarized below. Generally, the Company’s compensation program consists of annual 
base salary, a short-term cash incentive award, and an annual long-term, equity-based award. Primary benefi ts for executives include participation 
in the Company’s 401(k) plan, health, dental and vision plans, and various insurance plans, including disability and life insurance, all of which are 
available to all employees on a non-discriminatory basis. The Company provides limited perquisites to executive offi cers and other key employees 
and is described in more detail on page 26 under the section titled “Other Perquisites.”

 Total compensation for executive offi cers, including the NEOs, consists of one or more of the following components:
 •  base salary
 •  annual performance-based incentive cash bonus awards
 •  long-term incentive/equity-based compensation
 •  health and welfare benefi ts
 •  other benefi ts

 The Committee, with recommendations from management, works to create what it believes is the best mix of these components in delivering 
total compensation and in determining annual compensation, reviews all elements of compensation separately and in the aggregate. These 
compensation components are comparable to the Company’s competitors and peer group.
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 In its review of executive compensation, and, in particular, in determining the amount and form of incentive awards discussed below, the 
Committee generally considers, among other things, market information with respect to cash and long-term compensation for comparable 
companies in the transportation industry, amounts paid to the executive offi cer in prior years as salary, annual bonus and other compensation, 
the offi cer’s responsibilities and performance during the fi scal year, and the Company’s overall performance during prior fi scal years and its future 
objectives and challenges.

 At transportation companies, generally the largest elements of compensation are paid in the form of annual short-term incentives and 
long-term compensation. Compensation mix and industry profi tability does vary as the industry faces many risk factors, such as the economy 
and fuel prices.

 As a result, cash usually comprises a much greater percentage of the total compensation package than long-term equity-based compensation. 
Our executive offi cers, including NEOs, receive approximately 48% to 66% of their total compensation in cash. Cash compensation varies as the 
EPS of the Company changes, thus affecting bonus payouts. Grants of stock options or restricted share units are made annually. Stock options and 
restricted share units are based on each employee’s level of responsibility and are computed as a multiple of base salary as a maximum.

 It has been the policy of the Company to put a signifi cant portion of the executive’s compensation at risk. This is accomplished by our cash 
bonus plan, which is directly tied to EPS increases. Equity-based awards from our MIP may also vary in vesting from fi ve to 10 years. These awards 
are subject to forfeiture if the employee leaves the Company. The Committee and management believe that the proportion of compensation at risk 
should rise as the employee’s level of responsibility increases.

 The Company has retained WW as its compensation consultant. WW reports directly to the Committee. In 2005, WW prepared a study providing 
information and an independent analysis of the executive compensation program and practices. WW’s 2005 study was updated by management in 
2006 and reviewed by the Committee. The results of the study included observations about the Company’s 2006 executive compensation.

 In general:
 •  base salaries are competitive (ranging from 87% to 131% of the mean of the peer group)
 •  cash bonuses are competitive (ranging from 38% to 110% of the mean of the peer group)
 •  the lump-sum value of the long-term incentive awards is low (ranging from 18% to 53% of the mean of the peer group)
 •  total compensation for executive offi cers is low compared to peers (ranging in the 29th to 65th percentile of the peer group)

Base Salary
 The Committee believes that competitive levels of cash compensation, together with equity-based and other incentive programs, are necessary 
for the motivation and retention of the Company’s executives. Salaries provide executives with a base level of monthly income and help achieve 
the objectives outlined above by attracting and retaining strong talent. Base salaries are evaluated annually for all executive offi cers, including 
the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Offi cer. Generally, base salaries are not directly related to specifi c measures of corporate 
performance, but are determined by the relevance of experience, the scope and complexity of the position, current job responsibilities, retention 
and relative salaries of peers in the transportation industry. The Committee may elect not to increase an executive offi cer’s annual salary, and has 
so elected in prior years. However, if warranted, the Committee may increase base salary where an executive offi cer takes on added responsibilities 
or was promoted.

 For 2006, the Committee reviewed and approved the salaries of all Section 16 reporting persons. The Committee presented to the 
independent, non-employee board members, for their approval, salary recommendations for Messrs. Garrison and Thompson, the Company’s 
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi cer, respectively. Mr. Garrison received no salary increase in the current year. Mr. Thompson 
received an increase of $30,000. In October 2006, the Committee approved the salaries for executive offi cers, including the other NEOs. 
Executive salaries increased between 0% and 15%.

Annual Bonus Award
 As previously mentioned, the Company has had a bonus plan in place for several years that is tied to EPS. As EPS increases, so do executive 
bonus payments. All non-commissioned, salaried employees participate in the same plan. Each year the Compensation Committee, with 
recommendations from the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi cer, establishes the EPS targets for the following year. The bonus 
is computed from a matrix of EPS targets and percentages of the executive’s base salary. If EPS does not reach a base level, no bonus is paid. In 
October 2005 and October 2006 the Committee approved the bonus plan for 2006 and 2007, respectively. The Committee believes this plan 
directly aligns current compensation to the stockholder’s interest by providing the executives with incentives to increase the profi ts of the Company, 
thereby increasing stockholder value.

 The Committee does not rely solely on predetermined formulas or a limited set of criteria when it evaluates the performance of the Chairman 
of the Board, the Chief Executive Offi cer or the other NEOs. In 2006, the Committee considered management’s continuing achievement of its 
short-term and long-term goals versus its strategic imperatives and general individual performance objectives. The Committee also considers 
recommendations from the Chief Executive Offi cer regarding total compensation for those executives reporting directly to him. General individual 
performance objectives for the NEOs include the following and vary depending on the business function in which the executive works.
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 •  Financial objectives: Revenues, operating ratio, diluted earnings per share, operating cash fl ow, cost-savings initiatives and departmental 
fi nancial measures.

 •  Strategic objectives: Increasing customer base, customer service and implementation of short-term and long-term objectives.

 In assessing individual performance against the objectives, the Committee considers actual results against deliverables. The Committee based 
its compensation decisions for Messrs. Garrison and Thompson on:
 •  leadership,
 •  the execution of business plans,
 •  strategic results,
 •  operating results,
 •  growth in EPS,
 •  size and complexity of the business,
 •  experience,
 •  strengthening of competitive position,
 •  analysis of competitive compensation practices,
 •  assessment of the Company’s performance, and
 •  the assessment of Messrs. Garrison’s and Thompson’s performance based on the objectives listed above.

 Where possible, the above criteria were compared to the peer group. The compensation decisions for other NEOs were also based on those 
assessments, as well as the Chief Executive Offi cer’s recommendations to determine levels of payout.

Long-Term, Equity-Based Award
 Each executive is eligible to receive an incentive award of restricted share units. Restricted share units are intended to help achieve the 
objectives of the compensation program, including the retention of high-performing and experienced talent, a career orientation and strong 
alignment with stockholders’ interests. Long-term incentive awards also facilitate the development and retention of strong management through 
share ownership and recognition of future performance. The restricted share unit is awarded and settled from shares reserved for issuance under 
the MIP. As previously mentioned, the Committee awards restricted share units based on an executive’s level of responsibility and prior and 
expected future performance. Awards are set as a multiple of the executive’s base salary, as recommended by the Committee’s consultant, WW. The 
Committee approves or adjusts the award based on the above criteria for all Section 16 fi lers who are employees of the Company. The awards for 
the Company’s Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi cer are presented for fi nal approval to the Company’s independent board members. 
The Company also has stock ownership requirements for all participants in the MIP who hold the position of director and above. The Committee 
believes that restricted share units must be suffi cient in size to provide a strong, long-term performance and retention incentive for executives and 
to increase their vested interest in the Company. Restricted share units have been awarded for the last two years because they are less dilutive to 
shares outstanding and to profi ts. Restricted share units vest from fi ve to 10 years.

 For 2006, the Company granted, in aggregate, 126,000 restricted share units to the NEOs participating in the MIP with Messrs. Garrison, 
Thompson, Walton, Bergant and Harper receiving grants of 40,000, 40,000, 14,000, 12,000 and 20,000 units, respectively. These awards represent 
the Committee’s and the Board’s view of both the Company’s and the individuals’ performance in the marketplace during calendar year 2006.

 In administering our MIP and awarding long-term incentive awards, we are sensitive to the potential for dilution of future earnings per share. 
The MIP is a broad-based equity compensation program. We focus the program on employees who will have the greatest impact on strategic 
direction and long-term results of the Company by virtue of their senior roles and responsibilities. A total of 676,720 restricted share units were 
granted in 2006. Of that number, approximately 30% of the units granted were issued to the executive offi cer group. Approximately 19% of the 
total share units were granted to the NEOs. MIP participants who hold the title of director and above have an ownership requirement in Company 
stock. Our peers all have similar long-term equity-based award plans. Our peers do not disclose any ownership requirements.

Deferred Compensation
 The Company administers a Deferred Compensation Plan for certain of its offi cers. The employee or participant may elect on an annual basis 
to defer part of his or her salary and/or bonus. This plan assists key employees in planning for retirement. The Company contributes nothing to the 
plan. Some of our peers have deferred compensation plans that provide for some form of matching.

Health and Welfare Benefi ts
 The Company provides benefi ts such as medical, vision, life insurance, long-term disability coverage, and 401(k) plan opportunities 
to all eligible employees, including the NEOs. The Company provides up to $750,000 in life insurance coverage and up to $10,000 
per month in long-term disability coverage. The value of these benefi ts is not required to be included in the Summary Compensation 
Table since they are available to all employees on a non-discriminatory basis. The Company matches employee contributions to the 
401(k) plan. The Company provides no post-retirement medical or retirement benefi ts to its employees. These benefi ts are comparable 
to those offered by our peers.

 The Company also provides vacation, sick leave and other paid holidays to employees, including the NEOs, that are comparable to those 
provided at other transportation companies. The Company believes that its commitment to provide employee benefi ts such as these recognizes that 
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the health and well-being of our employees contributes directly to a productive and successful work life that produces better results for the Company 
and for its employees.

Personal Benefi ts
 The Company provides certain perquisites to management employees, including the NEOs, as summarized below.

Company Aircraft
 The Company no longer owns and operates its own aircraft. Since 1998, the Company has actively participated in shared ownership of aircraft 
services with NetJets. With the approval of the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Offi cer, the NEOs and other management employees 
use Company aircraft for business purposes. Personal use of the Company plane is provided to executive offi cers on a very limited basis and to other 
management employees in the event of emergency or other urgent situations.

Company Vehicles
 The Company does not provide company-owned cars to executives.

Other Perquisites
 The Company provides executive offi cers a taxable allowance of up to $10,000 a year for fi nancial counseling services, which may include 
legal, fi nancial, estate and/or tax planning and tax return preparation. This benefi t is based on actual cost to the Company. The Company also 
provides country club memberships to certain of its executive offi cers. These memberships are valued on the actual costs of the membership, 
including dues, regardless of whether use was personal or business. The Company believes the clubs provide a quiet venue for negotiations and 
entertainment of clients, bankers, investment bankers, stockholders, etc.

Severance Agreements
 The Company does not have employment contracts or personal severance agreements with any of its executives. However, according to the 
terms of the previously mentioned MIP, all outstanding options and restricted share units would immediately vest upon a “change in control.”

 Generally, a “change in control” per the MIP would be deemed to occur when more than 30% of the outstanding shares of common stock 
of the Company changes ownership in a transaction that is a merger, reorganization or consolidation or when more than 50% of the outstanding 
shares change ownership in a transaction that is not a merger, reorganization or consolidation.

 Most of our peers have similar “change in control” language in their stock incentive plans. Some of our peers have employment agreements 
and severance packages for their executives.

 The Company does not believe severance agreements or employee contracts are necessary in order to compete in the transportation marketplace.

Compensation of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Offi cer
 As of December 31, 2006, Messrs. Garrison and Thompson have a base salary of $500,000 and $630,000, respectively. Mr. Garrison received 
no increase in salary during 2006. Mr. Thompson received a 5% increase or $30,000 during 2006. Additionally, under the bonus plan, Messrs. 
Garrison and Thompson received a cash incentive bonus of $225,000 and $270,000, respectively. These bonus payments were less than those paid 
in the prior year because EPS goals for 2006 were not attained.

 Messrs. Garrison’s and Thompson’s base salaries are not directly related to specifi c measures of corporate performance, but are determined 
by their experience, current job responsibilities, the relative salaries of their peers in the transportation industry and, to a lesser extent, upon a 
subjective evaluation of their contribution to the Company’s corporate and fi nancial goals and objectives. Messrs. Garrison and Thompson each 
received 40,000 restricted share units from the MIP in 2006. Their awards were approved by the independent, non-employee directors of the board 
and vest from 2011 to 2016. The Committee exercised its right under the MIP to increase the restricted share units awarded above the salary 
multiple maximum to both Messrs. Garrison and Thompson. In view of cash versus equity awards, the Committee viewed equity-based awards as a 
means of more closely aligning their positions with the stockholders’ interests.

 In 2005, the Committee retained WW to review the compensation for Messrs. Garrison and Thompson. As discussed above, the study was 
updated by management in 2006. WW and management reviewed industry and peer groups they believe are representative of companies that the 
Company competes with for executive talent and compared Messrs. Garrison’s and Thompson’s compensation to their peers in those groups.

 The Committee believes each element of compensation paid to Messrs. Garrison and Thompson and other senior managers is reasonably 
appropriate and in the best interests of the stockholders. The Company is one of the largest companies in comparison to the peer group and its 
fi nancial performance is better than most of its peers. The elements of compensation have generally been consistent over the past few years and 
have served the stockholders well in receiving outstanding performance from its executives and outstanding performance from the Company.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION

 The following table summarizes the total compensation earned or paid to the Chief Executive Offi cer, Chief Financial Offi cer and the three 
most highly compensated executive offi cers of the Company who served in such capacities as of December 31, 2006, for services rendered to the 
Company. These fi ve offi cers are referred to as the NEOs in this Proxy Statement.

   Non-   Change in 
   Equity Restricted Stock Value for 
   Incentive Share Option Deferred All Other 
Principal  Salary Awards Units Awards Compensation Compensation
and Position Year ($) (1) (1) ($) (2) ($) (2) ($) ($) Total ($)
Kirk Thompson 2006 605,769 270,000 96,139 330,135 0 11,652 1,313,695
  President
  and CEO

Jerry Walton 2006 358,269 159,750 57,737 160,971 0 11,467  748,194
  EVP, Finance/
  Administration
  and CFO

Wayne Garrison 2006 500,000 225,000 87,201 137,933 0 13,530  963,664
  Chairman
  of the Board

Paul Bergant 2006 317,884 141,750 53,673 166,253 0 13,549  693,109
  EVP Marketing,
  CMO, and
  President of 
  Intermodal

Craig Harper 2006 311,365 137,250 52,929 168,883 0  4,233  674,660
  EVP, Operations
  and COO

(1)  Non-equity incentive awards (paid as a bonus) and salary amounts shown above are reported as gross earnings. Totals may include amounts transferred 
into deferred compensation. All non-equity awards are reported in the year in which they are earned.

(2)  Amounts refl ect totals expensed in the Company’s fi nancial statements in 2006 under SFAS 123R. See Note 5 of the Company’s annual report as reported 
on Form 10-K for assumptions used in the valuation.
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Components of All Other Compensation for Calendar Year 2006
    Perquisites Company 
    and Other Contributions 
    Personal Benefi ts to 401(k) Plan Total
Name   Year ($) ($) ($)
Kirk Thompson   2006 5,789 5,863 11,652
Jerry Walton   2006 5,232 6,235 11,467
Wayne Garrison   2006 9,315 4,215 13,530
Paul Bergant   2006 7,532 6,017 13,549
Craig Harper   2006     0 4,233  4,233

Components of Perquisites for Calendar Year 2006
     Total
   Legal and Club Perquisites
  Personal Use of Accounting Dues and and Other
  Company Plane Fees Security Personal
Name Year ($) ($) ($) Benefi ts ($)
Kirk Thompson 2006 0 3,500 2,289 5,789
Jerry Walton 2006 0     0 5,232 5,232
Wayne Garrison 2006 0 9,315     0 9,315
Paul Bergant 2006 0     0 7,532 7,532
Craig Harper 2006 0     0     0     0

 Messrs. Thompson and Bergant had family members accompanying them on one business trip each using the Company aircraft. The Company 
incurred no incremental cost for these family members to utilize available seating on these trips, thus, no value is assigned to the perquisites. Both 
Messrs. Thompson and Bergant have included the taxable value of this perquisite in their salaries detailed in the Summary Compensation Table 
above and for income tax reporting purposes.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards
 The following table refl ects estimated possible payouts under equity and non-equity incentive plans to the NEOs during 2006. The Company’s 
equity-based and incentive-based awards are granted to the NEOs based upon pre-established performance goals set annually by the Compensation 
Committee with a performance period equal to the calendar year for which the performance goals are set.

 The MIP is an annual plan consisting of equity-based awards only. The number of shares awarded are measured based on the executive’s level 
of responsibility and other matters described on page 25 under “Long-Term Equity-Based Award.” Dividends are not paid on awards of restricted 
share units. 

 NEOs are eligible to earn cash bonuses under the non-equity incentive award plan based on the Company’s EPS for the calendar year. Please 
refer to page 24 of the Proxy Statement under “Annual Bonus Award” for further detail.

        All Other All Other  
        Stock Option  Grant
        Awards: Awards:  Date Fair
        Number Number Exercise Value
 Estimated Possible Payouts Estimated Possible Payouts of of or Base of Stock
 Under Non-Equity Under Equity Incentive Shares Securities Price of and
 Incentive Awards (1) Plan Awards (2) of Stock Underlying Option Option
 Grant Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum or Units Options Awards Awards
Name Date ($) ($) ($) (1) (#) (#) (#) (#) (3) (#) ($/Sh) ($) (4)
Kirk Thompson 10/26/06 30,288 454,327 1,332,691 N/A N/A N/A 40,000 – – 19.90
 
Jerry Walton 10/16/06 17,913 268,702 788,192 N/A N/A N/A 14,000 – – 20.78

Wayne Garrison 10/26/06 25,000 375,000 1,100,000 N/A N/A N/A 40,000 – – 19.90
 
Paul Bergant 10/16/06 15,894 238,413 699,345 N/A N/A N/A 12,000 – – 20.78

Craig Harper 10/16/06 15,568 233,524 685,003 N/A N/A N/A 20,000 – – 20.78

(1)  This column refl ects the maximum non-equity incentive award each NEO was eligible to receive for 2006 under the percentage assigned to each NEO for the 
cash bonus pool. The actual awards earned are reported in the Summary Compensation Table shown on page 27 of this Proxy Statement.

(2)  The Company has no equity incentive plan awards.
(3)  This column refl ects the number of restricted share units that were granted to the NEOs in 2006. Grants to Messrs. Thompson and Garrison were made 

on October 26, 2006. Grants to Messrs. Walton, Bergant and Harper were made on October 16, 2006.
(4)  Market value of the share units on the date of grant was $19.90 for grants made to Messrs. Thompson and Garrison and $20.78 for grants made to 

Messrs. Walton, Bergant and Harper. This market value is an 8.03% discount from the Company’s closing stock price on the date of grant. The discount 
represents the present value of expected dividends to be paid on the Company’s common stock, using the current dividend rate and the risk-free interest rate, 
over the vesting period. The Company believes this discount is appropriate to value the restricted share units as the units do not collect or accrue dividends 
until the awards vest and are settled with Company stock.
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 Outstanding Equity Awards At Calendar Year-End
 The following table sets forth information concerning stock options and restricted share units held by the NEOs as of December 31, 2006.

 Option Awards RSU Awards  ___________________________________________________________   ______________________________________________
        Equity 
        Incentive Equity
   Equity     Plan Incentive
   Incentive     Awards: Plan Awards:
   Plan   Number  Number of Market of
 Number of Number of Awards:   of Shares Market Unearned Payout Value
 Securities Securities Number of   or Value of Shares, of Unearned
 Underlying Underlying Securities   Units of Shares or Units or Shares, Units
 Unexercised Unexercised Underlying Option  Stock that Units of Other or Other
 Options Options Unexercised Exercise Option Have Not Stock That Rights That Rights That
 Exercisable Unexercisable Unearned Price Expiration Vested Have Not Have Not Have Not
Name (#) (#) (1) Options (#) ($) Date (#) (2) Vested ($)(3) Vested (#) Vested ($)
Kirk Thompson –  45,600 –  3.37 11/5/10 35,000 726,950 – –
  150,000   3.47 11/2/12 40,000 830,800  
  106,672   7.08 10/24/13    
  100,000  12.20 10/23/14    
  100,000  20.36 10/21/15    

Jerry Walton –  16,000 –  4.88 12/4/09 10,000 207,700 – –
   30,000   7.08 10/24/10 14,000 290,780  
   40,000  12.20 10/23/10    
   40,000  20.36 10/21/12    

Wayne Garrison – 120,000 –  5.86 2/28/12 20,000 415,400 – –
   40,000  12.20 10/23/10 40,000 830,800  

Paul Bergant –  16,000 –  5.05 12/28/09 10,000 207,700 – –
   30,000   7.08 10/24/10 12,000 249,240  
   40,000  12.20 10/23/10    
   40,000  20.36 10/21/11    

Craig Harper –  8,000 –  3.75 4/15/08 17,000 353,090 – –
   8,000   7.21 6/15/09 20,000 415,400  
   8,000   3.12 10/8/09    
  100,000   3.47 11/2/12    
   53,336   7.08 10/24/13    
   48,000  12.20 10/23/14    
   48,000  20.36 10/21/15    
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(1) Unvested and unexercisable options. Effective vesting dates are noted.

 Shares Vesting Vesting Date Shares Vesting Vesting Date
Kirk Thompson 15,200 6/1/07 17,776 6/1/10
 15,200 6/1/08 17,776 6/1/11
 15,200 6/1/09 17,792 6/1/12
 30,000 6/1/07 20,000 6/1/09
 30,000 6/1/08 20,000 6/1/10
 30,000 6/1/09 20,000 6/1/11
 30,000 6/1/10 20,000 6/1/12
 30,000 6/1/11  20,000 6/1/13
 17,776 6/1/07  20,000 6/1/12
 17,776 6/1/08 40,000 6/1/13
 17,776 6/1/09 40,000 6/1/14
Jerry Walton  8,000 6/1/07 13,332 6/1/07
  8,000 6/1/08 13,332 6/1/08
 10,000 6/1/07 13,336 6/1/09
 10,000 6/1/08 20,000 6/1/10
 10,000 6/1/09 20,000 6/1/11
 Wayne Garrison 120,000 2/28/07 20,000 6/1/09
 20,000 6/1/08
Paul Bergant 8,000 6/1/07 13,332 6/1/07
 8,000 6/1/08 13,332 6/1/08
 10,000 6/1/07 13,336 6/1/09
 10,000 6/1/08 40,000 6/1/10
 10,000 6/1/09
 Craig Harper 8,000 6/1/07 8,888 6/1/09
 4,000 6/1/07 8,888 6/1/10
 4,000 6/1/08 8,888 6/1/11
 4,000 6/1/07 8,896 6/1/12
 4,000 6/1/08 9,600 6/1/09
 20,000 6/1/07 9,600 6/1/10
 20,000 6/1/08 9,600 6/1/11
 20,000 6/1/09 9,600 6/1/12
 20,000 6/1/10 9,600 6/1/13
 20,000 6/1/11 16,000 6/1/12
 8,888 6/1/07 16,000 6/1/13
 8,888 6/1/08 16,000 6/1/14

(2) Restricted share units are time-vested awards. Effective vesting dates are noted.

 Shares Vesting Vesting Date Shares Vesting Vesting Date
Kirk Thompson 8,750 7/15/13 5,000 7/15/13
 8,750 7/15/14 5,000 7/15/14
 17,500 7/15/15 10,000 7/15/15
 5,000 7/15/11 10,000 7/15/16
 5,000 7/15/12
Jerry Walton 5,000 7/15/10 2,996 7/15/09
 5,000 7/15/11 4,004 7/15/10
 2,996 7/15/08 4,004 7/15/11
Wayne Garrison 5,000 7/15/10 5,000 7/15/13
 5,000 7/15/11 5,000 7/15/14
 10,000 7/15/12 10,000 7/15/15
 5,000 7/15/11 10,000 7/15/16
 5,000 7/15/12  
Paul Bergant 2,500 7/15/10 3,000 7/15/09
 7,500 7/15/11 3,000 7/15/10
 3,000 7/15/08 3,000 7/15/11
Craig Harper 3,400 7/15/12 5,000 7/15/12
 4,250 7/15/13 4,000 7/15/13
 4,250 7/15/14 3,000 7/15/14
 5,100 7/15/15 2,000 7/15/15
 6,000 7/15/11

(3) Values are based on the market closing price of $20.77 on December 31, 2006.
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Options Exercised and Stock Vested
 The following table describes stock options only. No restricted share units vested in calendar year 2006.

 Option Awards
 Number of Shares Value Realized
 Acquired on Exercise on Exercise
Name (#) ($) (1) (2)
Kirk Thompson 30,000 594,900
 15,200 329,232
 30,000 646,800
 17,776 319,079
    Total 92,976 1,890,011

Jerry Walton 4,000 80,930
 4,000 66,280
 8,000 164,421
 8,000 135,120
 4,000 91,130
 24,000 527,104
 24,000 439,200
 10,000 183,527
 10,000 146,900
    Total 96,000 1,834,612

Wayne Garrison 120,000 1,881,600
    Total 120,000 1,881,600

Paul Bergant 4,000 69,080
 8,000 162,480
 8,000 139,360
 20,000 380,000
 10,000 182,800
 10,000 153,900
    Total 60,000 1,087,620

Craig Harper 6,000 121,380
 8,000 170,240
 4,000 71,280
 4,000 87,360
 14,284 313,676
 8,888 158,917
    Total 45,172 922,853

(1)  Value realized on the exercise of stock options shown above are gross earnings. Values are earned over multiple years. Election to exercise an option in 
calendar year 2006 should not be interpreted to mean that all value was earned in the year the option was exercised.

  Messrs. Garrison and Thompson exercised and purchased all of the shares shown in column number two above.

  Mr. Harper exercised and purchased 18,000 shares, which was a portion of the available vested shares.

(2)  Values are calculated by subtracting the exercise price from the fair market value on the underlying common stock on the date of exercise.
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Components of Non-Qualifi ed Deferred Compensation for Calendar Year 2006

 Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate
 Contributions Contributions Contributions Withdrawals / Balance
Name in 2006 ($) (1) in 2006 ($) in 2006 ($) Distributions ($) at 2005 ($)
Kirk Thompson  67,514 0  67,514      0 179,302
Jerry Walton 115,562 0 115,562  1,826 494,776
Wayne Garrison       0 0       0      0       0
Paul Bergant 149,908 0 149,908      0 913,611
Craig Harper  98,819 0  98,819 13,804 416,272

(1)  Amounts of executive contributions are included as part of the NEOs salary in the Summary Compensation Table detailed above.
(2)  We have a non-qualifi ed deferred compensation plan that allows eligible employees to defer a portion of their compensation. Participants can elect to defer 

up to a maximum of 50% of their base salary as well as up to 85% of their bonus for the year. The compensation deferred under this plan is credited 
with earnings or losses of investments elected by plan participants. Each participant is fully vested in all deferred compensation and earnings; however, 
these amounts are subject to general creditor claims until actually distributed to the employee. A participant may elect to receive deferred amounts in 
one payment or, if the balance is greater than $25,000, in quarterly installments payable over a period of 3, 5, 10 or 15 years upon reaching the age of 
55, having 15 years of service, or being disabled. Our total liability under this plan was $8.6 million as of December 31, 2006, and $6.7 million as of 
December 31, 2005. These amounts are included in other long-term liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Participant withholdings are held by a 
trustee and invested in equity securities as directed by participants. These investments are included in other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets and 
totaled $8.6 million as of December 31, 2006, and $6.7 million as of December 31, 2005.

Potential Post-Employment Benefi ts
 The Company does not have employment contracts or personal severance agreements with any of its executives.  However, according to the 
terms of the previously mentioned MIP, all outstanding options and restricted share units would immediately vest upon a “change in control.”

 Generally, a “change in control” per the MIP would be deemed to occur when more than 30% of the outstanding shares of common stock 
of the Company changes ownership in a transaction that is a merger, reorganization or consolidation or when more than 50% of the outstanding 
shares change ownership in a transaction that is not a merger, reorganization or consolidation.

 Potential benefi ts of the NEOs due to a “change in control” are shown below.  The amounts represent the immediate vesting of all outstanding 
options and restricted share units and are valued using the closing market price of $20.77 on December 31, 2006.
 Kirk Thompson $7,304,530
 Jerry Walton $1,522,620
 Wayne Garrison $3,378,200
 Paul Bergant $1,478,360
 Craig Harper $4,045,540

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee
 The Audit Committee is composed of Dr. John A. White, Chairman, James L. Robo and Leland Tollett. Messrs. White, Robo and Tollett 
served as members of the Audit Committee during calendar year 2006. The Company’s Board of Directors has determined that all members of the 
Audit Committee satisfy the independence and other requirements for audit committee membership and has also made the determination that 
Messrs. White, Robo and Tollett each have the attributes of an audit committee fi nancial expert as defi ned by the regulations of the SEC.

 The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board. A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is available on 
the “Corporate Governance” page of the Company’s website at “Who We Are”/“Investor Relations” at www.jbhunt.com. In carrying out its 
responsibilities, the Audit Committee, among other things:
 •  monitors the integrity of the fi nancial reporting process, systems of internal controls, and fi nancial statements and reports of the Company;
 •  appoints, compensates, retains and oversees the Company’s independent auditors, including reviewing the qualifi cations, performance and 

independence of the independent auditors;
 •  reviews and pre-approves all audit, attest and review services and permitted non-audit services;
 •  oversees the performance of the Company’s internal audit function; and
 •  oversees the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

 In 2006, the Audit Committee met eight times. The Audit Committee schedules its meetings with a view to ensure that it devotes appropriate 
attention to all of its responsibilities and duties. The Audit Committee’s meetings include, whenever appropriate, executive sessions with the 
Company’s independent auditors and the Company’s internal auditors, in each case outside the presence of the Company’s management.

 In performing its oversight role, the Audit Committee reviewed the audited consolidated fi nancial statements for the 2006 calendar year and 
met and held discussions with management, the Company’s internal auditors and E&Y, the Company’s independent registered auditors, to discuss 
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those fi nancial statements and the audit related thereto. Management has represented to the Audit Committee that the Company’s consolidated 
fi nancial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

 The Audit Committee discussed with the independent auditors matters required to be discussed by the Statement on Auditing Standards 
No. 61, as may be modifi ed, supplemented or amended, which includes, among other items, matters related to the conduct of the audit of the 
Company’s consolidated fi nancial statements. The independent auditors also provided the Audit Committee with written disclosures and the 
letter required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, as may be modifi ed, supplemented or amended, which relates to the auditors’ 
independence from the Company and its related entities, and the Audit Committee discussed with the independent auditors their independence.

 Based on the Audit Committee’s discussions with management, the internal auditors and the independent auditors as described above, 
and upon its review of the representation of management and the independent auditors and the reports of the independent auditors, the Audit 
Committee recommended to the Board that the Company’s audited consolidated fi nancial statements be included in the Company’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the calendar year ended December 31, 2006, as fi led with the SEC.

J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.
2006 Audit Committee Members

John A. White, Chairman
James L. Robo
Leland Tollett

PROPOSAL NUMBER TWO 
RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 On March 29, 2005, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors concluded its proposal process for a new independent registered public 
accounting fi rm. The Audit Committee appointed Ernst & Young LLP (“E&Y”) as the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm. The 
Audit Committee appointed E&Y as the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm for the calendar year ended December 31, 2005, 
thereby dismissing KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) effective immediately. The Company fi led a Form 8-K dated March 29, 2005, with the SEC announcing 
this change. As required, a letter to the SEC from KPMG indicating KPMG’s agreement with certain statements made by the Company was also fi led 
with this Form 8-K. These documents are available at www.sec.gov.

 The Audit Committee has selected E&Y as the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm to examine the consolidated fi nancial 
statements of the Company for the 2007 calendar year. The Board seeks an indication from our stockholders of their approval or disapproval of the 
Audit Committee’s selection of E&Y as the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm for the 2007 calendar year.

 E&Y has been our independent auditor since 2005. No relationships existed other than the usual relationships between auditor and client. 
Representatives of E&Y are expected to be present at the annual meeting to respond to appropriate questions and will have the opportunity to 
make a statement if the representatives desire to do so. If our stockholders do not ratify the appointment of E&Y at the annual meeting, the Audit 
Committee will consider such event in its selection of the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm for the 2008 calendar year. 
Additionally, even if the appointment is ratifi ed, the Audit Committee, in its discretion, may direct the appointment of a different independent 
registered public accounting fi rm at any time during the 2007 calendar year if it determines that such a change would be in the best interests of the 
Company and its stockholders.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS 
THAT THE STOCKHOLDERS VOTE

FOR
THE RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP

AS THE COMPANY’S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
FOR THE 2007 CALENDAR YEAR
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AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES
 The Audit Committee or its Chairman pre-approves the audit and non-audit services to be rendered to the Company, as well as the fees associated 
with such services. Generally, management will submit to the Audit Committee a detailed list of services that it recommends the Audit Committee 
engage the independent auditors to provide for the calendar year. The Audit Committee pre-approves certain audit and non-audit services and 
establishes a dollar limit on the amount of fees the Company will pay for each category of services. The Audit Committee is informed from time to 
time on the non-audit services actually provided pursuant to the pre-approval process. During the year, the Audit Committee periodically reviews the 
types of services and dollar amounts approved and adjusts such amounts, as it deems appropriate. Unless a service to be provided by the independent 
auditors has received general pre-approval, it will require specifi c pre-approval by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee also periodically 
reviews all non-audit services to ensure such services do not impair the independence of the Company’s independent registered public accounting 
fi rm. The Audit Committee approved all services provided by E&Y for the 2005 and 2006 calendar years. These services included the audit of the 
Company’s annual fi nancial statements, audit of the Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting, review of the Company’s quarterly fi nancial 
statements, tax consultation services, and consents for and review of registration statements fi led with the SEC. See “Report of Audit Committee” 
set forth earlier for a discussion of auditor independence.

 The following table shows the fees billed by E&Y for audit and other services provided to the Company for the 2006 and 2005 calendar 
years respectively:

  2006 ($) 2005 ($)
 Audit fees (1) 1,037,500 1,000,700
 Audit-related fees – –
 Tax fees (2) –    26,320
 All other fees – –

(1)  Audit fees consisted of the audit of the Company’s annual fi nancial statements, including the audit of management’s assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over fi nancial reporting and the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting, the review of the Company’s quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q, and consents for and review of registration statements fi led with the SEC.

(2) Tax fees consisted principally of assistance with tax compliance and reporting.

 The Audit Committee has considered whether the non-audit services provided by E&Y, including the services rendered in connection 
with income tax consultation, were compatible with maintaining E&Y’s independence and has determined that the nature and substance of the 
limited non-audit services did not impair the status of E&Y as the Company’s independent registered public accounting fi rm. E&Y did not bill the 
Company for any other services during calendar year 2005 or 2006.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditor
 The Audit Committee has the responsibility of appointing, setting compensation for and overseeing the work of the independent auditor and 
has established a policy to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent auditor.

 Prior to engagement of the independent auditor for next year’s audit, management will submit an aggregate of services expected to be rendered 
during that year for each of four categories of services to the Audit Committee for approval.

 (1)  Audit services include audit work performed in the preparation of fi nancial statements, as well as work that generally only the independent 
auditor can reasonably be expected to provide, including comfort letters, statutory audits, attestation services and consultation regarding 
fi nancial accounting and or reporting standards.

 (2)  Audit-related services are for assurance and related services that are traditionally performed by the independent auditor, including due 
diligence related to mergers and acquisitions, employee benefi t plan audits, and special procedures required to meet certain regulatory 
requirements.

 (3)  Tax services include all services performed by the independent auditor’s tax personnel except those services specifi cally related to the 
audit of the fi nancial statements, and includes fees in the areas of tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice.

 (4)  Other fees are those associated with services not captured in the other categories. The Company generally doesn’t request such services 
from the independent auditor.
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 Prior to the engagement, the Audit Committee pre-approves these services by category of service. The fees are budgeted and the Audit Committee 
requires the independent auditor and management to report actual fees versus the budget periodically throughout the year by category of service. 
During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage the independent auditor for additional services not contemplated in 
the original pre-approval. In those instances, the Audit Committee requires specifi c pre-approval before engaging the independent auditor.

 The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members. The members to whom such authority is delegated 
must report, for informational purposes only, the pre-approval decisions to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

STOCKHOLDERS WHO DO NOT EXPECT TO ATTEND THE MEETING 
ARE URGED TO VOTE BY TELEPHONE, MAIL OR INTERNET.

IF YOU VOTE BY TELEPHONE OR THE INTERNET,
DO NOT RETURN YOUR PROXY CARD

 By Order of the Board of Directors
 JOHNELLE HUNT
 Corporate Secretary
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF

THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

  For the year ended Commission fi le number
 December 31, 2006 0-11757

J.B. HUNT TRANSPORT SERVICES, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specifi ed in its charter)

  Arkansas 71-0335111
 (State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. employer 
 incorporation or organization) identifi cation no.)

 615 J.B. Hunt Corporate Drive 72745-0130
 Lowell, Arkansas (ZIP code)
 (Address of principal executive offi ces)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (479) 820-0000

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Common Stock, $.01 Par Value

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defi ned in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes __X__  No _____

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is not required to fi le reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes _____  No __X__

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has fi led all reports required to be fi led by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to fi le such reports), and (2) has been subject to 
such fi ling requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes __X__  No _____

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent fi lers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, 
to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in defi nitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or 
any amendment to this Form 10-K.  [  ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated fi ler, an accelerated fi ler, or a non-accelerated fi ler. See defi nition of “accelerated 
fi ler and large accelerated fi ler” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated fi ler __X__     Accelerated fi ler _____     Non-accelerated fi ler _____

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defi ned in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
Yes _____ No __X__

The aggregate market value of 102,751,752 shares of the registrant’s $.01 par value common stock held by non-affi liates as of June 30, 2006, was 
$2.6 billion (based upon $24.91 per share).

As of February 23, 2007, the number of outstanding shares of the registrant’s common stock was 142,889,538.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain portions of the Notice and Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders, to be held May 2, 2007, are incorporated by 
reference in Part III of this Form 10-K.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

 This report, including documents which are incorporated by reference, and other documents which we fi le periodically with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC), contains statements that may be considered to be “forward-looking statements.” Such statements relate to our 
predictions concerning future events or operations and are within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain, subject to risks, and should 
be viewed with caution. These statements are based on our belief or interpretation of information currently available. Stockholders and prospective 
investors are cautioned that actual results and future events may differ materially from the forward-looking statements as a result of many factors. 
Some of the factors and events that are not within our control and that could have a material impact on future operating results include: general 
economic and business conditions, competition and competitive rate fl uctuations, cost and availability of diesel fuel, ability to attract and retain 
qualifi ed drivers, a loss of one or more major customers, interference with or termination of our relationships with certain railroads, insurance costs 
and availability, claims expense, retention of key employees, terrorist attacks or actions, acts of war, adverse weather conditions, new or different 
environmental or other laws and regulations, increased costs for new revenue equipment or decreases in the value of used equipment and the ability 
of revenue equipment manufacturers to perform in accordance with agreements for guaranteed equipment trade-in values. Current and future 
changes in fuel prices could result in signifi cant fl uctuations of quarterly earnings.

 You should understand that many important factors, in addition to those listed above, could impact us fi nancially. Our operating results may 
fl uctuate as a result of these and other risk factors or events as described in our fi lings with the SEC. Some important factors that could cause our 
actual results to differ from estimates or projections contained in the forward-looking statements are described under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A. 
We assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to the extent we become aware that it will not be achieved for any reason.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

OVERVIEW
 We are one of the largest surface transportation companies in North America. J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. is a publicly held holding 
company that, together with our wholly owned subsidiaries and associated companies, provides a wide range of transportation services to a diverse 
group of customers throughout the continental United States, Canada and Mexico. Unless otherwise indicated by the context, “we,” “us,” “our” 
and “JBHT” refer to J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. We were incorporated in Arkansas on August 10, 1961, and 
have been a publicly held company since our initial public offering in 1983. Our service offerings include transportation of full-load freight, which 
we directly transport in multi-modal arrangements utilizing our company-owned revenue equipment and company drivers, independent contractors, 
or third parties. This full-load freight may be transported entirely by truck over roads and highways, or may be moved, in part, by rail. We have 
arrangements with most of the major North American rail carriers to transport freight in containers and trailers. We also provide customized freight 
movement, revenue equipment, labor and systems services that are tailored to meet individual customers’ requirements and typically involve long-
term contracts. These arrangements are generally referred to as dedicated services and may include multiple pickups and drops, local and home 
deliveries, freight handling, specialized equipment and network design. We also provide integrated capacity and comprehensive transportation 
services and solutions by utilizing a network of thousands of reliable third-party carriers. While these unrelated outside carriers at times supplement 
our dry van, full-load operations, they also provide fl atbed, refrigerated, less-than-truckload and other specialized equipment, drivers and services. 
In addition, we have a 37% ownership interest in a global transportation logistics company, Transplace, Inc. (TPI). TPI is co-owned by fi ve large 
transportation companies and provides supplemental sales, management and freight-movement services through arrangements with a large number 
of common carriers.

 Our business operations are primarily organized through three distinct, but complementary, business segments. These segments include 
intermodal (JBI), dedicated contract services (DCS), and full-load dry-van (JBT). Our business is somewhat seasonal with slightly higher freight 
volumes typically experienced during the months of August through early November. Our DCS segment is subject to less seasonal variation than 
our JBI and JBT segments. For the calendar year ended December 31, 2006, our consolidated revenue totaled $3.3 billion, after the elimination of 
inter-segment business. Of the total, $1.4 billion, or 42%, was generated by our JBI business segment. Our JBT segment generated $1.0 billion, or 
30%, of total revenue and DCS represented $915 million, or 28%.

 Additional general information about us is available from our Internet website at www.jbhunt.com. We make a number of reports and other 
information available free of charge on our website, including our annual report on Form 10-K, our proxy statement and our earnings releases. Our 
website also contains corporate governance guidelines, our code of ethics, our whistleblower policy, committee charters for our Board of Directors 
and other corporate policies.

OUR MISSION AND STRATEGY
 We forge long-term partnerships with key customers that include supply-chain management as an integral part of their strategy. Working in 
concert, we drive out cost, add value and function as an extension of our customers’ enterprise. We believe that our operating strategy can add value 
to customers and increase our profi ts and returns to stockholders.
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RECENT FOCUS
 During the past several years, we have taken signifi cant steps to re-establish a primary focus on the profi tability of our three business segments. 
In each segment we have implemented capacity management decisionmaking processes that result in the deployment of our assets where we believe 
they will generate more profi t. We continually focus on replacing less-profi table freight with higher-margin freight and lanes. Selective pricing 
actions and ensuring that we properly charge for all services provided have also been areas of major focus.

 In addition, a continuing shortage of qualifi ed drivers and fundamental changes in shipper supply-chain transportation logistics have resulted 
in the conversion of freight from traditional random truckload to intermodal and dedicated operations. We continue to ingrain safety into our 
corporate culture and conduct all of our operations as safely as possible.

OPERATING SEGMENTS
 Segment information is included in Note 13 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

JBI Segment
 The transportation service offerings of our JBI segment utilize arrangements with most major North American rail carriers to provide 
intermodal freight solutions for our customers throughout the continental United States, Canada and Mexico. Our JBI segment began operations 
in 1989 with a unique partnership with the former Santa Fe Railway (now the BNSF Railway Company), a watershed event in the industry and the 
fi rst agreement that linked major rail and truckload carriers in a joint marketing environment. Essentially, JBI draws on the intermodal (also known 
as “container on fl atcar”) services of rail carriers for the underlying linehaul movement of its equipment and performs the pickups and deliveries 
(“drayage”) for customers at the origin and destination rail terminal locations. We may directly provide the drayage service at either the origin or 
destination rail ramp utilizing our company-owned tractors, or we may purchase these services from third parties. JBI provides seamless coordination 
of the rail and over-the-road transport movements for our customers and delivers a single billing for the complete door-to-door service.

 Our intermodal program has grown from 20 loads in late 1989 to nearly 630,000 in 2006. JBI operates 27,622 company-controlled containers 
systemwide. The entire fl eet comprises 53-foot, high-cube containers and is designed to take advantage of intermodal double-stack economics and 
superior ride quality. JBI also manages a fl eet of 1,551 company-owned tractors and 1,946 company drivers in support of intermodal operations. We 
also began utilizing independent contractors (ICs) in our intermodal segment during 2005. We had 23 ICs operating in our JBI business segment 
at December 31, 2006. At December 31, 2006, the total JBI employee count was 2,189, including the 1,946 drivers. Revenue for the JBI segment 
in calendar year 2006 was $1.43 billion, compared with $1.28 billion in 2005. As previously announced, an arbitration process with the BNSF 
Railway Company (BNI) was concluded during the third quarter of 2005. In accordance with the settlement terms, we paid BNI $25.8 million 
in the third quarter of 2005. In addition, this settlement also resulted in higher rail purchase transportation expenses effective October 1, 2005. 
Normal commercial business activity continued with BNI during the approximate 15-month arbitration process, and normal business operations 
have continued since the fi nal settlement.

DCS Segment
 Since 1992, we have offered dedicated contract carriage as a service option. DCS segment operations specialize in the design, development 
and execution of customer-specifi c fl eet solutions. Capitalizing on advanced systems and technologies, DCS offers transportation engineering 
solutions that support private fl eet conversion, dedicated fl eet creation and transportation system augmentation. DCS operations typically provide 
customized services that are governed by long-term contracts and currently include dry-van, fl atbed, temperature-controlled, dump trailers and local 
inner-city operations.

 DCS operations focus on delivering recognizable customer value through best-in-class service, cost control and guaranteed dedicated 
capacity. DCS utilizes a proprietary methodology known as Customer Value Delivery® (CVD) to create, measure and communicate value 
generated for each customer. DCS leverages the JBHT freight network to reposition equipment near outbound domiciles, thereby reducing 
ineffi cient empty miles and system cost. DCS also frequently fi nds synergy in shared resources with the JBT and JBI segments, including terminals, 
drivers, maintenance shops, bulk fuel locations and trailer pools providing further economies of scale. DCS revenue for calendar year 2006 was 
$915 million, compared with $844 million in 2005. In early 2004, we began utilizing ICs in the DCS segment and at December 31, 2006, we had 
122 ICs operating in the DCS segment. At December 31, 2006, the DCS segment operated 5,177 company-controlled and 59 customer-owned 
tractors and employed 6,242 people, 5,496 of whom were drivers.

JBT Segment
 Our primary transportation service offerings classifi ed in this segment include full-load, dry-van freight, which is predominantly transported 
utilizing company-controlled tractors operating over roads and highways. We pick up our freight at the dock or specifi ed location of the shipper 
and transport the load directly to the location of the consignee. Most of our loads are transported entirely by our company-owned tractors and 
employee drivers, or by independent contractors who agree to transport freight in our trailers. We also assign freight to be handled by third-party 
motor carriers other than ICs. This type of freight movement typically results in our billing the customer for all applicable freight charges and, in 
turn, paying the third party for their portion of the transportation services provided. This type of service usually results in our recognition of revenue 
for the entire billing and the payment to the third-party being classifi ed as purchased transportation expense.

 We operate under the approval of certain Canadian authorities, allowing us to transport freight to and from all points in the continental 
United States to Quebec, British Columbia and Ontario. We have authorization to operate directly in substantially all the Canadian provinces, 
but to date we have served limited points in Canada, primarily through interchange operations with Canadian motor carriers. In late 2000, we 
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began utilizing ICs in the JBT segment and at December 31, 2006, we had 962 ICs operating in the JBT segment, some of whom were leasing 
company-controlled tractors. JBT revenue for calendar year 2006 was $1.01 billion, compared with $1.02 billion in 2005. At December 31, 2006, 
the JBT segment operated 4,232 company-owned tractors and employed 5,916 people, 4,981 of whom were drivers. A portion of our JBT segment 
non-driver employees provide freight solicitation, order entry and other operational support services to our other two segments. We record inter-
segment credits and charges to properly refl ect these inter-segment support services.

LOGISTICS BUSINESS AND ASSOCIATED COMPANY
 Effective July 1, 2000, we contributed an existing logistics segment business to a newly formed company, Transplace, Inc. (TPI). TPI provides 
supplemental logistics sales and management support and also has arrangements with approximately 2,700 motor carriers to provide capacity to 
transport freight. Our share of TPI’s fi nancial results is included on a one-line, non-operating item included on our Consolidated Statements of 
Earnings entitled “equity in loss of associated company.”

OPERATIONS IN MEXICO
 We have provided transportation services to and from Mexico since 1989. These services typically involve equipment interchange operations 
with various Mexican motor carriers. As previously reported, we sold a joint venture interest with a Mexican transportation company in 2002. We 
received all remaining funds due in connection with this sale during 2005. This transaction did not signifi cantly impact our earnings. We continue 
to provide transportation services to and from Mexico primarily by utilizing the services of a variety of Mexican carriers.

MARKETING AND OPERATIONS
 We transport, or arrange for the transportation of, a wide range of freight, including forest and paper products, building materials, general 
merchandise, food and beverages, chemicals and automotive parts. Our customer base is extremely diverse and includes a large number of Fortune 500 
companies. Our ability to offer multiple services, utilizing our three business segments and a full complement of logistics services through third 
parties, represents a competitive advantage. We provide a broad range of transportation services to larger shippers that seek to use a limited number 
of “core” carriers. Our largest customer in 2006 was Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., which accounted for approximately 14% of our total revenue.

 We generally market all of our service offerings through a nationwide sales and marketing network. We do have some sales and marketing 
functions managed at the business-unit level, particularly for our DCS segment. In accordance with our typical arrangements, we bill the customer 
for all services and we, in turn, pay all third parties for their portion of transportation services provided. In recent years, we have re-established a 
primary focus on improving the profi tability of each of our business segments and charging a fair price for all services provided.

PEOPLE
 We believe that one of the factors differentiating us from our competitors is our service-oriented people. As of December 31, 2006, we had 
approximately 17,150 employees, including 12,423 company drivers, 1,175 mechanics and 3,548 offi ce personnel. We also had arrangements 
with 1,107 ICs to transport freight in our trailing equipment. None of our employees is represented by unions or covered by collective 
bargaining agreements.

 Our industry has periodically had a diffi cult time attracting and retaining enough qualifi ed truck drivers. It is also common for the driver 
turnover rate of individual carriers to exceed 100%. It has been our practice during the past few years to compensate our drivers at an above-
average level in order to attract a higher caliber of experience and minimize turnover. During 2006 and 2005, we increased company driver 
and IC compensation in order to attract and retain an adequate supply of qualifi ed drivers. While we have not, to date, experienced signifi cant 
operational disruptions due to driver shortages, we expect the costs to recruit, train and retain company drivers and ICs will continue to rise in 
the foreseeable future.

REVENUE EQUIPMENT
 As of December 31, 2006, we operated 10,961 company-owned tractors. In addition, our 1,107 ICs operate their own tractors, but transport 
freight in our trailing equipment. We operate with standardized tractors in as many fl eets as possible, particularly in our JBI and JBT fl eets. Based 
on our customers’ preferences and the actual business application, our DCS fl eet is more diversifi ed. We believe operating with relatively newer 
revenue equipment provides better customer service, attracts quality drivers and lowers maintenance expense. At December 31, 2006, the average 
age of our combined tractor fl eet was 2.2 years, our trailers averaged 5.7 years of age and our containers averaged 6.5 years. We perform routine 
servicing and preventive maintenance of our equipment at most of our regional terminal facilities.

 Our JBI segment utilizes high-cube containers, which can be separated from the chassis and double-stacked on rail cars. We are currently in the 
process of expanding our container fl eet and reconditioning our chassis fl eet. The composition of our DCS trailing fl eet varies with specifi c customer 
requirements and may include dry-vans, fl atbeds, temperature-controlled, curtain-side vans, straight trucks and dump trailers. We typically operate 
newer revenue equipment in our JBT segment to minimize downtime and maximize utilization.

 Effective with model-year 2007 tractors, the EPA has mandated lower emission standards for newly manufactured heavy-duty tractor engines. 
We are planning our new equipment purchases to accommodate these new standards but allow adequate testing of the new engines. The 2007 EPA-
compliant engines will be equipped with a particulate trap and will require more costly ultra-low-sulfur diesel (ULSD) fuel. The EPA estimates that 
ULSD fuel will cost approximately $.04 to $.05 more per gallon. In 2006, we began testing the 2007 model-year engines in a group of our tractors. 
We are unable at this time to determine the increase in acquisition and operating costs of these new 2007 EPA-compliant engines.
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COMPETITION AND THE INDUSTRY
 The market in which we compete is frequently referred to as highly fragmented and includes thousands of carriers, many of which are very 
small. While we compete with a number of smaller carriers on a regional basis, only a limited number of companies represent competition in 
all markets across the country. We compete with other freight transportation carriers primarily in terms of on-time pickup and delivery service, 
availability of drivers, and revenue equipment and price.

REGULATION
 Our operations as a for-hire motor carrier are subject to regulation by the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) and the Federal Motor 
Carrier Safety Administration, and certain business is also subject to state rules and regulations. The DOT periodically conducts reviews and audits 
to ensure our compliance with all federal safety requirements, and we report certain accident and other information to the DOT. Our operations 
into and out of Canada and Mexico are also subject to regulation by those countries.

 Effective October 1, 2005, driver hours-of-service regulations (HOS) were revised. The majority of these rule changes had initially been 
effective January 4, 2004. These collective changes were the most signifi cant changes to driver HOS in more than 40 years. In general, the new 
rules require a driver to take at least eight consecutive hours in the sleeper berth during a ten-hour off-duty period. These new rules primarily affect 
short-haul and multiple-stop freight operations and had a minor negative impact on our overall operations and fi nancial results.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
 In addition to the forward-looking statements outlined previously in this Form 10-K and other comments regarding risks and uncertainties, 
the following risk factors should be carefully considered when evaluating our business. Our business, fi nancial condition or fi nancial results could be 
materially and adversely affected by any of these risks. Also note that additional risks not currently identifi ed or known to us could also negatively 
impact our business or fi nancial results.

Our business is subject to general economic and business factors that are largely out of our control, any of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations.
 Our business is dependent upon a number of factors that may have a material adverse effect on the results of our operations, many of which are 
beyond our control. These factors include signifi cant increases or rapid fl uctuations in fuel prices, excess capacity in the trucking industry, interest rates, 
fuel taxes, license and registration fees, insurance premiums, self-insurance levels, interference with or termination of our relationships with certain 
railroads, terrorist attacks or actions, acts of war, adverse weather conditions, increased costs for new revenue equipment or decreases in the value of 
used equipment, surpluses in the market for used equipment, and diffi culty in attracting and retaining qualifi ed drivers and independent contractors.

 We are also affected by recessionary economic cycles and downturns in customers’ business cycles, particularly in market segments and 
industries such as retail and manufacturing, where we have a signifi cant concentration of customers. Economic conditions represent a greater 
potential for loss, and we may be required to increase our reserve for bad-debt losses. In addition, our results of operations may be affected by seasonal 
factors. Customers tend to reduce shipments after the winter holiday season, and our operating expenses tend to be higher in the winter months 
primarily due to colder weather, which causes higher fuel consumption from increased idle time and higher maintenance costs.

We operate in a competitive and somewhat fragmented industry. Numerous factors could impair our ability to maintain our current 
profi tability and to compete with other carriers and private fl eets.
 Some of these factors include:
 •  We compete with many other transportation carriers of varying sizes and, to a lesser extent, with less-than-truckload carriers and railroads, 

some of which have more equipment and greater capital resources than we do.
 •  Some of our competitors periodically reduce their freight rates to gain business, especially during times of reduced growth rates in the 

economy, which may limit our ability to maintain or increase freight rates or maintain our profi t margins.
 •  Many customers reduce the number of carriers they use by selecting so-called “core carriers” as approved transportation service providers, 

and in some instances we may not be selected.
 •  Many customers periodically accept bids from multiple carriers for their shipping needs, and this process may depress freight rates or result 

in the loss of some business to competitors.
 •  Certain of our customers that operate private fl eets to transport their own freight could decide to expand their operations.
 •  The trend toward consolidation in the trucking industry may create other large carriers with greater fi nancial resources and other competitive 

advantages relating to their size.
 •  Advances in technology require increased investments to remain competitive, and our customers may not be willing to accept higher 

freight rates to cover the cost of these investments.

We derive a signifi cant portion of our revenue from a few major customers, the loss of one or more of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business.
 For the calendar year ended December 31, 2006, our top 10 customers, based on revenue, accounted for approximately 40% of our revenue. 
Our largest customer is Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., which accounted for approximately 14% of our total revenue in 2006. Our JBT and JBI segments 
typically do not have long-term contracts with their customers. While our DCS segment business may involve a written contract, those contracts 
may contain cancellation clauses, and there is no assurance that our current customers will continue to utilize our services or that they will continue 
at the same levels. A reduction in or termination of our services by one or more of our major customers could have a material adverse effect on our 
business and operating results.
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We depend on third parties in the operation of our business.
 Our JBI business segment utilizes railroads in the performance of its transportation services. These services are provided pursuant to contractual 
relationships with the railroads. While we have agreements with various Class I railroads, the majority of our business travels on the Burlington 
Northern Santa Fe and the Norfolk Southern Railroad. The inability to utilize one or more of these railroads could have a material adverse effect on 
our business and operating results. We also utilize the services of a number of third-party dray carriers to perform a signifi cant number of our origin 
and destination pickups and deliveries. In addition, a portion of the freight we deliver is imported to the United States through ports of call that are 
subject to labor union contracts.

Diffi culty in attracting and retaining drivers could affect our profi tability and ability to grow.
 Periodically, the trucking industry experiences substantial diffi culty in attracting and retaining qualifi ed drivers, including ICs. A shortage 
of qualifi ed company drivers and ICs has proven to be particularly severe during the past few years. In spite of continued increases in driver 
compensation and recruiting costs, the industry is currently experiencing a shortage of drivers. If we are unable to continue attracting an adequate 
number of drivers or contract with enough independent contractors, we could be required to signifi cantly increase our driver compensation package 
or let trucks sit idle, which could adversely affect our growth and profi tability.

Ongoing insurance and claims expenses could signifi cantly reduce our earnings.
 Our future insurance and claims expenses might exceed historical levels, which could reduce our earnings. During 2005, we self-insured a 
portion of our claims exposure resulting from cargo loss, personal injury, property damage and health claims for amounts up to the fi rst $2 million 
for auto accidents and $1 million for workers’ compensation. During 2006, the self-insured portion of our claims exposure for all claims was reduced 
to $500,000. If the number or severity of claims for which we are self-insured increases, our operating results could be adversely affected. The self-
insured portion of our claims will also be $500,000 during 2007. We purchase insurance coverage for the amounts above which we are self-insured. 
Insurance carriers have recently raised premiums for most trucking companies. As a result, our insurance and claims expenses could increase when 
our current coverage expires. If these expenses increase, and we are unable to offset the increase with higher freight rates, our earnings could be 
materially and adversely affected.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has proposed to disallow the tax benefi ts associated with certain sale-and-leaseback transactions.
 As previously disclosed, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has proposed to disallow the tax benefi ts associated with certain sale-and-
leaseback transactions, which we entered into in 1999. Based on events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2004, we established a reserve for a 
contingent tax liability of $33.6 million at December 31, 2004. The liability for this contingency, which includes estimated interest, is included on 
our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2006, as a long-term liability. We have accrued approximately $3.0 million of interest expense 
during 2006 related to this contingency. We continue to believe our tax positions comply with applicable tax law for which we received advice and 
opinions from our then external public accountants and attorneys prior to entering into these transactions, and we continue to vigorously defend 
against the IRS position using all administrative and legal processes available. If the IRS were successful in disallowing 100% of the tax benefi t from 
this transaction, the total ultimate impact on liquidity could be approximately $44 million, excluding interest.

Our operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations, the violation of which could result in substantial fi nes 
or penalties.
 We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations dealing with the handling of hazardous materials, underground fuel storage 
tanks, and discharge and retention of storm water. We operate in industrial areas, where truck terminals and other industrial activities are located, 
and where groundwater or other forms of environmental contamination have occurred. Our operations involve the risks of fuel spillage or seepage, 
environmental damage and hazardous wastes disposal, among others. We also maintain bulk fuel storage and fuel islands at several of our facilities. 
If we are involved in a spill or other accident involving hazardous substances, or if we are found to be in violation of applicable laws or regulations, 
it could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results. If we should fail to comply with applicable environmental regulations, 
we could be subject to substantial fi nes or penalties and to civil and criminal liability.

We operate in a regulated industry, and increased direct and indirect costs of compliance with, or liability for violation of, existing or 
future regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business.
 The DOT and various state agencies exercise broad powers over our business, generally governing matters including authorization to engage 
in motor carrier service, equipment operation, safety and fi nancial reporting. We are audited periodically by the DOT to ensure that we are in 
compliance with various safety, hours-of-service, and other rules and regulations. If we were found to be out of compliance, the DOT could restrict 
or otherwise impact our operations.

 Effective October 1, 2005, driver HOS regulations were revised. The majority of these rule changes had initially been effective January 4, 2004. 
These collective changes were the most signifi cant changes to driver HOS in more than 40 years. In general, the new rules require a driver to take at 
least eight consecutive hours in the sleeper berth during a 10-hour off-duty period. These new rules primarily affect short-haul and multiple-stop freight 
operations and had a minor negative impact on our overall operations and fi nancial results.

 Effective with model-year 2007 tractors, the EPA has mandated lower emission standards for newly manufactured heavy-duty tractor engines. 
We are planning our new equipment purchases to accommodate these new standards but also to allow adequate time for testing of the new engines. 
In 2006, we began testing the 2007 model-year engines in a group of our tractors. We are unable to predict the impact these new standards will have 
on our future operations and business results.
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Rapid changes in fuel costs could impact our periodic fi nancial results.
 Fuel and fuel taxes currently represent our third-largest general expense category. During the past several years, fuel cost per gallon has varied 
signifi cantly, with prices at times changing as much as $0.20 to $0.25 per gallon between consecutive months. We have a fuel surcharge revenue 
program in place with the majority of our customers, which has historically enabled us to recover the majority of higher fuel costs. Most of these 
programs automatically adjust weekly depending on the cost of fuel. However, there can be timing differences between a change in our fuel cost and 
the timing of the fuel surcharges billed to our customers. In addition, we incur additional costs when fuel prices rise that cannot be fully recovered 
due to our engines being idled during cold or warm weather and empty or out-of-route miles that cannot be billed to customers. Rapid increases 
in fuel costs or shortages of fuel could have a material adverse effect on our operations or future profi tability. As of December 31, 2006, we had no 
derivative fi nancial instruments to reduce our exposure to fuel price fl uctuations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
 None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
 Our corporate headquarters are in Lowell, Arkansas. We occupy a number of buildings in Lowell that we utilize for administrative support, 
data center, primary customer service and freight dispatch. We maintain a backup data center for disaster recovery, maintenance shop and driver 
operations facility in Lowell. In December 2005, we took occupancy of a new, approximately 110,000-square-foot offi ce building that was constructed 
adjacent to our existing 150,000-square-foot building. This new building allowed us to reduce the number of occupied buildings in Lowell and 
consolidate most of our corporate support and centralized operations functions. We also own or lease other signifi cant facilities where we perform 
maintenance on our equipment, provide bulk fuel and employ personnel to support operations. Each of our three business segments utilizes our 
larger facilities for services including bulk fueling, maintenance and driver support activities. In addition to our principal properties listed below, we 
lease a number of small offi ces and parking yards throughout the country that support our customers’ business needs.

 A summary of our principal facilities follows:
  Maintenance Shop Offi ce Space
Location Acreage (square feet) (square feet)
Atlanta, Georgia 28 29,800 10,400
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 12 28,500 4,500
Chicago, Illinois 27 50,000 14,000
Columbus, Ohio 10 28,100 8,500
Concord, North Carolina 12 22,900 240
Dallas, Texas  14 24,000 7,800
East Brunswick, New Jersey 19 20,000 3,200
Houston, Texas 21 24,700 7,200
Kansas City, Missouri 10 31,000 6,700
Louisville, Kentucky 14 40,000 10,000
Little Rock, Arkansas 24 29,200 7,200
Lowell, Arkansas (corporate headquarters) 59 – 261,000
Lowell, Arkansas 42 50,200 14,000
Lowell, Arkansas (offi ce and data center) 2 – 20,000
Memphis, Tennessee 10 26,700 8,000
Phoenix, Arizona 15 15,200 5,300
Portland, Oregon 8 20,000 3,300
San Bernardino, California 9 18,300 9,300
South Gate, California 12 25,000 5,500
St. Louis, Missouri 7 18,600 1,500
Syracuse, New York 13 19,000 8,000
Tifton, Georgia 10 21,500 250
Wayne, Michigan 24 11,800 8,800

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 We are involved in certain claims and pending litigation arising from the normal conduct of business. Based on the present knowledge of the 
facts and, in certain cases, opinions of outside counsel, we believe the resolution of claims and pending litigation will not have a material adverse 
effect on our fi nancial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

 The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has proposed to disallow the tax benefi ts associated with certain sale-and-leaseback transactions. See 
“Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 There were no matters submitted to a vote of our security holders during the quarter ended December 31, 2006.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED SECURITY 
HOLDER MATTERS
 Our common stock is traded in the over-the-counter market under the symbol “JBHT.” At December 31, 2006, we were authorized to issue 
up to 1 billion shares of our common stock and 167.1 million shares were issued. The high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported by 
the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations National Market system (NASDAQ) and our quarterly dividends paid per 
share on our common shares were:

Period Dividends Paid High Low
2006
First Quarter $ 0.08 $ 25.90 $ 21.33
Second Quarter 0.08 25.85 21.33
Third Quarter 0.08 25.80 18.77
Fourth Quarter 0.08 23.22 20.11

2005
First Quarter $ 0.06 $ 25.03 $ 20.33
Second Quarter 0.06 22.41 18.18
Third Quarter 0.06 21.11 17.38
Fourth Quarter 0.06 24.00 18.24

 On February 23, 2007, the high and low sales prices for our common stock as reported by the NASDAQ were $28.13 and $27.47, respectively, 
and we had 1,354 stockholders of record.

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
 The following graph compares the fi ve-year cumulative total stockholder return for the Company with (1) the S&P 500 Composite Index, 
(2) a designated Peer Group Index, and (3) an index containing companies within the 4200-4299 SIC codes. The values on the graph show the 
cumulative total return on $100 invested at the market close on December 31, 2001, in our common stock, or the specifi ed indices, including the 
reinvestment of dividends. We have selected a designated Peer Group Index comprised of 10 specifi cally named competitors. We also used data 
from these same 10 competitors in our discussion of executive compensation in our Notice and Proxy Statement. The index containing companies 
within the 4200-4299 SIC codes is also presented because we utilized this index in prior years. The stock performance presented on the following 
graph is not necessarily indicative of future performance.
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  Period Ending December 31,
Index  2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc 100.0 126.3 232.8 387.6 395.9 368.5
S&P 500 Index 100.0 77.9 100.2 111.2 116.6 135.0
Peer Group 100.0 111.8 137.3 189.5 204.7 218.7
SIC Codes 4200-4299 100.0 119.3 154.6 217.8 211.9 205.5
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DIVIDEND POLICY
 We paid quarterly dividends during calendar year 1999 and in a number of years prior to 1999. In early 2000, we announced a decision to 
discontinue dividend payments. In April 2004, we reinitiated a quarterly cash dividend of $0.015 per share. This reinitiation was based on our lower 
debt levels and improving cash fl ows. We also paid a cash dividend of $0.015 per share in July and October 2004. In December 2004, we announced 
an increase in our quarterly cash dividend from $0.015 to $0.06. We paid a $0.06 per share dividend in February, April, July and October 2005. 
In January 2006, we announced an increase in our quarterly cash dividend from $0.06 to $0.08. We paid a $0.08 per share dividend in February, 
April, July, and October 2006. In January 2007, we announced an increase in our quarterly cash dividend from $0.08 to $0.09, effective with our 
payment in February 2007. We currently intend to continue paying cash dividends on a quarterly basis. However, no assurance can be given that 
future dividends will be paid, since such payments are dependent on earnings, cash fl ows and other factors.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
 From time to time, our Board of Directors authorizes the purchase of our common stock. On December 14, 2004, our Board authorized the 
purchase of up to $100 million worth of our common stock. We commenced purchases of our common stock in January 2005. On April 21, 2005, our 
Board authorized the purchase of an additional $500 million of our common stock over the next fi ve years. There were no purchases of treasury stock 
during the quarter ended December 31, 2006. We are authorized to spend an additional $104 million to purchase our common stock through 2010.

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

 Number of Securities Number of Securities
 To Be Issued Weighted-average Remaining Available for Future
 Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Issuance Under Equity
 Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Compensation Plans (Excluding
Plan Category (1) Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Securities Refl ected in Column (A))
 (A) (B) (C)
Equity compensation
plans approved by security holders 10,066,051 $ 7.56 (2) 3,088,484

(1)  We have no equity compensation plans that are not approved by security holders.
(2)  Upon vesting, restricted share units are settled for shares of our common stock on a one-for-one basis. Accordingly, the restricted share units have 

been excluded for purposes of computing the weighted-average exercise price.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
 
Years Ended December 31 2006  2005 2004 2003 2002
Operating revenues $ 3,328 $ 3,128 $ 2,786 $ 2,434 $ 2,248
Operating income (2)  373 344 310 186 101
Net earnings (1) (2) 220 207 146 96 52
Basic earnings per share (1) (2) 1.48 1.32 0.91 0.60 0.34
Diluted earnings per share (1) (2) 1.44 1.28 0.88 0.58 0.33
Cash dividends per share 0.32 0.24 0.045 – –
Total assets 1,770 1,549 1,503 1,356 1,323
Long-term debt, less current maturities 182 124 – – 105
Capital lease obligations – – – – 114
Stockholders’ equity 759 817 861 703 591

(1)  Refl ects a $33.6 million reserve, including accrued interest expense in 2004, and $7.7 million reversal of non-cash tax benefi t in 2003. 
See Note 6 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2)  Refl ects a $25.8 million pretax, or a $16.5 million after-tax, charge in 2005 for a BNI arbitration settlement. See Note 11 of our Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PERCENTAGE OF OPERATING REVENUE

Years Ended December 31  2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Operating revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Operating expenses:
  Rents and purchased transportation 33.8 33.8 33.5 32.8 31.1
  Salaries, wages and employee benefi ts 26.8 27.3 29.8 32.5 36.4
  Fuel and fuel taxes 13.4 12.4 10.4 9.6 9.4
  Depreciation and amortization 5.5 5.2 5.4 6.2 6.5
  Operating supplies and expenses 4.4 4.3 4.4 4.9 5.8
  Insurance and claims 2.2 1.8 2.0 2.6 2.5
  Operating taxes and licenses 1.0 1.2 1.2 1.4 1.4
  General and administrative expenses, net of gains 1.0 1.5 1.4 1.4 1.3
  Communication and utilities 0.7 0.7 0.8 1.0 1.1
  Arbitration settlement (2) – 0.8 – – –
    Total operating expenses 88.8 89.0 88.9 92.4 95.5
    Operating income 11.2 11.0 11.1 7.6 4.5
  Interest income – – 0.1 0.1 0.1
  Interest expense 0.5 0.2 0.3 0.8 1.2
  Equity in loss of associated companies  0.1 0.2 0.1 – 0.1
    Earnings before income taxes 10.6 10.6 10.8 6.9 3.3
  Income taxes (1) 4.0 4.0 5.6 3.0 1.0
    Net earnings 6.6% 6.6% 5.2% 3.9% 2.3%

(1)  Refl ects a $33.6 million reserve, including accrued interest expense in 2004, and $7.7 million reversal of non-cash tax benefi t in 2003. 
See Note 6 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2)  Refl ects a $25.8 million pretax, or a $16.5 million after-tax, charge in 2005 for a BNI arbitration settlement. See Note 11 of our Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

 The following table sets forth certain operating data.

Years Ended December 31 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Total loads 2,914,926 2,866,043 2,883,504 2,857,176 2,847,377
Average number of company-operated tractors during the year 10,721 10,316 10,042 10,293 10,712
Company tractors operated (at year-end) 10,961 10,480 10,151 9,932 10,653
Independent contractors (at year-end) 1,107 1,310 1,301 994 679
Trailers/containers (at year-end) 53,349 49,733 48,317 46,747 45,759
Company tractor miles (in thousands) 964,936 952,545 943,064 943,054 981,818

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
 The following discussion of our results of operations and fi nancial condition should be read in conjunction with our fi nancial statements and 
related notes in Item 8. This discussion contains forward-looking statements. Please see “Forward-looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” for a 
discussion of items, uncertainties, assumptions and risks associated with these statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
 The preparation of our fi nancial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make estimates 
and assumptions that impact the amounts reported in our Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Therefore, the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and associated disclosures of contingent liabilities are affected by these estimates. We evaluate 
these estimates on an ongoing basis, utilizing historical experience, consultation with third parties and other methods considered reasonable in 
the particular circumstances. Nevertheless, actual results may differ signifi cantly from our estimates. Any effects on our business, fi nancial position 
or results of operations resulting from revisions to these estimates are recognized in the accounting period in which the facts that give rise to the 
revision become known. We consider our critical accounting policies and estimates to be those that require us to make more signifi cant judgments 
and estimates when we prepare our fi nancial statements and include the following:

Workers’ Compensation and Accident Costs
 We purchase insurance coverage for a portion of expenses related to employee injuries (workers’ compensation), vehicular collisions, accidents 
and cargo claims. Most of our insurance arrangements include a level of self-insurance (deductible) coverage applicable to each claim, but provide 
an umbrella policy to limit our exposure to catastrophic claim costs that are completely insured. Our policies also include a contractual premium 
adjustment factor to be applied to incurred loss amounts at the end of 48 months from each policy period inception. This contractual adjustment 
factor is used to convert the self-insured losses to fully insured losses and relieves us of any further liability on those claims. In the fourth quarter 
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of 2006, we increased the estimated accrual of our ultimate losses by $9.2 million to refl ect the inclusion of these premium factors as part of the 
liability we recognize when the accidents occurred rather than in the fi nal year of the self-insurance period. See Note 2 of our Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

 The amounts of self-insurance change from time to time based on certain measurement dates and policy expiration dates. During 2006, we were 
self-insured for $500,000 of our claims for personal injury, property damage and workers’ compensation. For the two years ended December 31, 2005, 
we were self-insured for $2 million of our claims for personal injury and property damage and $1 million for workers’ compensation claims. For 2007, 
we maintained our $500,000 self-insured coverage limit.

 Our claims accrual policy for all self-insured claims is to recognize a liability at the time of the incident based on our analysis of the nature 
and severity of the claims and analyses provided by third-party claims administrators, as well as legal, economic and regulatory factors. Our safety 
and claims personnel work directly with representatives from the insurance companies to continually update the estimated cost of each claim. The 
ultimate cost of a claim develops over time as additional information regarding the nature, timing and extent of damages claimed becomes available. 
Accordingly, we use an actuarial method to develop current claim information to derive an estimate of our ultimate claim liability. This process 
involves the use of loss-development factors based on our historical claims experience and includes the contractual premium adjustment factor 
mentioned above. In doing so, the recorded liability considers future claims growth, conversion to fully insured status and provides an allowance for 
incurred-but-not-reported claims. We do not discount our estimated losses. At December 31, 2006, we had an accrual of approximately $20 million 
for estimated net claims. In addition, we are required to pay certain advanced deposits and monthly premiums. At December 31, 2006, we had a 
prepaid insurance asset of approximately $67 million, which represented pre-funded claims and premiums. We are also substantially self-insured for 
loss of and damage to our owned and leased revenue equipment.

Revenue Equipment
 We operate a signifi cant number of tractors, trailers and containers in connection with our business. This equipment may be purchased or 
acquired under capital or operating lease agreements. In addition, we may rent revenue equipment from third parties and various railroads under 
short-term rental arrangements. Revenue equipment which is purchased is depreciated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful life 
down to an estimated salvage or trade-in value. We periodically review the useful lives and salvage values of our revenue equipment and evaluate 
our long-lived assets for impairment. We have not identifi ed any impairments to our existing assets.

 We have an agreement with our primary tractor supplier for residual or trade-in values for certain new equipment. We have utilized these 
trade-in values as well as other operational information, such as anticipated annual miles, in accounting for depreciation expense. If our tractor 
supplier were unable to perform under the terms of our agreement for trade-in values, it could have a material negative impact on our fi nancial 
results. We had no revenue equipment under capital lease arrangements at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Revenue Recognition
 We recognize revenue based on the relative transit time of the freight transported. Accordingly, a portion of the total revenue which will be 
billed to the customer once a load is delivered is recognized in each reporting period based on the percentage of the freight pickup and delivery 
service that has been completed at the end of the reporting period.

 Our trade accounts receivable includes accounts receivable reduced by an allowance for uncollectible accounts and reserves for revenue 
adjustments. The allowance for uncollectible accounts and reserves for revenue adjustments are based on historical experience as well as any known 
trends or uncertainties related to customer billing and account collectibility. The adequacy of our allowances and reserves is reviewed quarterly.

Income Taxes
 We account for income taxes under the asset-and-liability method in accordance with current accounting standards. Our deferred tax assets 
and liabilities represent items that will result in taxable income or a tax deduction in future years for which we have already recorded the related tax 
expense or benefi t in our statement of earnings. Deferred tax accounts arise as a result of timing differences between when items are recognized in 
our Consolidated Financial Statements compared to when they are recognized in our tax returns. We assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets 
will be recovered from future taxable income. To the extent we believe recovery is not probable, a valuation allowance is established. To the extent 
we establish a valuation allowance, we include an expense as part of our income tax provision. We have not recorded a valuation allowance at 
December 31, 2006, as all deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized.

 Signifi cant judgment is required in determining and assessing the impact of complex tax laws and certain tax-related contingencies on our 
provision for income taxes. We establish accruals when, despite our belief that our tax return positions are fully supportable, it is probable that 
we have incurred a loss related to tax contingencies and the loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. We adjust the accruals related to 
tax contingencies as part of our provision for income taxes based upon changing facts and circumstances. A number of years may elapse before 
a particular matter, for which we have established an accrual, is audited and resolved. See Note 6, Income Taxes, in our Consolidated Financial 
Statements, for a discussion of our current tax contingencies.

YEAR IN REVIEW
 Our fi nancial results for calendar year 2006 represented the fi fth consecutive year of record revenues and earnings. Our 2006 net earnings of 
$220.0 million, or $1.44 per diluted share, were up 6% over the $207.3 million, or $1.28 per diluted share, earned in 2005. Fuel costs continued to 
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represent a challenge for the transportation industry during 2006. Our 2006 fuel cost per gallon averaged 13% above 2005 levels. However, due to 
our fuel surcharge programs and the support and understanding of our customers, we were able to recover the majority of our higher fuel costs.

 Freight demand during 2006 was relatively consistent for our intermodal and dedicated segments. Demand for dry-van truck capacity was 
softer, particularly during the fourth quarter of 2006. Comparisons of 2006 dry-van volumes to 2005 were negatively impacted by hurricane relief 
shipments in 2005 and lower-than-expected seasonal demand during August through November of 2006. Our intermodal and dedicated business 
units contributed to our higher level of profi tability in 2006, while our truck segment experienced an approximate 27% decline in operating income 
as compared to 2005. Partly in response to changing market conditions, we increased the size of our intermodal and dedicated tractor fl eets by 16% 
and 7%, respectively, and decreased our dry-van fl eet by 6%. We were able to effect some of these changes by merely transferring tractors among 
our fl eets.

 We also continued our focus on capacity management during 2006. Capacity management is a continuous process of reviewing our freight 
demand on a daily basis and our contractual relationships to determine which business application and segment generates the best returns. We 
also continually analyze our business to ensure we are charging a fair price for all services that we provide. In addition to our capacity management 
actions, the continuing shortage of quality drivers and changes in the shipper supply chain resulted in the conversion of freight from over-the-road 
truck operations to intermodal and dedicated.

 Our 2006 consolidated operating ratio (operating expenses divided by total operating revenues) was 88.8%, compared with 89.0% in 2005. 
The current year was the third consecutive time that we have achieved an operating ratio for a full year below 90%. Our 2006 operating income 
refl ected a $12.4 million pretax charge to increase insurance reserves, and 2005 results included a $25.8 million pretax arbitration charge. We 
reinitiated paying a quarterly cash dividend in early 2004 and have increased our dividend to $0.06 in late 2004, $0.08 in late 2005 and to $0.09 in 
January 2007. We have continued to purchase shares of our outstanding stock through 2006. During the current year we purchased $257 million of 
our common stock and at December 31, 2006, we had $104 million authorized for future purchases.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 The following table sets forth items in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings as a percentage of operating revenues and the percentage 
increase or decrease of those items as compared with the prior year.

 Percentage of Percentage Change
 Operating Revenues Between Years
 2006 2005 2004 2006 vs. 2005 2005 vs. 2004
Operating revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 6.4% 12.3%

Operating expenses:
  Rents and purchased transportation 33.8 33.8 33.5 6.3 13.5
  Salaries, wages and employee benefi ts 26.8 27.3 29.8 4.3 3.0
  Fuel and fuel taxes 13.4 12.4 10.4 15.0 34.8
  Depreciation and amortization 5.5 5.2 5.4 12.6 8.9
  Operating supplies and expenses 4.4  4.3 4.4 9.7 7.0
  Insurance and claims 2.2 1.8 2.0 29.5 0.9
  Operating taxes and licenses 1.0 1.2 1.2 (3.9) 2.3
  General and administrative expenses, net of gains 1.0 1.5 1.4 (27.7) 19.4
  Communication and utilities 0.7 0.7 0.8 (0.1) (1.9)
  Arbitration settlement –  0.8 – – –
    Total operating expenses 88.8 89.0 88.9 6.2 12.4
    Operating income 11.2 11.0 11.1 8.4 10.9
Net interest expense 0.5 0.2 0.4 172.4 (1.7)
Equity in loss of associated company 0.1 0.2 0.1 (32.5) 90.6
    Earnings before income taxes 10.6 10.6 10.8 6.2 10.4
Income taxes 4.0 4.0 5.6 6.4 (19.0)
    Net earnings 6.6% 6.6% 5.2% 6.1% 41.7%

2006 COMPARED WITH 2005

Consolidated Operating Revenues
 Our total consolidated operating revenues rose to $3.33 billion in 2006, a 6.4% increase over 2005. Signifi cantly higher fuel prices resulted 
in FSC revenues of $430 million in 2006, compared with $336 million in 2005. This FSC revenue impacted our year-to-year comparison. If FSC 
revenues were excluded from both years, the increase of 2006 revenue over 2005 was 3.8%. This increased level of revenue, excluding FSC, was 
primarily a result of increases in load volume and price improvements as a result of our capacity-management actions. A 5.1% and 2.2% increase in 
2006 JBI and DCS load volume, respectively, contributed to our higher levels of revenue. The increases in revenue of our JBI and DCS segments 
were partially offset by decreases in our JBT segment as a result of a smaller tractor fl eet and a decline in tractor utilization.
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Consolidated Operating Expenses
 Our total 2006 consolidated operating expenses increased 6.1% over 2005. The combination of the 6.4% increase in 2006 revenue over 2005 
and this increase in operating expenses resulted in our 2006 operating ratio improving slightly to 88.8% from 89.0% in 2005. Rents and purchased 
transportation costs rose 6.3% in 2006, primarily due to additional funds paid to railroads and drayage companies related to JBI growth. The total 
cost of salaries, wages and employee benefi ts increased 4.3% in 2006 over 2005, primarily due to higher levels of driver compensation.

 Fuel and fuel taxes expense was up 15.0% in 2006, primarily due to 12.6% higher fuel cost per gallon and slightly lower fuel miles per gallon. 
We have fuel surcharge programs in place with the majority of our customers that allow us to recognize and adjust revenue charges relatively quickly 
when fuel costs change. It is not meaningful to compare the amount of FSC revenue or the change of FSC revenue between reporting periods to fuel 
and fuel taxes expense or the change of fuel expense between periods, as a signifi cant portion of fuel costs is included in our payments to railroads, 
dray carriers and other third parties. These payments are classifi ed as purchased transportation expense. While we are not always able to recover all 
fuel cost increases, partly due to empty miles run and engine-idling time, we were able to recover the majority of our increased fuel costs.

 The 12.6% increase in depreciation and amortization expense was driven by our trailing equipment purchases, higher new-tractor purchase 
prices, and an approximate 5% increase in the size of our company-owned tractor fl eet. Operating supplies and expenses rose 9.7% in 2006, partly a 
result of higher tractor maintenance, tires and tolls costs. A number of states have recently raised their rates for highway and bridge tolls. The 27.7% 
decrease in general and administrative expenses refl ects driver recruiting and testing costs, legal and professional fees related to our arbitration 
proceeding, and charitable contributions in 2005 that declined or did not reoccur in 2006. Also included in the general and administrative expense 
category, we recognized a $2.9 million net gain on the disposition of assets in 2006, compared with a $1.8 million gain in 2005. The arbitration 
settlement expense incurred during 2005 was due to the BNI arbitration decision discussed in the section on Operating Segments.

 We accrued approximately $3.0 million of interest expense during 2006 related to an IRS contingency. Our effective income tax rate was 
37.9% in 2006 and 2005. We expect our effective income tax rate to approximate 38.5% for calendar year 2007, but it may be impacted by 
the adoption of FIN 48. We are currently assessing the impact of this pronouncement on our effective tax rate. See the Recent Accounting 
Pronouncements section for a discussion of FIN 48. The “equity in loss of associated company” item on our Consolidated Statement of Earnings 
refl ects our share of the operating results of TPI.

Segments
 We operated three business segments during calendar year 2006. The operation of each of these businesses is described in our notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The following tables summarize fi nancial and operating data by segment.

Operating Revenue by Segment
 For Years Ended December 31
 (in millions)
 2006 2005 2004
JBI $ 1,430 $ 1,284 $ 1,115
DCS 915 844 760
JBT 1,008 1,020 928
  Subtotal 3,353 3,148 2,803
Inter-segment eliminations (25) (20) (17)
  Total $ 3,328 $ 3,128 $ 2,786

Operating Income by Segment

 For Years Ended December 31
 (in millions)
 2006 2005 2004
JBI (1) $   182 $   124 $   131
DCS 104 100 75
JBT 87 119 103
Other – 1 1
  Total $   373 $   344 $   310

(1) JBI 2005 operating income refl ects a $25.8 million BNI arbitration settlement charge.
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Operating Data By Segment
 For Years Ended December 31
 2006 2005 2004
JBI
Loads 629,533 598,857 581,849
Average length of haul (miles) 1,989 2,010 1,982
Revenue per load $    2,272 $    2,145 $    1,917
Average tractors (during the period) (1) 1,485 1,259 1,141
Tractors (end of period)
  Company-owned 1,551 1,341 1,192
  Independent contractor 23 16 –
  Total Tractors 1,574 1,357 1,192
Containers (end of period) 27,622 23,755 22,210
Average effective trailing equipment usage (2) 25,219 22,881 21,409

DCS
Loads 1,376,538 1,346,480 1,342,396
Average length of haul (miles) 264 265 262
Revenue per tractor per week (3) $    3,466 $    3,290 $    3,033
Average tractors (during the period) (1) 5,176 5,012 4,891
Tractors (end of period)
  Company-owned 5,177 4,771 4,679
  Independent contractor 122 152 188
  Customer-owned (DCS Operated) 59 87 178
  Total Trucks 5,358 5,010 5,045
Trailers (end of period) 6,519 6,352 6,113
Average effective trailing equipment usage (2) 12,457 11,909 11,237

JBT
Loads 890,654 900,427 932,818
Average length of haul (miles) 533 558 540
Loaded miles (000) 465,366 497,175 504,714
Total miles (000) 524,565 557,644 562,920
Average non-paid empty miles per load 66.6 62.0 56.2
Revenue per tractor per week (3) $    3,704 $    3,671 $    3,347
Average tractors (during the period) (1) 5,347 5,430 5,420
Tractors (end of period)
  Company owned 4,233 4,368 4,280
  Independent contractor 962 1,142 1,113
  Total Tractors 5,195 5,510 5,393
Trailers (end of period) 19,208 19,626 19,994
Average effective trailing equipment usage (2) 13,504 14,309 14,852

(1) Includes company-owned and independent contractor tractors for JBI and JBT segments, and also includes customer-owned tractors for the DCS segment
(2) Refl ects average use of corporate-wide trailing equipment
(3) Using weighted workdays

JBI Segment
 JBI segment revenue grew by 11.4% to $1.43 billion in 2006, from $1.28 billion in 2005. A signifi cant portion of this revenue growth was 
driven by a 5.1% increase in load volume. In addition, freight rates increased nearly 4% over 2005. The remaining portion of revenue growth was 
primarily a result of changes in freight mix and fuel surcharge revenue.

 Operating income in our JBI segment rose to $182 million in 2006, from $124 million in 2005. The $25.8 million arbitration settlement 
charge incurred in September 2005 favorably impacted this comparison. While this settlement also increased rail purchased transportation 
expense subsequent to October 1, 2005, higher freight rates, increased volumes and reduced use of rail control equipment increased 2006 
operating income.

DCS Segment
 DCS segment revenue grew 8.4% to $915 million in 2006, from $844 million in 2005. This increase in revenue was primarily due to a 2.2% 
increase in load volume, an approximate 4% increase in rates and higher fuel surcharge revenue.
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 Operating income increased to $104 million in 2006, compared with $100 million in 2005. Similar to 2005, we conducted reviews of our 
underperforming dedicated accounts and identifi ed opportunities to either improve margins or redeploy assets. Financial discipline in the area of 
pricing and contract structure helped ensure that new business during 2006 generated appropriate fi nancial returns. We also remained focused on 
cost controls and raised rates when appropriate.

JBT Segment
 JBT segment revenue declined 1.2% to $1.01 billion in 2006, from $1.02 billion in 2005. This decline was primarily due to a 1.1% reduction 
in load volume. While rates from consistent shippers increased approximately 2% during 2006, a decline in rates from spot and back-up pricing and 
paid empty movements partly offset these increases.

 Operating income in our JBT segment declined to $87 million in 2006, from $119 million in 2005. The decrease was due, in part, to lower 
levels of tractor utilization and to higher driver compensation and insurance costs.

2005 COMPARED WITH 2004

Overview of 2005
 Our 2005 net earnings of $207.3 million, or $1.28 per diluted share, were up 42% over the $146.3 million, or $0.88 per diluted share, earned 
in 2004. Our total consolidated operating revenues rose to $3.13 billion in 2005, a 12.3% increase over 2004. Freight demand during the fi rst half 
of 2005 was not as strong as the comparable period of 2004, but volume levels improved during the last half of 2005. Our DCS and JBT segments 
contributed most signifi cantly to our higher level of profi tability in 2005. While increases in the size of the DCS and JBT tractor fl eets accounted 
for a portion of the increases in operating income, our continued focus on capacity management and revenue per tractor was the primary factor 
driving 2005 improved net earnings. Our 2005 net earnings were negatively impacted by the arbitration settlement as previously discussed.

JBI Segment
 JBI segment revenue grew by 15.2% to $1.28 billion in 2005, from $1.12 billion in 2004. If FSC revenue were excluded from both years, 2005 
segment revenue increased 8.6% over 2004. A signifi cant portion of this revenue growth was driven by a 5.0% increase in revenue per loaded 
mile, excluding FSC. In addition, 2005 load volume increased 2.9% over 2004. The remaining portion of revenue growth was primarily a result of 
changes in freight mix.

 Operating income in our JBI segment declined to $124 million in 2005, from $131 million in 2004. As previously discussed, the 
$25.8 million arbitration settlement paid to BNI during the third quarter of 2005 reduced JBI operating income. In addition, this settlement 
also resulted in higher rail purchased transportation expense effective October 1, 2005. These costs more than offset the impact of higher rates 
and volume in the segment.

DCS Segment
 DCS segment revenue grew 11.1% to $844 million in 2005, from $760 million in 2004. The increase in fuel surcharge revenue in 2005 
signifi cantly impacted this comparison. If we exclude fuel surcharge revenue from both years, DCS segment revenue rose 6.3% over 2004. This 
increase in revenue resulted from a combination of a 2.5% increase in the average tractor count and a 5.3% increase in net revenue per tractor, 
excluding FSC. These increases were partly offset by a 1.4% decline in revenue related to freight delivered by third-party carriers. The majority of 
these movements were billed by us to the customer in 2004. In 2005, a larger portion of these movements was billed directly to our customer by the 
third-party carrier.

 Operating income rose 34% to $100 million in 2005, compared with $75 million in 2004. Similar to 2004, we conducted reviews of our 
underperforming dedicated accounts, identifying opportunities to either improve margins or redeploy assets. Financial discipline in the area of 
pricing and contract structure helped ensure that new business during 2005 generated appropriate fi nancial returns. We also remained focused on 
cost controls and raised rates when appropriate.

JBT Segment
 JBT segment revenue was $1.02 billion in 2005, up 9.9% over the $928 million in 2004. Higher FSC revenue in 2005 impacted this comparison. 
If the amount of FSC revenue were excluded from both years, 2005 JBT revenue rose 4.7% over 2004. The average tractor count in 2005 was 
essentially the same as 2004. However, revenue per loaded mile, excluding FSC, was 6.0% above 2004. This higher level of revenue per loaded mile 
was offset by approximately 1.5% lower tractor utilization. Current-year revenue growth was also up due to additional outsourced freight activity.

 Operating income of our JBT segment climbed to $119 million in 2005, from $103 million in 2004. The signifi cant increase in revenue per 
loaded mile, excluding FSC, accounted for the majority of this operating income improvement.

Consolidated Operating Expenses
 Our total 2005 consolidated operating expenses increased 12.4% over 2004. The combination of the 12.3% increase in 2005 revenue over 
2004 and this increase in operating expenses resulted in our 2005 operating ratio increasing slightly to 89.0% from 88.9% in 2004. Rents and 
purchased transportation costs rose 13.5% in 2005, primarily due to additional funds paid to railroads and drayage companies, related to JBI growth. 
The total cost of salaries, wages and employee benefi ts increased 3.0% in 2005 over 2004, primarily due to higher levels of driver compensation.
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 Fuel and fuel taxes expense was up 34.8% in 2005, primarily due to 33% higher fuel cost per gallon and slightly lower fuel miles per gallon. It 
is diffi cult to compare the amount of FSC revenue or the change of FSC revenue between reporting periods to fuel and fuel taxes expense or the 
change of fuel expense between periods, as a signifi cant portion of fuel costs is included in our payments to railroads, dray carriers and other third 
parties. These payments are classifi ed as purchased transportation expense. The 8.9% increase in depreciation and amortization expense was partly 
a result of higher new-tractor purchase prices and an approximate 3% increase in the size of our company-owned tractor fl eet.

 Operating supplies and expenses rose 7.0% in 2005, partly a result of higher trailing equipment maintenance, tires and tolls costs. A number 
of states have recently raised their rates for highway and bridge tolls. The signifi cant increase in general and administrative expenses refl ects higher 
driver recruiting and testing costs, legal and professional fees related to our arbitration proceeding, and charitable contributions. In October 2005, 
we announced a $10 million gift to the University of Arkansas recorded at its net present value of approximately $5.6 million. Also included 
in the general and administrative expense category, we recognized a $1.8 million net gain on the disposition of assets in 2005, compared with 
a $0.4 million gain in 2004. The arbitration settlement expense incurred during 2005 was due to the arbitration decision discussed earlier. We 
accrued approximately $2.7 million of interest expense during 2005 related to an IRS contingency. Our effective income tax rate was 37.9% in 
2005 and 51.6% in 2004. Income tax expense in 2004 included a contingent tax liability of $33.6 million, including accrued interest, related to the 
IRS’s challenge of certain sale-and-leaseback transactions that closed in 1999.

 The “equity in loss of associated company” item on our Consolidated Statement of Earnings refl ects our share of the operating results of TPI.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 Net cash provided by operating activities was $423 million in 2006, $332 million in 2005 and $405 million in 2004. Our continued 
improvement in net earnings has enhanced net cash from operations. The increase in 2006 cash provided by operating activities relative to 2005, 
after consideration of adjustments for non-cash items such as depreciation and amortization, was due to higher earnings, collection of insurance 
reimbursements and a decrease in our insurance prepaid balance, which is a result of lower insurance premiums. The increase was partially offset by 
larger federal income tax refunds due us at December 31, 2006, compared to income taxes payable at December 31, 2005.

 Cash fl ows used in investing activities primarily refl ect additions to and dispositions from our fl eet of revenue equipment. The higher level of 
cash used in investing activities during 2006 was primarily a result of signifi cant increases of trailing equipment purchases to replace older trailing 
equipment. At December 31, 2006, we had no revenue equipment on capital leases.

 Net cash used in fi nancing activities during 2006 refl ects the purchase of $257 million of our common stock and payment of dividends of 
nearly $48 million in 2006. Our net cash used in fi nancing activities decreased over 2005 due to an increase in borrowings on long-term debt and 
our credit revolvers. Funds were used primarily for stock purchases and the payment of dividends.

Selected Balance Sheet Data

As of December 31 2006 2005 2004
Working capital ratio .98 1.72 1.49
Current maturities of long-term debt (millions) $ 214.0 – –
Total debt (millions) $ 396.4 $ 124.0 –
Total debt to equity .52 .15 –
Total debt as a percentage of total capital .34 .13 –

 From time to time, our Board of Directors authorizes the purchase of our common stock. As previously mentioned, the Board, in December 2004, 
authorized the purchase of up to $100 million of our common stock. We made no purchases in 2004 and commenced purchases of our common 
stock in January 2005. On April 21, 2005, our Board authorized the purchase of an additional $500 million of our common stock over the next fi ve 
years. We purchased $257 million of our common stock in 2006 and $239 million in 2005. As of December 31, 2006, we were authorized to spend 
an additional $104 million to purchase our common stock through 2010.

Liquidity
 Our need for capital has typically resulted from the acquisition of intermodal trailing equipment, trucks, tractors and dry-van trailers required 
to support our growth and the replacement of older equipment with new, late-model equipment. We are frequently able to accelerate or postpone a 
portion of equipment replacements depending on market conditions. We have, during the past few years, obtained capital through cash generated 
from operations and revolving lines of credit and most recently issued a term loan to acquire trailers that were previously leased. We have also 
periodically utilized operating leases to acquire revenue equipment. We had no capital lease arrangements at December 31, 2006. To date, none of 
our operating leases contains any guaranteed residual value clauses.

 At December 31, 2006, we were authorized to borrow up to a total of $400 million under two different revolving lines of credit. The fi rst line 
of credit is supported by a credit agreement with a group of banks for a total amount of $200 million. This line of credit is unsecured and matures 
in April 2010. The applicable interest rate under this agreement is based on either the prime rate or LIBOR, depending upon the specifi c type of 
borrowing, plus a margin based on the level of borrowings and our credit rating. At December 31, 2006, we had $99.9 million outstanding at an 
average interest rate of 5.92% under this agreement.
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 Our second line of credit is an Accounts Receivable Securitization program through ABN AMRO, N.V. with a revolving credit facility up to 
$200 million. This facility is secured by our accounts receivable and matures on July 30, 2007. The applicable interest rate under this agreement 
is the prevailing A1/P1 commercial paper rate in the market plus a margin based on our level of borrowing and commercial paper dealer fees. At 
December 31, 2006, we had $200 million outstanding at an average interest rate of 5.58% under this agreement. We plan to renew this line of credit 
upon expiration with a one-year term.

 During 2006, we utilized a $200 million bridge loan with LaSalle Bank National Association. This loan was a temporary facility 
until our Accounts Receivable Securitization was fi nalized. An $82.9 million balance was paid off with the proceeds from the Accounts 
Receivable Securitization during the third quarter. This loan has been cancelled and we had no outstanding balance related to this facility 
at December 31, 2006.

 On September 29, 2006, we purchased approximately $101.5 million of used, dry-van trailers off operating lease agreements. In connection with 
the purchase of these trailers, we entered into a term loan and credit agreement (the “facility”) arranged by Sun Trust Bank. This new $100 million 
facility is collateralized by a security interest in the trailing equipment. This facility matures on September 29, 2009, and our borrowing costs are 
based on three-month LIBOR plus an applicable margin. On September 29, 2006, we entered into an interest rate swap that effectively converts 
the variable rate to a fi xed rate of 5.85%. We are required to make periodic minimum principal payments. A $3.5 million principal payment was 
due and paid on December 29, 2006, with additional $3.5 million principal payments due every three months thereafter through June 29, 2009. 
This facility requires us to maintain certain covenants and fi nancial ratios. We were in compliance with these covenants and fi nancial ratios at 
December 31, 2006.

 We believe that our liquid assets, cash generated from operations and revolving lines of credit will provide suffi cient funds for our operating 
and capital requirements for the foreseeable future. Decreases in our working capital ratio were primarily driven by our increases in debt issuances 
to purchase revenue equipment and our common stock.

 As mentioned above, we had signifi cant expenditures related to new trailing equipment for 2006. We are currently committed to spend 
approximately $129.4 million during 2007 for trailers and other revenue equipment. The actual cash expended will be net of proceeds from sale or 
trade-in allowances on revenue equipment.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 Our only off-balance sheet arrangements are related to our operating leases for trailing equipment and some limited data processing equipment 
and facilities. As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 10,700 trailers and 1,000 containers/chassis that were subject to operating leases, and 
we had approximately $40 million of obligations remaining under these leases.

 Contractual Cash Obligations
 As of December 31, 2006
 (000)
 Amounts Due By Period
 One Year One To Four To After
 Total Or Less  Three Years Five Years Five Years

Operating leases $   47,594 $  31,463 $ 13,446 $   1,487  $ 1,198
Long-term debt obligations 396,400 214,000 82,500 99,900 –
Commitments to acquire revenue equipment 129,379 129,379 – – –
Facilities 6,449 6,449 – – –
    Total $  579,822 $ 381,291 $ 95,946 $ 101,387 $ 1,198

 We had standby letters of credit outstanding of approximately $15.0 million at December 31, 2006, that expire at various dates in fi scal 
year 2007, which are related to (1) our self-insured retention levels for casualty and workers’ compensation claims, and (2) our operating lease 
agreements. We plan to renew these letters of credit in accordance with our third-party agreements.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Share-based Payments
 We may issue stock options and other stock-based awards to our key employees and directors under our Management Incentive Plan (the 
“Plan”). We currently are granting restricted share units and nonstatutory stock options. Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our stock-based 
employee compensation plans under the measurement and recognition provisions of APB 25, as permitted by SFAS 123. We did not record any 
stock-based employee compensation expense for options granted under our stock option plan prior to January 1, 2006. We recognize the cost of the 
restricted share units over the applicable vesting period and as a result recorded approximately $0.5 million of compensation expense in connection 
with our restricted share unit issuances in 2005. In accordance with SFAS 123 and SFAS 148, prior to January 1, 2006, we disclosed our pro forma 
net income and pro forma net income per share as if we had applied the fair value-based method in measuring compensation expense for our stock-
based incentive programs.
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 Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, using the modifi ed prospective transition method. 
Under that transition method, compensation expense that we recognize beginning on that date includes: (i) compensation expense for all stock-
based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the 
original provisions of SFAS 123; and (ii) compensation expense for all stock-based payments granted on or after January 1, 2006, based on the grant 
date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Because we elected to use the modifi ed prospective transition method, 
results for prior periods have not been restated. The adoption of SFAS 123R is discussed in Note 5 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes
 In June 2006, The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – 
an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). This Interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for a 
tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and provides guidance on classifi cation, interest and penalties, accounting in interim 
periods, disclosure and transition. This Interpretation is effective for fi scal years beginning after December 15, 2006. While we continue to analyze 
and quantify the impact of this Interpretation, we estimate a cumulative effect adjustment to reduce retained earnings of between $2 million and 
$9 million.

Fair Value Measurements
 In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157). 
SFAS 157 defi nes fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure about such fair value measurements. 
SFAS 157 is effective for fi scal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS 157 on our 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

 In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities (SFAS 159). SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure certain fi nancial assets and liabilities at fair value. Unrealized gains 
and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings. SFAS 159 is effective for fi scal years beginning after 
November 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS 159 on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 Of our total $396.4 million of long-term debt, we had $299.9 million of variable rate debt outstanding at December 31, 2006, under our 
revolving lines of credit. The interest rates applicable to these agreements are based on either the prime rate or LIBOR. Our earnings would be 
affected by changes in these short-term interest rates. Risk can be quantifi ed by measuring the fi nancial impact of a near-term adverse increase 
in short-term interest rates. At our current level of borrowing, a 1% increase in our applicable rate would reduce annual pretax earnings by 
approximately $3.0 million. Our remaining debt is effectively fi xed rate debt as a result of our interest rate swap and therefore changes in market 
interest rates do not directly impact our interest expense.

 Although we conduct business in foreign countries, international operations are not material to our consolidated fi nancial position, results of 
operations or cash fl ows. Additionally, foreign currency transaction gains and losses were not material to our results of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2006. Accordingly, we are not currently subject to material foreign currency exchange rate risks from the effects that exchange rate 
movements of foreign currencies would have on our future costs or on future cash fl ows we would receive from our foreign investment. To date, 
we have not entered into any foreign currency forward exchange contracts or other derivative fi nancial instruments to hedge the effects of adverse 
fl uctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

 The price and availability of diesel fuel are subject to fl uctuations due to changes in the level of global oil production, seasonality, weather and 
other market factors. Historically, we have been able to recover a majority of fuel price increases from our customers in the form of fuel surcharges. 
We cannot predict the extent to which high fuel price levels will continue in the future or the extent to which fuel surcharges could be collected 
to offset such increases. As of December 31, 2006, we had no derivative fi nancial instruments to reduce our exposure to fuel price fl uctuations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
 Our Consolidated Financial Statements, notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and reports thereon of our independent registered public 
accounting fi rms as specifi ed by this Item are presented following Item 15 of this report and include:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005

Consolidated Statements of Earnings for years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON 
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 The information required by Regulation S-K, Item 304(a) has previously been reported and is hereby incorporated by reference from the 
Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May 2, 2007. There have been no disagreements with our accountants, 
as defi ned in Regulation S-K, Item 304(b).

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 We maintain controls and procedures designed to ensure that we are able to collect the information we are required to disclose in the reports 
we fi le with the SEC, and to process, summarize and disclose this information within the time periods specifi ed in the SEC rules. Based on an 
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, and conducted by our management, with 
the participation of our Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer, the Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer believe that 
these controls and procedures are effective to ensure that we are able to collect, process and disclose the information we are required to disclose in 
our reports fi led with the SEC within the required time periods.

 The certifi cations of our Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have been 
fi led as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this report.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
 Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as defi ned in 
Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over fi nancial reporting is designed to provide reasonable 
assurance to our management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published fi nancial statements.

 Because of its inherent limitation, internal control over fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those 
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to fi nancial statement preparation and presentation.

 Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, 
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – 
Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, we believe that as of December 31, 2006, our internal control over fi nancial reporting is effective 
based on those criteria.

 Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, has been audited by 
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting fi rm that also audited our Consolidated Financial Statements. Ernst & Young 
LLP’s attestation report on management’s assessment of our internal control over fi nancial reporting is included herein.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
 There has been no change in our internal control over fi nancial reporting during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2006, that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over fi nancial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
 None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF REGISTRANT
DIRECTORS
 The schedule of directors is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders to 
be held May 2, 2007.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
 The schedule of executive offi cers is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held May 2, 2007.

CODE OF ETHICS
 We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our principal executive offi cer, principal fi nancial offi cer, principal accounting offi cer/ 
controller, and all other offi cers, employees and directors. Our code of ethics is available on our Internet website at www.jbhunt.com. If we make 
substantive amendments to this code of ethics or grant any waiver, including any implicit waiver, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or 
waiver on our website or in a report on Form 8-K within four days of such amendment or waiver.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 In complying with the rules and regulations required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, NASDAQ, PCAOB and others, we have attempted 
to do so in a manner that clearly meets legal requirements but does not create a bureaucracy of forms, checklists and other ineffi cient or expensive 
procedures. We have adopted a code of conduct, code of ethics, whistleblower policy and charters for all of our Board of Director Committees 
and other formal policies and procedures. Most of these items are available on our Company website, www.jbhunt.com. If we make signifi cant 
amendments to our code of ethics or whistleblower policy, or grant any waivers to these items, we will disclose such amendments or waivers on our 
website or in a report on Form 8-K within four days of such action.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 The information required for Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held on May 2, 2007.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND 
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SECURITY HOLDER MATTERS
 The information required for Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held on May 2, 2007.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
 The information required for Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference from Note (10) Related-Party Transactions and Note (12) Affi liated 
Company of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be 
held on May 2, 2007.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 The information required for Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference from the Notice and Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held on May 2, 2007.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(A) Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits:

 (1) Financial Statements
      The fi nancial statements included in Item 8 above are fi led as part of this annual report.

 (2)  Financial Statement Schedules
      Financial statement schedules have been omitted either because they are not applicable or because the required information is included 

in our Consolidated Financial Statements or the notes thereto.

 (3) Exhibits
      The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this report on Form 10-K (“Exhibit Index”).
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SIGNATURES

 Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Lowell, Arkansas, on the 28th day of February, 2007.

 J.B. Hunt TRANSPORT SERVICES, INC.
 (Registrant)

 By: /s/ Kirk Thompson
  Kirk Thompson
  President and Chief Executive Offi cer

 By: /s/ Jerry W. Walton
  Jerry W. Walton
  Executive Vice President, Finance and Administration,
  Chief Financial Offi cer

 By: /s/ Donald G. Cope
  Donald G. Cope
  Senior Vice President, Controller,
  Chief Accounting Offi cer

 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on the 
28th day of February, 2007, on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.

/s/ Wayne Garrison Member of the Board of Directors
 Wayne Garrison (Chairman)

/s/ Gary C. George Member of the Board of Directors
 Gary C. George

/s/ J. Bryan Hunt, Jr. Member of the Board of Directors
 J. Bryan Hunt, Jr.

/s/ Johnelle D. Hunt Member of the Board of Directors
 Johnelle D. Hunt (Corporate Secretary)

/s/ Coleman H. Peterson Member of the Board of Directors
 Coleman H. Peterson

/s/ James L. Robo Member of the Board of Directors
 James L. Robo

/s/ Kirk Thompson Member of the Board of Directors
 Kirk Thompson (President and Chief Executive Offi cer)

/s/ Leland E. Tollett Member of the Board of Directors
 Leland E. Tollett

/s/ John A. White Member of the Board of Directors
 John A. White (Presiding Director)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number  Description

 3A  The Company’s Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation dated May 19, 1988 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4A 
of the Company’s S-8 Registration Statement fi led April 16, 1991; Registration Statement Number 33-40028)

 3B  The Company’s Amended Bylaws dated September 19, 1983 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3C of the Company’s 
S-1 Registration Statement fi led February 7, 1985; Registration Number 2-95714)

 10A  Material Contracts of the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibits 10A-10N of the Company’s S-1 Registration Statement 
fi led February 7, 1985; Registration Number 2-95714)

 10B  The Company had an Employee Stock Purchase Plan fi led on Form S-8 on February 3, 1984 (Registration Number 2-93928), and has 
a Management Incentive Plan fi led on Form D-8 on April 16, 1991 (Registration Number 33-40028). The Management Incentive 
Plan is incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4B of the Registration Statement 33-40028. The Company amended and restated 
its Employee Retirement Plan on Form S-8 (Registration Statement Number 33-57127) fi led December 30, 1994. The Employee 
Retirement Plan is incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 99 of Registration Statement Number 33-57127. The Company 
amended and restated its Management Plan on Form S-8 (Registration Number 33-40028) fi led May 9, 2002. The Company fi led the 
Chairman’s Stock Option Incentive Plan as part of a defi nitive 14A on March 26, 1996.

 10.2  Summary of Compensation Arrangements with Named Executive Offi cers

 21  Subsidiaries of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.

 23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

 23.2  Consent of KPMG LLP

 31.1  Certifi cation of Chief Executive Offi cer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 31.2 Certifi cation of Chief Financial Offi cer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 32  Certifi cations of Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer pursuant to Section 1350 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries

 We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 
and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity, and cash fl ows for each of the two years in the period ended 
December 31, 2006. These fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these fi nancial statements based on our audits.

 We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 In our opinion, the fi nancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated fi nancial position of J.B. Hunt 
Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash fl ows for 
each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

 As discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated fi nancial statements, in 2006 the Company changed its method of accounting for share-
based compensation.

 We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness 
of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established 
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 
February 27, 2007 expressed an unqualifi ed opinion thereon.

Rogers, Arkansas
February 27, 2007
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 We are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of our Consolidated Financial Statements and related information 
appearing in this report. We take these responsibilities very seriously and are committed to maintaining controls and procedures that are designed to 
ensure that we collect the information we are required to disclose in our reports to the SEC and to process, summarize and disclose this information 
within the time periods specifi ed by the SEC.

 Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, and conducted by our 
management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer, we believe that our controls and procedures are 
effective to ensure that we are able to collect, process and disclose the information we are required to disclose in our reports fi led with the SEC 
within the required time periods.

 We are responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as defi ned in Rules 13a-15(f) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over fi nancial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and 
Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published fi nancial statements. Because of its inherent limitation, internal 
control over fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide 
only reasonable assurance with respect to fi nancial statement preparation and presentation. We assessed the effectiveness of our internal control 
over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, we believe that as of 
December 31, 2006, our internal control over fi nancial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

 Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, has been audited by 
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting fi rm that also audited our Consolidated Financial Statements. Ernst & Young 
LLP’s attestation report on management’s assessment of our internal control over fi nancial reporting is included herein.

/s/ Kirk Thompson /s/ Jerry W. Walton
 Kirk Thompson  Jerry W. Walton
 President and Chief Executive Offi cer  Executive Vice President, Finance and Administration, 
  Chief Financial Offi cer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries

 We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, 
that J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based 
on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(the COSO criteria). J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 
fi nancial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting based on our audit.

 We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over fi nancial reporting 
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over fi nancial reporting, evaluating 
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as 
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 A company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fi nancial 
reporting and the preparation of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal control over fi nancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly refl ect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of fi nancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and 
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that 
could have a material effect on the fi nancial statements.

 Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

 In our opinion, management’s assessment that J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control 
over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, 
J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as of 
December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

 We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 
balance sheets of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of 
earnings, stockholders’ equity, and cash fl ows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2006 and our report dated February 27, 2007 
expressed an unqualifi ed opinion thereon.

Rogers, Arkansas
February 27, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.:

 We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity and cash fl ows of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, 
Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audit.

 We conducted our audit in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements of J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and subsidiaries referred to above present fairly, in 
all material respects, the results of their operations and their cash fl ows for the year ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles.

Tulsa, Oklahoma
March 11, 2005
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(in thousands, except share data) 

Assets 2006 2005
Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents $     7,371 $     7,412
  Trade accounts receivable, net 346,251 343,501
  Income tax receivable 11,824 –
  Inventories 13,921 11,138
  Prepaid licenses and permits 21,410 21,780
  Prepaid insurance 62,537 76,426
  Other current assets 7,929 14,433
      Total current assets 471,243 474,690
Property and equipment, at cost: 
  Revenue and service equipment 1,618,155 1,332,333
  Land 23,857 22,854
  Structures and improvements 108,296 105,414
  Furniture and office equipment 134,010 130,960
      Total property and equipment 1,884,318 1,591,561
  Less accumulated depreciation 600,767 537,502
      Net property and equipment 1,283,551 1,054,059
Other assets 15,263 20,125
 $ 1,770,057 $ 1,548,874

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 
Current liabilities: 
  Current portion of long-term debt $   214,000 $        –
  Trade accounts payable 170,672 162,749
  Claims accruals 20,042 15,651
  Accrued payroll 42,352 61,001
  Other accrued expenses 7,961 9,198
  Deferred income taxes 23,703 27,487
      Total current liabilities 478,730 276,086
Long-term debt 182,400 124,000
Other long-term liabilities 54,656 45,834
Deferred income taxes 294,534 285,929
      Total liabilities 1,010,320 731,849
Commitments and contingencies 
Stockholders’ equity: 
  Preferred stock, $100 par value.
    10 million shares authorized; none outstanding – –
  Common stock, $.01 par value. 1 billion shares authorized;
    167,099,432 shares outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005 1,671 1,671
  Additional paid-in capital 177,065 182,680
  Retained earnings 1,035,804 863,586
  Accumulated other comprehensive loss (148) –
  Treasury stock, at cost (22,543,991 shares at December 31, 2006
    and 13,286,343 shares at December 31, 2005) (454,655) (230,912)
      Total stockholders’ equity 759,737 817,025

 $ 1,770,057 $ 1,548,874
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

JBH 0107 001 _ AR_2006.indd   64JBH 0107 001 _ AR_2006.indd   64 3/20/07   10:46:19 AM3/20/07   10:46:19 AM



65

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS 

Years Ended December 31,  2006,  2005 and 2004
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
 2006 2005 2004

Operating revenues, excluding fuel surcharge revenues $ 2,897,816 $ 2,791,926 $ 2,619,205

Fuel surcharge revenues 430,171 335,973 166,949

      Total operating revenues 3,327,987 3,127,899 2,786,154

Operating expenses: 

  Rents and purchased transportation 1,124,734 1,058,406 932,133

  Salaries, wages and employee benefi ts 892,066 855,272 830,005

  Fuel and fuel taxes 447,309 388,962 288,562

  Depreciation and amortization 183,604 163,034 149,776

  Operating supplies and expenses 145,794 132,895 124,172

  Insurance and claims 71,582 55,266 54,757

  Operating taxes and licenses 34,447 35,827 35,020

  General and administrative expenses, net of

    gains on asset dispositions 33,232 45,939 38,460

  Communication and utilities 22,566 22,597 23,046

  Arbitration settlement – 25,801 –

      Total operating expenses 2,955,334 2,783,999 2,475,931

      Operating income 372,653 343,900 310,223

Interest income 978 966 1,888

Interest expense 16,137 6,531 7,362

Equity in loss of associated company 3,181 4,709 2,470

      Earnings before income taxes 354,313 333,626 302,279

Income taxes 134,361 126,315 156,023

      Net earnings $   219,952 $   207,311 $   146,256

Weighted average basic shares outstanding 148,581 157,583 161,542

      Basic earnings per share $      1.48 $      1.32 $      0.91

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 152,317 162,559 166,937

      Diluted earnings per share $      1.44 $      1.28 $      0.88

Dividends declared per common share $      0.32 $      0.24 $     0.045

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 
    Accumulated
  Additional  Other
 Common Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders’
 Stock Capital Earnings Loss Stock Equity
Balances at December 31, 2003 $   418 $ 186,973 $   555,262 $      – $  (39,517) $ 703,136
  Comprehensive income:      
      Net earnings – – 146,256 – – 146,256
  Cash dividend paid ($0.045 per share) – – (7,288) – – (7,288)
  Stock split 418 (418) – – – –
  Tax benefi t of stock options exercised – 17,829 – – – 17,829
  Stock option exercises, net of stock      
    repurchased for payroll taxes – (6,932) – – 7,949 1,017

Balances at December 31, 2004 836 197,452 694,230 – (31,568) 860,950
  Comprehensive income:      
      Net earnings – – 207,311 – – 207,311
  Cash dividend paid ($0.24 per share) – – (37,955) – – (37,955)
  Stock split 835 (835) – – – –
  Tax benefi t of stock options exercised – 19,276 – – – 19,276
  Purchase of treasury shares – – – – (239,234) (239,234)
  Stock option exercises, net of stock      
    repurchased for payroll taxes – (33,213) – – 39,890 6,677

Balances at December 31, 2005 1,671 182,680 863,586 – (230,912) 817,025
  Comprehensive income:      
      Net earnings – – 219,952 – – 219,952
      Unrealized loss related to derivatives      
        accounted for as hedges, net of tax – – – (148) – (148)
          Total comprehensive income – – – – – 219,804
  Cash dividend paid ($0.32 per share) – – (47,734) – – (47,734)
  Tax benefi t of stock options exercised – 12,367 – – – 12,367
  Purchase of treasury shares – – – – (257,395) (257,395)
  Stock compensation – 7,651 – – – 7,651
  Stock option exercises and restricted      
    share issuances, net of stock      
    repurchased for payroll taxes – (25,633) – – 33,652 8,019

 Balances at December 31, 2006 $ 1,671 $ 177,065 $ 1,035,804 $    (148) $ (454,655) $ 759,737

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
(in thousands)
 2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities: 
  Net earnings $ 219,952 $ 207,311 $ 146,256
  Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to
    net cash provided by operating activities: 
      Depreciation and amortization 183,604 163,034 149,776
      Share-based compensation 7,171 – –
      Gain on sale of revenue equipment (2,891) (1,808) (402)
      Provision for deferred income taxes 4,915 5,761 70,162
      Equity in loss of associated company 3,181 4,709 2,470
      Tax benefit of stock options exercised – 19,276 17,829
      Amortization of discount – – 67
      Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
        Trade accounts receivable (2,750) (54,355) (33,114)
        Income tax receivable (11,824) 19,418 (19,418)
        Other assets 20,218 8,052 (19,224)
        Trade accounts payable 7,923 (28,147) 32,010
        Claims accruals 4,391 (2,884) 1,659
        Accrued payroll and other accrued expenses (10,827) (8,515) 56,544
            Net cash provided by operating activities 423,063 331,852 404,615

Cash flows from investing activities:
    Additions to property and equipment (483,188) (285,364) (451,083)
    Proceeds from sale of equipment 72,985 81,458 175,295
    Decrease (increase) in other assets (558) (8,738) 25,892
            Net cash used in investing activities (410,761) (212,644) (249,896)

Cash flows from financing activities:
  Proceeds from long-term debt 100,000 – –
  Payments on long-term debt (3,500) – –
  Net proceeds (repayments) from revolving lines of credit 175,900 124,000 (105,000)
  Principal payments under capital lease obligations – – (66,844)
  Purchase of treasury stock (257,395) (239,234) –
  Stock option exercises 9,223 10,883 8,045
  Stock repurchased for payroll taxes (1,204) (4,206) (7,028)
  Tax benefit of stock options exercised 12,367 – –
  Dividends paid (47,734) (37,955) (7,288)
            Net cash used in financing activities (12,343) (146,512) (178,115)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (41) (27,304) (23,396)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,412 34,716 58,112
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $   7,371 $   7,412 $  34,716

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
  Cash paid during the year for: 
    Interest $  14,013 $   5,506 $   7,559
    Income taxes $ 124,307 $  77,209 $  55,578

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BUSINESS
 J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. is one of the largest full-load and multi-modal transportation service companies in North America. We 
operate three distinct, but complementary, business segments and provide a wide range of general and specifi cally tailored freight and logistics 
services to our customers. We generate revenues primarily from the actual movement of freight from shippers to consignees and from serving as a 
logistics provider by offering or arranging for others to provide the transportation service. Unless otherwise indicated by the context, “we,” “us,” 
“our” and “JBHT” refer to J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
 Our Consolidated Financial Statements include all of our wholly owned subsidiaries. All signifi cant intercompany balances and transactions 
have been eliminated in consolidation.

B. USE OF ESTIMATES
 The Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this report have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that directly affect 
the amounts reported in such statements and accompanying notes. We evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis utilizing historical experience, 
consulting with experts and using other methods we consider reasonable in the particular circumstances. Nevertheless, our actual results may differ 
signifi cantly from our estimates.

 We believe that certain accounting policies and estimates are of more signifi cance in our fi nancial statement preparation process than others. 
We believe the most critical accounting policies and estimates include the economic useful lives and salvage values of our assets, provisions for 
uncollectible accounts receivable, and estimates of exposures under our insurance and claims plans. To the extent that actual, fi nal outcomes are 
different than our estimates, or additional facts and circumstances cause us to revise our estimates, our earnings during that accounting period will 
be affected.

C. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 Cash in excess of current operating requirements is invested in short-term, highly liquid investments. We consider all highly liquid investments 
purchased with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

D. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE ALLOWANCE  
 Our trade accounts receivable includes accounts receivable reduced by an allowance for uncollectible accounts and revenue adjustments. The 
allowance for uncollectible accounts and revenue adjustments is based on historical experience as well as any known trends or uncertainties related 
to customer billing and account collectibility. The adequacy of our allowance is reviewed quarterly. The allowance for uncollectible accounts and 
revenue adjustments was $6.0 million and $7.4 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

E. INVENTORY
 Our inventories consist primarily of revenue equipment parts, tires, supplies and fuel and are valued using the lower of average cost or market.

F. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 4 to 10 years for tractors 
and 7 to 20 years for trailing equipment, 10 to 40 years for structures and improvements, and 3 to 10 years for furniture and offi ce equipment. Salvage 
values are typically 10% to 20% for tractors and trailing equipment and consider any agreements with tractor suppliers for residual or trade-in values 
for certain new equipment. We capitalize tires placed in service on new revenue equipment as a part of the equipment cost. Replacement tires and 
costs for recapping tires are expensed at the time the tires are placed in service. Gains and losses on the sale or other disposition of equipment are 
recognized at the time of the disposition and are classifi ed in general and administrative expenses.

G. REVENUE RECOGNITION
 We recognize revenue based on relative transit time in each reporting period, with expenses recognized as incurred.

H.  DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
 We account for derivatives in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments 
and Hedging Activities (SFAS 133), as amended. We periodically utilize derivative instruments to manage exposure to changes in interest rates. At 
inception of a derivative contract, we document relationships between derivative instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking various derivative transactions, and assess hedge effectiveness. If it is determined that a derivative is not 
highly effective as a hedge, or if a derivative ceases to be a highly effective hedge, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively. We entered into 
an interest rate swap agreement to convert a portion of our variable rate debt to a fi xed interest rate. This derivative instrument is accounted for as 
a cash fl ow hedge in accordance with SFAS 133.
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I. INCOME TAXES
 Income taxes are accounted for under the asset-and-liability method in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (SFAS 109), as amended. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences 
attributable to differences between the fi nancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and 
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable 
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of 
a change in tax rates is recognized as income or expense in the period that includes the enactment date.

J. EARNINGS PER SHARE
 We compute basic earnings per share by dividing net earnings available to common shareholders by the actual weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding for the reporting period. Diluted earnings per share refl ects the potential dilution that could occur if holders of options 
or unvested restricted share units exercised or converted their holdings into common stock. Outstanding stock options and unvested restricted 
share units represent the dilutive effects on weighted average shares. A reconciliation of the number of shares used in computing basic and diluted 
earnings per share is shown below (in thousands):

 Years ended December 31
 2006 2005 2004
Weighted average shares outstanding – basic 148,581 157,583 161,542
Effect of common stock equivalents 3,736 4,976 5,395
Weighted average shares outstanding – diluted 152,317 162,559 166,937

 Options to purchase shares of common stock that were outstanding during each year, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings 
per share because the options’ exercise price was greater than the average market price of the common shares, are shown in the table below.

 2006 2005 2004
Number of shares under option 12,000 35,000 1,388,000
Range of exercise prices $ 24.27 – $ 24.43 $ 21.25 – $ 24.43 $ 18.50 – $ 20.37

 On April 21, 2005, we announced a two-for-one stock split on our common stock, payable May 23, 2005, to stockholders of record on 
May 2, 2005. All references in our fi nancial statements with regard to number of shares and the per-share amounts have been retroactively 
adjusted to refl ect this stock split.

K. CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK
 Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk, include trade receivables. For the years ended December 31, 
2006, 2005 and 2004, our top 10 customers, based on revenue, accounted for approximately 40%, 40% and 42%, respectively, of our total revenue. 
Our top 10 customers, based on revenue, accounted for approximately 35% of our total trade accounts receivable at December 31, 2006 and 2005. 
One customer, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., accounted for 14%, 15% and 15% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 
2004, respectively. Each of our three business segments conducts business with Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.

L. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
 We have share-based compensation plans covering certain employees including offi cers and directors. Effective January 1, 2006, we accounted 
for share-based compensation utilizing the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-based 
Payment (SFAS 123R). We currently are utilizing restricted share units and nonstatutory stock options. Issuances of our stock upon share option 
exercise or vested restricted share units are made from treasury stock. Our restricted share unit awards are graded-vesting awards and therefore vest 
in increments during the requisite service period. We recognize compensation expenses over the requisite service period for the entire award.

M. IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
 We continually evaluate the carrying value of our assets for events or changes in circumstances which indicate that the carrying value may not 
be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash fl ows 
expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount 
or fair value less costs to sell.

N. CLAIMS ACCRUALS
 Claims accruals represent the self-insured portion of pending accident liability, workers’ compensation and physical damage claims. These 
accruals are estimated based on our evaluation of the nature and severity of individual claims and an estimate of future claims development based 
on our past claims experience. Our claims-accrual policy for all self-insurance is to recognize the expense when the event occurs and the costs 
of such events are probable and reasonably estimable. We apply loss-development factors to our accident and workers’ compensation claims 
history as a part of our process of recording accruals for future claims growth and losses that are incurred but not reported. We do not discount our 
estimated losses.
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 Effective January 1, 2006, our self-insured limits were the fi rst $500,000 for personal injury, property damage and workers’ compensation 
claims. Prior to January 1, 2006, our insurance coverage for the two years ended December 31, 2005, specifi ed that the self-insured limit was the 
fi rst $2 million for personal injury and property damage and $1 million for workers’ compensation claims. For 2007 we maintained our $500,000 
self-insured limit. We are substantially self-insured for loss of and damage to our owned and leased revenue equipment.

 Our policies include a contractual adjustment factor to be applied to incurred loss amounts at the end of 48 months from each policy period 
inception. This contractual factor is used to convert the self-insured losses to fully insured losses and relieves us of any further liability on those 
claims. In the fourth quarter of 2006, we increased the estimated accrual of our ultimate losses by $9.2 million to refl ect the inclusion of these 
contractual factors as part of the liability we recognize when the accidents occurred rather than in the fi nal year of the self-insurance period.

O. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
 In June 2006, The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 
Taxes – an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). This Interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute 
for a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and provides guidance on classifi cation, interest and penalties, accounting in 
interim periods, disclosure and transition. This Interpretation is effective for fi scal years beginning after December 15, 2006. While we continue 
to analyze and quantify the impact of this Interpretation, we estimate a cumulative effect adjustment to reduce retained earnings of between 
$2 million and $9 million.

 In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157). SFAS 157 
defi nes fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure about such fair value measurements. SFAS 157 
is effective for fi scal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS 157 on our Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

 In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities (SFAS 159). SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure certain fi nancial assets and liabilities at fair value. Unrealized gains 
and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings. SFAS 159 is effective for fi scal years beginning after 
November 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS 159 on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. DEBT (IN MILLIONS)
 December 31
 2006 2005
Revolving lines of credit $ 299.9 $ 124.0
Term loan 96.5 –
Less current maturities (214.0) –
  Total long-term debt $ 182.4 $ 124.0 

 Aggregate maturities of long-term debt during the fi ve years subsequent to December 31, 2006, are as follows (in millions): 2007 – $214.0 
(classifi ed as current portion of long-term debt); 2008 – $14.0; 2009 – $68.5; 2010 – $99.9; and 2011 - $0.0.

Revolving Lines of Credit
 At December 31, 2006, we were authorized to borrow up to a total of $400 million under two different revolving lines of credit. The fi rst line 
of credit is supported by a credit agreement with a group of banks for a total amount of $200 million. This line of credit is unsecured and matures 
in April 2010. The applicable interest rate under this agreement is based on either the prime rate or LIBOR, depending upon the specifi c type of 
borrowing, plus a margin based on the level of borrowings and our credit rating. At December 31, 2006, we had $99.9 million outstanding at an 
average interest rate of 5.92% under this agreement.

 Our second line of credit is an Accounts Receivable Securitization program with ABN AMRO, N.V. with a revolving credit facility up to 
$200 million. Under the terms of the agreement, we sell substantially all of our eligible third-party receivables to JBH Receivables, LLC (JBR), 
a wholly owned, bankruptcy remote entity and retain servicing responsibilities. The assets of JBR are not available to satisfy the creditors of any 
other entity, including our subsidiaries. This facility matures on July 30, 2007. The applicable interest rate under this agreement is the prevailing 
A1/P1 commercial paper rate in the market. At December 31, 2006, we had $200 million outstanding at an average interest rate of 5.58% under 
this agreement.

Term Loan
 In connection with the purchase of used, dry-van trailers, we entered into a term loan and credit agreement (the “facility”) arranged by Sun Trust 
Bank in 2006. This $100 million facility is collateralized by a security interest in the trailing equipment. This facility matures on September 29, 2009, 
and our borrowing costs are based on three-month LIBOR plus an applicable margin. We are required to make periodic minimum principal payments. 
The fi rst principal payment of $3.5 million was due and paid on December 29, 2006. Additional $3.5 million principal payments are due every three 
months thereafter through June 29, 2009.

 Our revolving lines of credit and debt facilities require us to maintain certain covenants and fi nancial ratios. We were in compliance with all 
covenants and fi nancial ratios at December 31, 2006.
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4. CAPITAL STOCK
 We have one class of preferred stock and one class of common stock. We had no outstanding shares of preferred stock at December 31, 2006 
or 2005. Holders of shares of common stock are entitled to receive dividends when and if declared by the Board of Directors and are entitled to one 
vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of the shareholders. At December 31, 2006, we had 13.2 million shares of common stock reserved 
for issuance pursuant to share-based payment plans, of which 10.1 million shares have not been granted.

 In December 2004, our Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up to $100 million of our common stock. We made no purchases in 
2004 and commenced purchases of our common stock in January 2005. On April 21, 2005, our Board authorized the purchase of an additional 
$500 million of our common stock over the next fi ve years. We purchased 11.1 million shares of our common stock for $257 million in 2006 
and 11.7 million shares for $239 million in 2005. We are authorized to spend an additional $104 million to purchase our common stock 
through 2010.

 On January 31, 2007, our Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly dividend of $0.09 per common share, payable on February 21, 2007, 
to stockholders of record on February 7, 2006.

5. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
 We maintain a Management Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) that provides various share-based fi nancial vehicles to compensate our key employees 
with shares of our common stock or common stock equivalents. Under the Plan, as amended, we have, from time to time, utilized restricted share 
unit awards, restricted options and nonstatutory stock options to compensate our employees and directors. We currently are utilizing restricted share 
units and nonstatutory stock options.

 Our nonstatutory stock options may be granted to key employees for the purchase of our common stock for 100% of the fair market value 
of the common stock at the grant date as awarded by the Compensation Committee. These options generally vest over a 10-year period and are 
forfeited if the employee terminates for any reason other than death, disability or retirement after age 55. An employee is allowed to surrender shares 
of common stock that the employee has owned for at least six months in full or partial payment of the option price of an option being exercised 
and/or to satisfy tax withholding obligations incident to the exercise of an option. We did not grant any stock options during the year ended 
December 31, 2006. We granted 113,000 and 1,553,000 stock options in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

 We began awarding restricted share units in 2005 and awarded 676,720 and 633,200 units during 2006 and 2005, respectively. These restricted 
share units have various vesting schedules ranging from fi ve to ten years. These restricted share units do not contain rights to vote or receive 
dividends until the vesting date. Unvested restricted share units are forfeited if the employee terminates for any reason other than death, disability 
or special circumstances as determined by the Compensation Committee.

 Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our share-based compensation using the intrinsic value method and in accordance with 
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25) and related interpretations. In accordance with 
this previous guidance, compensation expense related to stock option grants was recorded on the date of the grant only if the current market 
price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price. Under APB 25, we recognized the cost of restricted share units over the applicable 
vesting period. As a result, we recognized approximately $0.5 million of expense during 2005 related to our restricted share units. However, 
prior to January 1, 2006, we did not record compensation expense related to unexercised stock options and provided pro forma disclosure 
amounts in our footnotes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation 
(SFAS 123).

 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Share-Based Payment (revised 2004) (SFAS 123R) required the cost of all share-based 
payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in our Consolidated Financial Statements based on the grant 
date fair value of those awards. In accordance with SFAS 123R, this cost will be recognized over the period for which an employee is required 
to provide service in exchange for the award. For awards outstanding as of January 1, 2006, SFAS 123R required us to recognize compensation 
expense for the unvested portion of outstanding share-based payments based on the fair value of the award on the grant date. It also required that 
the benefi ts associated with tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation expense be reported as a fi nancing cash fl ow rather than as an 
operating cash fl ow. We adopted SFAS 123R, effective January 1, 2006, utilizing the modifi ed prospective method and, therefore, did not restate 
our prior-period results.
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 The following table includes the disclosures required by SFAS 123, and illustrates the pro forma impact on net earnings and earnings per share 
as if we had applied the fair value recognition provision of SFAS 123:

 Years ended December 31
 2005 2004
Net earnings as reported $ 207,311 $ 146,256
Deduct:
  Compensation cost using the fair value method, net of tax 4,765 5,246
Pro forma $ 202,546 $ 141,010

Net earnings per share
  As reported
    Basic $    1.32 $    0.91
    Diluted $    1.28 $    0.88
  Pro forma
    Basic $    1.29 $    0.88
    Diluted $    1.25 $    0.85

 The weighted-average fair value of each stock option included in the preceding pro forma amounts was estimated on the date of grant using 
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is amortized over the vesting period of the underlying options. The following assumptions were utilized 
for options granted in the respective periods:

 Years ended December 31
 2005 2004
Risk-free interest rate 4.33% 2.19%
Expected life (years) 6.38 6.58
Volatility 54.1% 55.6%
Expected dividend yield 1.06% 1.08%
 
 Our fi nancial results for the year ended December 31, 2006, were negatively impacted by the adoption of SFAS 123R. The requirement 
to account for share-based compensation under SFAS 123R rather than APB 25, effective January 1, 2006, reduced our earnings as follows 
(in thousands, except per share amounts):
 Year ended December 31, 2006
Earnings before income taxes  $   5,405
Net earnings  $   3,355
Basic earnings per share  $    0.03
Diluted earnings per share  $    0.03

 Share-based compensation expense is recorded in salaries, wages and employee benefi ts in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings, along 
with other compensation expenses to employees. The following table summarizes the components of our share-based compensation program 
expense (in thousands):

 Years ended December 31
 2006 2005
Stock options
  Pre-tax compensation expense $   5,405 $       –
  Tax benefit 2,050 –
  Stock option expense, net of tax $   3,355 $       –
Restricted share units
  Pre-tax compensation expense $   2,496 $     479
  Tax benefit 946 181
  Restricted share unit expense, net of tax $   1,550 $     298
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 We did not record compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2004, under APB 25. A summary of our nonstatutory stock options 
and restricted share units follows:

Stock Options
   Weighted Average 
   Remaining Aggregate
 Number of Shares Average Exercise Contractual Term Intrinsic Value
 (in thousands) Price (in years) (in millions)
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 15,773 $ 5.33 6.38 $ 128.8
  Granted 1,553 19.72 – –
  Exercised (3,395) 4.42 – 44.0
  Forfeited (90) 8.27 – –
Outstanding at December 31, 2004 13,841 $ 7.15 6.45 $ 211.3
  Granted 113 20.69 – –
  Exercised (3,021) 4.53 – 48.9
  Forfeited (112) 7.81 – –
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 10,821 $ 8.02 6.49 $ 158.3
  Granted – – – –
  Exercised (1,868) 4.90 – 35.3
  Forfeited (173) 8.45 – –
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 8,780 $ 8.67 6.13 $ 106.3
Exercisable at December 31, 2006 1,189 $ 5.63 4.53 $  18.0

 The weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options granted was $10.76 and $10.26 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. 
No stock options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2006.

Restricted Share Units
    Weighted Average
   Number Grant Date 
   of Shares Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2004   – $     –
  Granted   633,200 18.89
  Vested   – –
  Forfeited   – –
Unvested at December 31, 2005   633,200 $ 18.89
  Granted   676,720 22.31
  Vested   (13,119) 19.62
  Forfeited   (11,060) 19.55
Unvested at December 31, 2006   1,285,741 $ 20.68

 At December 31, 2006, we had $18.7 million and $21.9 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options and 
restricted share units, respectively, that is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted average period of approximately 6.1 years for stock 
options and 8.3 years for restricted share units.

6. INCOME TAXES
 Income tax expense attributable to earnings before income taxes consists of (in thousands):

 Years ended December 31
 2006 2005 2004
Current:
  Federal $ 121,855 $ 114,745 $  83,428
  State and local 7,781 5,809 2,433
 129,636 120,554 85,861
Deferred:
  Federal 5,891 5,131 61,375
  State and local (1,166) 630 8,787
 4,725 5,761 70,162
    Total tax expense $ 134,361 $ 126,315 $ 156,023
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 Income tax expense attributable to earnings before income taxes differed from the amounts computed using the statutory federal income tax 
rate of 35% for the following reasons (in thousands):

 Years ended December 31
 2006 2005 2004
Income tax – statutory rate $ 124,009 $ 116,769 $ 105,798
State tax, net of federal effect 5,232 7,492 6,439
Non-deductible meals and entertainment 5,691 5,380 6,255
Reserve for tax contingency – – 33,600
Change in effective state tax rate, net of federal effect (932) (1,914) 2,622
Other, net 361 (1,412) 1,309
    Total tax expense $ 134,361 $ 126,315 $ 156,023

 The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to signifi cant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 
2006 and 2005, are presented below (in thousands):
 December 31
  2006 2005
Deferred tax assets:    
  Claims accruals, principally due to accruals for financial reporting purposes  $   2,311 $   1,023
  Accounts receivable, principally due to allowance for doubtful accounts  1,221 1,831
  Vacation pay  5,614 5,627
  Long-term deferred compensation  6,190 2,558
  Tax contingency interest accrual  5,353 1,019
  Interest rate swap  95 –
  Other  3,354 1,023
    Total gross deferred tax assets  24,138 13,081

Deferred tax liabilities:
  Plant and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation and capitalized interest 284,382 266,883
  Prepaid permits and insurance, principally due to expensing for income tax purposes  30,684 31,582
  Sale-and-leaseback transaction  20,102 20,102
  Other  7,207 7,930
    Total gross deferred tax liabilities  342,375 326,497
    Net deferred tax liability  $ 318,237 $ 313,416

 Income taxes refundable at December 31, 2006, were $11.8 million and income taxes payable at December 31, 2005, were $1.9 million. These 
amounts have been included in income tax receivable and other accrued expenses on the balance sheet, respectively.

 We believe our history of profi tability and taxable income, the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, and our utilization of tax planning suffi ciently 
supports the carrying amount of the deferred tax assets. Accordingly, we have not recorded a valuation allowance as all deferred tax benefi ts are 
more likely than not to be realized.

 The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has proposed to disallow the tax benefi ts associated with certain sale-and-leaseback transactions. In 
1999, we entered into a series of transactions effecting a sale and leaseback of a portion of our Intermodal container and chassis fl eet for a selling 
price of approximately $175 million. This transaction was examined by the IRS in an audit of our 1998 and 1999 tax returns. In December 2003, 
we received an IRS Notice of Proposed Assessment that disallowed the tax benefi ts associated with these transactions, and as a result, we have fi led 
an appeal in the matter. Based on events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2004, we have reversed all prior benefi ts taken on this transaction. 
We have recorded a contingent liability of approximately $42.9 million (including accrued interest of $15.9 million) at December 31, 2006, and 
$36.3 million (including accrued interest of $9.3 million) at December 31, 2005, as a component of other long-term liabilities on our balance sheet. 
We have held conferences with the IRS Appeals Division; however, no resolution of the matter has been reached. If a resolution cannot ultimately 
be reached in the appeals process, the IRS will forward a 90-day letter, also known as a Notice of Defi ciency. A resolution of the dispute could occur 
at any point in the administrative process or could extend through a trial and court appeals. If we are unsuccessful in defending this transaction, we 
could owe additional taxes and interest, which we believe have been properly accrued on our balance sheet at December 31, 2006. We continue to 
believe that our tax positions comply with applicable tax law for which we received advice and opinions from our then external public accountants 
and attorneys prior to entering into these transactions, and we continue to vigorously defend against the IRS position using all administrative and 
legal processes available.
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7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
 We maintain a defi ned contribution employee retirement plan, which includes a 401(k) option, under which all employees are eligible to 
participate. We match a specifi ed percentage of employee contributions, subject to certain limitations. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 
2005 and 2004, our matching contributions to the plan were $7.5 million, $7.6 million and $6.0 million, respectively.

 We have a non-qualifi ed deferred compensation plan that allows eligible employees to defer a portion of their compensation. Participants can 
elect to defer up to a maximum of 50% of their base salary as well as up to 85% of their bonus for the year. The compensation deferred under this 
plan is credited with earnings or losses of investments elected by plan participants. Each participant is fully vested in all deferred compensation and 
earnings; however, these amounts are subject to general creditor claims until actually distributed to the employee. A participant may elect to receive 
deferred amounts in one payment or, if the balance is greater than $25,000, in quarterly installments payable over a period of 3, 5, 10 or 15 years upon 
reaching age 55, having 15 years of service, or becoming disabled. Our total liability under this plan was $8.6 million as of December 31, 2006, and 
$6.7 million as of December 31, 2005. These amounts are included in other long-term liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Participant 
withholdings are held by a trustee and invested in equity securities as directed by participants. These investments are included in other assets in our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets and totaled $8.6 million as of December 31, 2006, and $6.7 million as of December 31, 2005.

8. DERIVATIVE AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Interest rate swap
 On September 29, 2006, we entered into an agreement to swap the variable rate on our $100 million term loan and credit facility for a fi xed 
5.85% interest rate. This interest rate swap effectively converts the fl oating rate debt to a fi xed rate basis, thus reducing the impact of interest rate 
changes on future interest expense. The swap expires September 29, 2009, when the related term loan is due. The derivative is designated as a 
hedge of the variability of cash fl ows to be paid related to the term loan and meets the required criteria of a cash fl ow hedge under the provisions of 
SFAS 133. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and reclassifi ed into 
earnings as the underlying hedged item affects earnings to the extent the derivative is effective in offsetting gains and losses of changes in the fair 
value of the hedged item. The ineffective portion of gains and losses, if any, is recorded in current earnings through interest expense. The fair value 
of the swap is recorded in other non-current liabilities at December 31, 2006.

Fair value
 The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of our long-term debt and interest rate swap contract at December 31, 2006, were as follows 
(in thousands):
   Carrying Estimated
   Value Fair Value
Revolving lines of credit  $ 299,900 $ 299,900
Term loan  96,500 96,500
Interest rate swap (liability)  243 243

 The carrying amounts of all other instruments at December 31, 2006, approximate their fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments.

9. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 Comprehensive income includes changes in the fair value of derivative instruments, which qualify for hedge accounting. A reconciliation of 
Net income and Comprehensive income follows (in thousands):
 Years ended December 31
 2006 2005 2004
Net income $ 219,952 $ 207,311 $ 146,256
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments (243) – –
Income tax benefit 95 – –
Comprehensive income $ 219,804 $ 207,311 $ 146,256

10. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 In October 2005, we announced a $10 million gift to the University of Arkansas to facilitate the construction of a new J.B. Hunt Transport 
Services, Inc. Center for Academic Excellence building. Dr. John A. White has been a member of our Board of Directors since 1998 and serves 
as the Chairman of our Audit Committee. Dr. White is the Chancellor of the University of Arkansas. Johnelle D. Hunt serves as our Corporate 
Secretary and has been a member of our Board of Directors since 1993. Mrs. Hunt served as Treasurer for the University of Arkansas’ Campaign for 
the 21st Century. Neither of the aforementioned board members was instrumental in securing this contribution, nor did either participate in the 
voting processes related to this transaction.

 In April 2004, we sold an aircraft hanger, which we had owned since 1993. Net proceeds from this sale totaled $988,000 and we recognized 
an approximate $532,000 gain on this sale. The hanger was sold to Pinnacle Air Facilities LLC (Pinnacle). Mr. J.B. Hunt, our former Senior 
Chairman, was a principal and a director of Pinnacle prior to his death in late 2006. The selling price of the hanger was approved by our Board of 
Directors and was based on a written appraisal of the property prepared by an independent third-party appraiser.
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11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 During 1999, we entered into a sale-and-leaseback transaction for a portion of our container fl eet. Containers having a net book value of 
approximately $175 million were sold to third-party leasing companies at approximately net book value. A gain of approximately $600,000 on 
the transaction has been deferred and is amortized to income in relation to rent expense recognized under the leases. The containers are being 
leased back under operating leases over terms of four to ten years, which began in 1999. Approximately $11.4 million, $0 and $5.9 million of this 
intermodal trailing equipment was repurchased in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

 As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately $47.6 million of obligations remaining under operating lease arrangements related to trailing 
equipment and terminal facilities. None of our operating leases contains any guaranteed residual value clauses. Under the terms of certain lease 
agreements, we are required to maintain certain covenants, including minimum credit ratings. We were in compliance with these requirements at 
December 31, 2006.

 Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases (with initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year) as of 
December 31, 2006, are (in thousands):
  Operating
  Leases

 2007 $ 31,463
 2008 12,301
 2009 1,144
 2010 786
 2011 702
 Thereafter 1,198
  $ 47,594

 Total rent expense was $78.8 million in 2006, $93.5 million in 2005, and $95.0 million in 2004.

 At December 31, 2006, we had outstanding commitments to acquire approximately $135.8 million of revenue equipment and facilities in 
2007. This amount is net of expected allowances and sales proceeds from equipment dispositions.

 During 2006, we issued fi nancial standby letters of credit as a guarantee of our performance under certain operating lease commitments and 
self-insurance arrangements. If we default on our commitments under the lease agreements or other arrangements, we are required to perform 
under these guarantees. The undiscounted maximum amount of our obligation to make future payments in the event of defaults is approximately 
$15.0 million.

 As previously disclosed, an arbitration process commenced on July 2, 2004, with the BNSF Railway (BNI). BNI provides a signifi cant 
amount of rail transportation services to our JBI business segment. The arbitration process was initiated in accordance with the terms of our 
Joint Service Agreement (JSA) with BNI, after we were unable to resolve our disagreements through mediation. We announced that an interim 
award was issued by the arbitration panel on September 16, 2005. As a result of this decision, we recorded, in the third quarter of 2005, pretax 
charges of $25.8 million, or $16.5 million after income taxes. On October 19, 2005, the arbitration panel issued an order terminating this 
arbitration proceeding and declaring that the interim award be adopted as the fi nal award in this matter. Normal commercial business activity 
between the parties, including load tendering, load tracing, billing and payments, has continued on a timely basis during the entire mediation 
and arbitration process.

 We are involved in certain other claims and pending litigation arising from the normal conduct of business. Based on the present knowledge of 
the facts and, in certain cases, opinions of outside counsel, we believe the resolution of these claims and pending litigation will not have a material 
adverse effect on our fi nancial condition, our results of operations or our liquidity.
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12. AFFILIATED COMPANY
 We have a 37% ownership interest in a logistics joint venture called Transplace, Inc. (TPI). TPI was formed in July 2000 when we, along 
with fi ve other motor carriers, contributed our existing non-asset-based logistics business to the new entity. No gain or loss was recognized upon the 
formation of TPI. We routinely enter into transactions with TPI regarding the movement of freight. We provided various services to TPI under a 
shared-service agreement, primarily related to computer system operations, services and maintenance. We earn transportation revenues from and 
purchase transportation services from TPI. We also utilize travel services provided by TPI. We, along with the other motor carriers, advanced funds 
to TPI in the form of a note receivable during 2005. We have reduced the balance of this receivable by the amount of our equity in loss of TPI during 
2006. This note receivable balance, including accrued interest, was $5.3 million at December 31, 2006, after the reduction based on our equity in 
loss of TPI, and carried an interest rate of 6.0%. This note receivable from TPI is classifi ed as an other asset on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at 
December 31, 2006. In January 2007, we extended the due date on this note to January 2009. When the note is paid, any reduction in the value of 
the note as a result of our portion of equity losses in TPI will be recovered and recorded as a gain in the period collected. A summary of our revenues 
and expenses related to TPI for the three-year periods ended December 31, 2006, and balance sheet amounts at December 31, 2006 and 2005, is 
presented below (in millions):

 Years ended December 31
 2006 2005 2004
Revenue earned from TPI for providing transportation services $ 50.8 $ 46.2 $ 67.9

Amount billed to TPI for information technology services provided $  2.6 $  4.6 $  5.4

Purchased transportation expense paid to (received from) TPI for freight movements $  0.2 $ (0.2) $  3.3

Payments to TPI for travel services provided $  0.3 $  0.4 $  0.4

 December 31
 2006 2005
Accounts receivable from TPI, included in trade accounts receivable $  8.1 $  7.7

Note receivable, including interest from TPI $  5.3 $  8.6
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13. SEGMENT INFORMATION
 We have three reportable business segments, Intermodal (JBI), Dedicated Contract Services (DCS), and Truck (JBT). The JBI segment 
includes freight that is transported by rail over at least some portion of the movement and also includes certain repositioning truck freight moved by 
JBI equipment or third-party carriers, when such highway movement is intended to direct JBI equipment back toward intermodal operations. DCS 
segment business typically includes company-owned revenue equipment and employee drivers that are assigned to a specifi c customer, traffi c lane 
or service. DCS operations usually include formal, written long-term agreements or contracts that govern services performed and applicable rates. 
JBT business includes full-load dry-van freight that is typically transported utilizing company-owned or company-controlled revenue equipment. 
This freight is typically transported over roads and highways and does not move by rail.

 Our customers are geographically dispersed across the United States. One customer accounted for approximately 14%, 15% and 15% of 
consolidated operating revenues in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. A summary of certain segment information as of December 31, is presented 
below (in millions):
 Assets (1)
 December 31
 2006 2005 2004
JBI $   537 $   416 $   359
DCS 450   386  355 
JBT 575  522  454
Other (includes corporate) 208  225   335 
    Total $ 1,770 $ 1,549 $ 1,503 

 Revenues
 Years ended December 31
 2006 2005 2004
JBI $ 1,430 $ 1,284 $ 1,115
DCS 915 844  760
JBT 1,008  1,020  928
    Total segment revenues 3,353 3,148 2,803
Inter-segment eliminations (25) (20)  (17)
    Total $ 3,328 $ 3,128 $ 2,786

 Operating Income
 Years ended December 31
 2006 2005 2004
JBI (2) $   182 $   124 $   131
DCS 104 100  75
JBT 87 119  103
Other  – 1  1
    Total $   373 $   344 $   310

 Depreciation and Amortization Expense
 Years ended December 31
 2006 2005 2004
JBI $    34 $    26 $    22
DCS 65 59 56
JBT 73 67 61
Other  12 11 11
    Total $   184 $   163 $   150

(1) Business segment assets exclude the net impact of inter-company transactions and accounts.
(2) JBI 2005 operating income refl ects a $25.8 million BNI arbitration settlement charge.
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14. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
 Operating results by quarter for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, are as follows (in thousands, except per-share data):

 Quarter
 First Second Third (1) Fourth 

2006:

  Operating revenues $ 779,900 $ 838,253 $ 858,265 $ 851,569

  Operating income $  81,388 $  95,408 $ 100,489 $  95,368

  Net earnings $  48,980 $  55,334 $  57,834 $  57,804

  Basic earnings per share $    0.32 $    0.37 $    0.40 $    0.40

  Diluted earnings per share $    0.31 $    0.36 $    0.39 $    0.39

2005:

  Operating revenues $ 709,178 $ 759,206 $ 801,140 $ 858,375

  Operating income $  79,167 $  93,005 $  65,102 $ 106,626

  Net earnings $  47,499 $  54,631 $  39,843 $  65,338

  Basic earnings per share $    0.30 $    0.34 $    0.25 $    0.42

  Diluted earnings per share $    0.29 $    0.33 $    0.25 $    0.41

(1) Refl ects a $25.8 million pretax, or a $16.5 million after-tax, charge in 2005 for a BNI arbitration settlement charge
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JBHT Diluted Earnings Per Share
years ended December 31

JBHT Annual Operating Revenues
(dollars in billions)

2006 Percent of Revenue by Industry
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